
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 

ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 
 
 

 
Wednesday 22 May 2024 

 



 
 

The Mayor – Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Deputy Mayor – Councillor Daryl Brown 

 
ADDISON 
 
Jacolyn Daly (L) 
Ross Melton (L) 

AVONMORE 
 
Laura Janes (L) 
David Morton (I) 

BROOK GREEN 
 
Stala Antoniades (L) 
Adam Peter Lang (L) 

COLLEGE PARK & OLD 
OAK 
 
Wesley Harcourt (L) 
Bora Kwon (L) 
Alexandra Sanderson (L) 
 

CONINGHAM 
 
Lisa Homan (L) 
Rowan Ree (L) 
Rory Vaughan (L) 

FULHAM REACH 
 
Lucy Richardson (L) 
Omid Miri (L) 
Nikos Souslous (L) 
 

FULHAM TOWN 
 
Victoria Brocklebank-
Fowler (C) 
Andrew Dinsmore (C) 
 

GROVE 
 
Stephen Cowan (L) 
Helen Rowbottom (L) 

HAMMERSMITH 
BROADWAY 
 
Emma Apthorp (L) 
Patricia Quigley (L) 
 

LILLIE 
 
Ben Coleman (L) 
Sharon Holder (L) 
 

MUNSTER 
 
Adronie Alford (C) 
Alex Karmel (C) 
Dominic Stanton (C) 
 

PALACE & HURLINGHAM 
 
Aliya Afzal-Khan (C) 
Jackie Borland (C) 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris (C) 
 

PARSONS GREEN & 
SANDFORD 
 
Jose Afonso (C) 
Adrian Pascu-Tulbure (C) 
 

RAVENSCOURT 
 
Liz Collins (L) 
Patrick Walsh (L) 

SANDS END 
 
Paul Alexander (L) 
Ashok Patel (L) 
Ann Rosenberg (L) 

SHEPHERDS BUSH 
GREEN 
 
Zarar Qayyum (L) 
Mercy Umeh (L) 
 

WALHAM GREEN 
 
Trey Campbell-Simon (L) 
Genevieve Nwaogbe (L) 
 

WENDELL PARK 
 
Rebecca Harvey (L) 
Asif Siddique (L) 
 

WEST KENSINGTON 
 
Daryl Brown (L) 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 
(L) 
Sally Taylor (L) 
 

WHITE CITY 
 
Andrew Jones (L) 
Natalia Perez (L) 
Frances Umeh (L) 
 

WORMHOLT 
 
Max Schmid (L) 
Nicole Trehy (L) 
 

 



 

 
SUMMONS 

Councillors of the London Borough of 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

are requested to attend the 

Annual Meeting of the Council on 

Wednesday 22 May 2024 

at the Irish Cultural Centre, 

5 Black’s Road, W6 9DT 

 

The Council will meet at 7.00pm 

 

You can watch the meeting live on YouTube: 

youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham 

 

This meeting is open to the public, but spaces are 

limited. Please contact David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk if 

you would like to attend. 

 

14 May 2024 

 

 Sharon Lea 

Chief Executive 

https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
mailto:David.Abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Full Council Agenda 
22 May 2024 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   ELECTION OF THE MAYOR 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or 
any other significant interest which they consider should be declared in 
the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the 
nature of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that 
item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor 
must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES  6 - 24 

 To approve the minutes of the Council meeting held on 28 February 
2024 as an accurate record. 
 

 

5.   MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

6.   ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

 

6.1   PARTY APPOINTMENTS FOR THE 2024-25 MUNICIPAL YEAR 
 

25 

6.2   REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 
 

26 - 55 



 

6.3   APPOINTMENT BY THE LEADER OF THE DEPUTY LEADER AND 
CABINET 
 

56 - 58 

6.4   ALLOCATION OF SEATS AND PROPORTIONALITY ON 
COMMITTEES 
 

59 - 63 

6.5   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS 
 

64 - 68 

6.6   COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS TO LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ORGANISATIONS AND OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

69 - 74 

6.7   ADOPTION OF A NEW MEMBER'S CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

75 - 178 

6.8   MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME ANNUAL REVIEW 
 

179 - 194 

6.9   THE LEADER'S ANNUAL REPORT (VERBAL) 
 

 

7.   INFORMATION REPORTS - TO NOTE 
 

 

7.1   SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS - MONITORING REPORT 
 

195 - 199 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
COUNCIL 
MINUTES 

 
BUDGET COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 
 
 

WEDNESDAY 28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
 

 

 

 
PRESENT 

 
The Mayor Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Daryl Brown 

 
Councillors: 
 
Jose Afonso 
Aliya Afzal-Khan 
Paul Alexander 
Adronie Alford 
Stala Antoniades 
Emma Apthorp 
Jackie Borland 
Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 
Ben Coleman 
Liz Collins 
Stephen Cowan 
Jacolyn Daly 
Andrew Dinsmore 
Wesley Harcourt 

Rebecca Harvey 
Sharon Holder 
Lisa Homan 
Laura Janes 
Andrew Jones 
Alex Karmel 
Bora Kwon 
Adam Peter Lang 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
Ross Melton 
Omid Miri 
Genevieve Nwaogbe 
Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 
Ashok Patel 
Natalia Perez 

Zarar Qayyum 
Rowan Ree 
Lucy Richardson 
Helen Rowbottom 
Alex Sanderson 
Max Schmid 
Asif Siddique 
Nikos Souslous 
Dominic Stanton 
Sally Taylor 
Nicole Trehy 
Frances Umeh 
Mercy Umeh 
Rory Vaughan 
Patrick Walsh 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Trey Campbell-Simon, Ann 
Rosenberg, and David Morton. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
7.04pm – RESOLVED 
The minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2024 were agreed as an accurate 
record. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

4. MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
Anniversary of the War in Ukraine 
 
The Mayor noted that Saturday the 24th of February marked the two-year 
anniversary of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan, and the Leader of the 
Opposition, Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler made speeches. 
 
Death of Former Councillor Peter DeGory 
 
With great sadness, the Mayor informed the Council of the death of Peter DeGory 
on the 2nd of February 2024. Peter DeGory was a Councillor for St Stephen’s ward 
from 1971 to 1986 and during that time he held a number of positions, including 
Chair of the Planning Committee and Chair of the Leisure and Recreation 
Committee. 
 
Councillors Stephen Cowan and Alex Karmel made speeches of remembrance. 
The Council then observed a minute of silence in his memory. 
 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS (20 MINUTES)  
 
The Mayor thanked the residents who submitted questions. Questions 1, 2, 3, 5, 
and 6 were addressed in the meeting. The Mayor explained that any questions not 
addressed in the meeting would receive written responses. All questions and 
responses can be found in Appendix 1. 
 
Under Standing Order 15(e)12, Councillor Alex Karmel called for an extension of 
the time limit for public questions. The motion was then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   10 
AGAINST  36 
NOT VOTING 1 

 
The motion was declared LOST. 
 
 

6. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

6.1 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2024/25  
 
7.43pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
In accordance with Council convention, the Leader of the Council, Councillor 
Stephen Cowan, and the Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-
Fowler, were given unlimited time to speak on the Budget report. 
 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Speeches on the report were also made by Councillors Alex Sanderson, Bora Kwon, 
and Rowan Ree (for the Administration) – and Councillors Adronie Alford, Adrian 
Pascu-Tulbure, and Amanda Lloyd-Harris (for the Opposition). 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan, then made a speech 
winding up the debate. 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote and a roll call was 
undertaken, in accordance with Council convention when voting on the budget: 
 

FOR AGAINST NOT VOTING 

Alexander Afonso Quigley (Mayor) 

Antoniades Afzal-Khan  

Apthorp Alford  

Brown (Daryl) Borland  

Chevoppe-Verdier Brocklebank-Fowler  

Coleman Dinsmore  

Collins Karmel  

Cowan Lloyd-Harris  

Daly Pascu-Tulbure  

Harcourt  Stanton  

Harvey   

Holder   

Homan   

Janes   

Jones   

Kwon   

Lang   

Melton   

Miri   

Nwaogbe   

Patel   

Perez   

Qayyum   

Ree   

Richardson    

Rowbottom   

Sanderson   

Schmid   

Siddique   

Souslous   

Taylor   

Trehy   

Umeh (Frances)   

Umeh (Mercy)   

Vaughan    

Walsh   

 
FOR   36 
AGAINST  10 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

NOT VOTING 1 
 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
9.39pm – RESOLVED: 
 
That Full Council agree for the reasons set out in the report and appendices: 
 
1. To increase the Hammersmith & Fulham element of Council Tax by 2.99% as 

modelled by the government in its spending power calculations for local 
government.  

 
2. To apply the Adult Social Care precept levy of 2% as modelled by the 

government in its spending power calculations for local government. 
 

3. To approve a balanced budget for 2024/25 as set out in the report, including 
the underlying principles and assumptions. 
 

4. To approve £10.7m of new investment on key services for residents. 
 
5. To approve fees and charges, as set out in Appendix E, including freezing 

charges in adult social care, children’s services, and General Fund housing. 
 
6. To approve the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and to note the budget 

projections to 2027/28 made by the Strategic Director of Finance in consultation 
with the Strategic Leadership Team (Appendix B). 

 
7. To note the statement of the Strategic Director of Finance, under Section 25 of 

the Local Government Act 2003, regarding the adequacy of reserves and 
robustness of estimates (paragraph 56). 

 
8. To approve the reserves strategy and forecast as set out in Appendix H. 
 
9. To require all Directors to report on their projected financial position compared 

to their revenue estimates in accordance with the Corporate Revenue 
Monitoring Report timetable. 

 
10. To authorise Directors to implement their service spending plans for 2024/25 in 

accordance with the recommendations within this report, the council’s Standing 
Orders, Financial Regulations, relevant Schemes of Delegation and undertake 
any further consultation required regarding the Equalities Impact Assessment. 

 
11. Set the council’s element of Council Tax for 2024/25 for each category of 

dwelling, as outlined in the table below and in full in Appendix A and calculated 
in accordance with Sections 31A to 49B of the Localism Act 2011. 

 

Category 
of 
Dwelling 

A 
 

B C D E F G H 

Ratio 6/9 

£ 
7/9 

£ 
8/9 

£ 
1 

£ 
11/9 

£ 
13/9 

£ 
15/9 

£ 
18/9 

£ 

Page 10



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

H&F 610.24 711.95 813.66 915.37 1,118.78 1,322.20 1,525.61 1,830.74 

 
12. To note, based on the Mayor of London’s draft consolidated budget, the 

element of Council Tax to be charged by the Greater London Authority in 
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for 
each of the categories of dwellings as shown in the table below. 

 

Category 
of 
Dwelling 

A 
 

B C D E F G H 

Ratio 
6/9 

£ 
7/9 

£ 
8/9 

£ 
1 

£ 
11/9 

£ 
13/9 

£ 
15/9 

£ 
18/9 

£ 

b) GLA 314.27 366.64 419.02 471.40 576.16 680.91 785.67 942.80 

 
13. That the overall Council Tax to be set at £1,386.77 per Band D property as 

follows: 
 

Category 
of 
Dwelling 

A B C D E F G H 

Ratio 
6/9 

£ 
7/9 

£ 
8/9 

£ 
1 

£ 
11/9 

£ 
13/9 

£ 
15/9 

£ 
18/9 

£ 

a) H&F 610.24 711.95 813.66 915.37 1,118.78 1,322.19 1,525.61 1,830.74 

b) GLA   314.27 366.64 419.02 471.40 576.16 680.91 785.67 942.80 

c) Total  924.51 1,078.59 1,232.68 1,386.77 1,694.94 2,003.10 2,311.28 2,773.54 

 
14. To authorise the Strategic Director of Finance to collect and recover 

National Non-Domestic Rate and Council Tax in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 
15. To note the Council’s estimated position on the Collection Fund (as set out 

in paragraph 51 of the report). 
 
16. To note the performance on the management of arrears across the Council 

on all debts due (as set out from paragraph 60 of the report). 
 
 

6.2 Four Year Capital Programme 2024-28 And Capital Strategy 2024/25  
 
9.40pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Reform, Councillor Rowan Ree. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Frances Umeh, Andrew Jones, 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, and Emma Apthorp (for the Administration). 
 

Page 11



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Under Standing Order 15(e)12, Councillor Max Schmid called for the guillotine to 
be extended by 15 minutes. The motion was then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   36 
AGAINST  10 
NOT VOTING 1 

 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
The report and recommendations were then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   36 
AGAINST  10 
NOT VOTING 1 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
9.57pm – RESOLVED:  
 
That Full Council agreed: 
 

1. To approve the four-year General Fund Capital Programme budget at 
£143.6m for the period 2024/25-2027/28 (presented in Table 2 and 
Appendix 1 of the report). 

 
2. To approve the continuation of rolling programmes for 2024/25 funded from 

the Council’s mainstream resources. For financial modelling purposes, 
these programmes are assumed to continue at the same level until 2027/28:  

 

 £m 

Corporate Planned Maintenance 2.400 

Footways and Carriageways 2.030 

Column Replacement 0.346 

Total 4.776 

 
3. To delegate approval of the detailed programmes for use of the rolling 

programmes, in recommendation 2, to the relevant SLT Director in 
consultation with the Strategic Director of Finance and relevant Lead 
Cabinet Member.  

 
4. To approve the four-year Housing (HRA) Capital Programme at £432.9m for 

the period 2024/25-2027/28 as set out in Table 6 and Appendix 1 (of the 
report). 

 
5. To delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Finance in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform to approve the potential 
use of up to £3.6m of capital receipts under the Government’s Flexible Use 
of Capital Receipts provisions for funding of Invest to Save schemes in 
2024/25 (as identified in Appendix 2 of the report) and potential match-
funding opportunities. 

Page 12



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
6. To approve the Capital Strategy 2024/25, as set out in the report. 

 
7. To approve the annual Minimum Revenue Provision policy statement for 

2024/25, as set out in Appendix 3 (of the report). 
 
 

6.3 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024/25  
 
9.57pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Reform, Councillor Rowan Ree. 
 
Councillor Ross Melton made a speech on the report (for the Administration). 
 
The report and recommendations were then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   36 
AGAINST  10 
NOT VOTING 1 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
10.07pm – RESOLVED:  
 

1. That approval be given to the future borrowing and investment strategies as 
outlined in this report. 

 
2. That the Strategic Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Finance and Reform, be delegated authority to manage the 
Council’s cash flow, borrowing and investments in 2024/25 in line with this 
report. 

 
3. In relation to the Council’s overall borrowing for the financial year, that Full 

Council approve the Prudential Indicators as set out in this report and the 
revised Annual Investment Strategy set out in Appendix E (of the report). 

 
 

6.4 Pay Policy Statement 2024/25  
 
10.07pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform, Councillor Rowan Ree. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Stala Antonaides and Emma 
Apthorp (for the Administration). 
 
The report and recommendations were then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   36 
AGAINST  10 
NOT VOTING 1 

 

Page 13



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
10.16pm – RESOLVED:  
 

1. That Full Council approve the pay policy statement for 2024/25 as set out in 
Appendix 1 (of the report).  
 

2. That Full Council note the benchmarking of the Council’s median pay 
multiple against the average of other Inner London Boroughs contained in 
paragraph 11 (of the report). 

 
 

6.5 Dispensation of Absence  
 
10.16pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
The report and recommendations were then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
10.16pm – RESOLVED:  
 

1. That a special dispensation be granted to Councillor Ann Rosenberg for 
non-attendance at meetings of the authority due to ill health pursuant to 
Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

6.6 Review of the Constitution  
 
10.16pm – The report and recommendations were moved for adoption by the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
The report and recommendations were then put to the vote: 
 

FOR   UNANIMOUS 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING 0 

 
The recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
10.16pm – RESOLVED:  
 

1. That Full Council approve the amendment to the terms of reference for the 
Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee detailed in paragraph 5 (of 
the report). 

 

Page 14



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. That Full Council approve the amendments to Contract Standing Orders 
detailed in Paragraphs 6, 7, and Appendix 1 (of the report). 

 
3. That Full Council approve the appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration 

Officers detailed in paragraphs 8 and 9 (of the report). 
 
 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 10.17 pm 

 
 
 
 
 

Mayor   

 
 
 
 

Page 15



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Appendix 1 – Public Questions and Responses 
 
Questions 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 were taken in the meeting. The remaining questions received 
written responses. 
 
Question 1 
 
From: Nicola Dryden, Resident 
 
Question: There seems to be an increasing problem with dog poo bags being dropped 
and littering the pavements. Therefore, I would like to understand what the council is doing 
to enforce fines on those who are litter dropping? Is the council planning to have more dog 
poo bins across the borough in order to try to address the problem? 
 
Response from Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
and Community Safety: We know that our residents are concerned about dog fouling as 
many reported to us during an investigation in response to this. In June 2023 Council 
introduced a dog control public space protection order which brought in a range of 
measures to help us more effectively regulate dog fouling and behaviour of dogs in open 
spaces. Our PSPO prohibits dog fouling anywhere in the borough and any owner not 
clearing up after their dog can receive a fixed penalty notice. They can also be fined for not 
possessing the means to clean up after the dog or for not putting their dog on the lead 
when instructed to do so by an authorised officer of the Council. There's more information 
about the dog control PSPO on our website. 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham is unique in having a team of 72 Law Enforcement Officers to 
enforce the provisions of the dog control PSPO. These officers are tasked to patrol all of 
the borough, including our parks and open spaces, to identify a wide 
range of environmental offenses including littering, which the depositing of dog faeces on 
the pavement would be classed as. If any of our officers witnessed anyone dropping bags 
of dog faeces on the pavement they would issue a fixed penalty notice for littering. In 2023 
our officers issued a total of 1,986 fixed penalty notices and 1,478 of those were for 
littering offenses. 
 
Where dog fowling occurs frequently, we urge all residents to assist us by letting us know 
where the issue is occurring, what times, and the description of the owner and the dog. 
This will aide us in coordinating our patrols to deter such behaviour. 
 
Any public litter bin in Hammersmith & Fulham can be used to dispose of dog waste and 
Hammersmith & Fulham has a total of 1,415 bins across the borough. If you 
feel there is a need for an additional bin in a particular location, you can let our street 
environment services know and then we can look at providing those bins. 
 
Question 2 
 
From: Casey Abaraonye, Resident 
To: Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform 
 
Question: Decisions taken by adults in the room affect the futures of our young and we 
should be doing more to involve them in that process. Can the council commit to writing to 
16-year-olds and schools, to ensure that they are reminded when they become eligible to 

Page 16



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

vote, to participate in the process? For schools this would form an active part of their 
Citizenship. 
 
Response from Councillor Rowan Ree, Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform: 
The council is very keen to ensure that young people learn about, and ultimately 
participate in, our democratic process. 
 
16 and 17-year-olds can register to vote ahead of their 18th birthday, however we know 
from Electoral Commission’s reports that young people are under-registered across the 
UK, with just 70% of 18 to 30-year-olds registered to vote, according to the Electoral 
Commission. 
 
We are happy to commit to writing to schools in the borough to invite them to include 
information about voting and registration in their PHSE classes or any other appropriate 
lessons. 
 
The electoral registration officer already writes to 16 or 17-year-olds to invite them to 
register to vote. Usually, eligible young people are identified through the annual household 
canvas process, or by checking other council records, including extracts from school rolls 
where they’re available, to identify young people who may be eligible. 
 
The Council also takes the opinions of our young residents seriously, and we have a very 
successful Youth Council, headed up by our Youth Mayor, which are voted for by young 
people in the borough. 
 
This year elections are taking place for a Youth Mayor and a Youth Parliament Member, 
which has established links between the electoral services team, youth services and 
Politics and Citizenship Lead teachers across the borough. The Youth Mayor and Youth 
Parliament elections take place in the borough from 17 February to 18 March. 
 
Electoral Services, and our communications team are supporting young people from the 
Youth Council to create materials about voter registration and voting, including traditional 
advertising and video formats, which will also be distributed to schools and young people’s 
services. 
 
When the care leavers hub was opened in October 2023, Electoral Services were invited 
by the Children and Young Peoples Services team to attend their Independent Living Skills 
Workshops to promote voter registration. The workshops have been well received and led 
to several of the young people attending becoming registered voters. 
 
Electoral Services have also provided the hub with voter registration handout materials. 
The Council also actively supports the pan-London publicity campaign for local democracy 
week every October which encourages all Londoners to register to vote. 
 
Question 3 
 
From: Nick Smith, Resident 
 
Question: Many streets in SW6 are suffering from a lack of investment in new 
infrastructure, paving, lighting and street furniture. Could the council please consider a 

Page 17



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

programme of street improvements in the SW6 area using funds raised from the fines 
gained from non-residents cutting through our residential streets? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: Thank 
you for your question. I am pleased to report back that the Council is in the process of 
developing a public realm programme for the South Fulham area, which includes proposed 
street infrastructure improvements in a variety of locations across the Wandsworth Bridge 
Corridor and in the East. This could include measures such as improved lighting, more 
greening and tree planting, sustainable drainage systems and improved pedestrian and 
cycle pathways. The Council will continue to work hand in hand with residents to create a 
vision that meets the aspirations of the local communities. 
 
Under the Road Traffic Regulation Act, the application of any surplus from penalty charge 
notices is limited to meeting the cost of providing and maintaining parking facilities, 
highways improvement schemes, highway maintenance, public passenger transport 
services and certain other service categories. 
 
As part of the Clean Air Neighbourhood projects in South Fulham, PCN surplus is ring-
fenced for public realm improvements. This means the overall scheme is cost neutral to 
the council. 
 
Question 4 
 
From: Sarah (Surname not given), Resident 
 
Question: Given the recent attacks on Bishops Park and the warnings about a sexual 
predator around Townmead Road, please can you let us know what the Council is doing to 
protect residents in the borough, both in terms of personal safety and also on matters such 
as car and bike theft. 
 
Response from Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
and Community Safety: We take the safety of our residents extremely seriously which is 
why, since 2018, H&F have made the largest investment in Community Safety in the 
borough’s history. In 2021 we invested £4.6m annually to create the pioneering Law 
Enforcement Team, a team of 72 highly trained, fully uniformed officers deployed to our 
streets, estates and parks 24/7 to deter crime and tackle anti-social behaviour. Each 
officer carries a radio and body camera and is in live communication with our CCTV 
control room who can refer incidents to the Police in real time for a rapid response. 
 
In addition to the Law Enforcement Team we created H&F’s Gang, Violence & Exploitation 
Unit in September 2020 to tackle the issues of gang crime affecting young people and 
families in our borough. This further investment of £1m annually has meant that vulnerable 
young people across the borough have been kept safe and thanks to the intelligence that 
our officers have gathered gangs have been disrupted both here in H&F and in other parts 
of the country. 
 
Further, in March 2022 we agreed £5.4m of capital funding to fund a four-year upgrade of 
H&F’s extensive network of 1,800 CCTV cameras to ensure we have the most effective 
and intelligent CCTV infrastructure anywhere in London. I’m pleased to say that thanks to 
our network of cameras and the incredible professionalism of our CCTV operators these 
cameras have helped the Metropolitan Police secure the arrest of 535 people since April 

Page 18



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2023. A further 4,896 incidents of crime or anti-social behaviour were captured by the 
cameras for evidential purposes. 
 
To help ensure that women and girls are as safe as possible in our borough, H&F are 
currently consulting on the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order to prohibit 
sexual harassment anywhere in the borough. This ground-breaking approach would 
enable our Law Enforcement Officers to issue fixed penalty notices to anyone directing 
verbal or physical attention of a sexual nature towards anyone else with the aim of causing 
harassment, alarm or distress or to undermine their sense of safety in a public space. The 
consultation closes on 18th March following which we will review all the responses and 
consider whether to implement the order. 
 
With regard to motor vehicle theft, we work closely with the Police to understand the trends 
across the borough and regularly install temporary CCTV cameras to help Police catch 
offenders. We also task our Law Enforcement Team to act as a deterrent alongside Police 
patrols in affected areas. We understand how critical it is to encourage people to cycle 
wherever possible and we recognise residents will only cycle if they have confidence their 
bike won’t get stolen. Over the past year we have done regular bike marking events across 
the borough where residents can get their bikes security marked free of charge. To ensure 
there are enough places for people to securely lock their bikes we make sure to keep our 
on street bicycle racks free of abandoned bikes and other items. We’ve also installed 67 
cycle hangars around the borough so far which is 402 secure cycle storage spaces in 
addition to the 82 secure spaces at Hammersmith Cycle Hub. We will be implementing an 
additional 8 cycle hangars in April and another 20 cycle parking spaces in Coomer Place 
Cycle Hub in the spring. 
 
The Council are aware of the recent robberies in Bishop’s Park and fully understand how 
distressing these must have been for the victims, their families and the wider community. 
Immediately following these incidents we worked with the Police to develop a patrolling 
plan for our LET officers and a number of plain clothes Police Officers which were 
stationed inside the park. These deployments were supported by the two new solar 
powered CCTV cameras which H&F recently installed in Bishop’s Park. I’m pleased to say 
there have been no further robberies involving violence in Bishop’s Park or the immediate 
area since. We are also aware of the very distressing series of sexual assaults in the south 
of the borough but can confirm that the Police have arrested an individual they believe to 
be the perpetrator and there have been no further reports of sexual assault in that area 
since. 
 
Question 5 
 
From: Andy Knowles, Resident 
 
Question: Could the council please confirm if they have had any approach from the 
Department for Transport as part of the "LTN Review" and what good news does the 
council have for them on the popularity and effectiveness of the local schemes? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: We 
have not been approached by the Department for Transport with regard to the proposed 
“LTN Review”. Unlike LTNs our Clean Air Neighbourhood projects don’t block roads with 
physical closures. Our pioneering projects keep all streets accessible to all traffic and use 

Page 19



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

smart camera technology to prevent out-of-borough motorists from using residential side 
streets as cut throughs. 
 
These measures were designed to end the decades old problem of pollution and 
congestion in the streets around Wandsworth Bridge Road, and I am pleased to report that 
this is what they are doing. The data, which is published in the report for next week’s 
Cabinet meeting, shows traffic volumes down, congestion down and toxic air pollution 
down in the streets to the west of Wandsworth Bridge Road. The data shows that there 
has been no displacement of traffic to the wider area.  
 
The door-to-door opinion polling and online survey carried out by Opinium, one of Britain’s 
leading market research agencies, shows that residents in the Clean Air Neighbourhood 
overwhelmingly support the measures we have introduced. As they have repeatedly told 
us in their own street letters of support, the trial has enhanced the quality of life on the 
streets and is making South Fulham an even more pleasant place to live. 
 
Question 6 
 
From: David Tarsh, Resident 
 
Question: At the last full council meeting, it was made clear that the survey commissioned 
from Opinium would be used to decide whether to keep the CAN traffic scheme, which has 
caused huge social division, harm to local businesses and which Greg Hands’ survey has 
found to be deeply unpopular. 
 
The law requires LBHF to conduct a consultation if it is to retain the traffic scheme. And 
the law provides that a consultation is only legitimate when the Gunning Principles are 
met. However, the Opinium survey breaks the Market Research Society’s Code of 
Conduct in several ways (its purpose was not transparent; its design and content were 
biased; and questions were leading); and the council has also breached the second 
provision of the Gunning Principles, ie: that there is sufficient information for the 
consultees to give ‘intelligent consideration’. 
 
“Intelligent consideration” is impossible when LBHF deliberately conceals the pivotal role 
of the survey in keeping the traffic scheme and, when LBHF refuses to answer repeated 
FoI questions asking how much money it has collected in fines and how air quality has 
changed on the Wandsworth Bridge Road and the New Kings Road. 
 
So, will the council now provide full and frank answers to those questions; or will it 
continue refusing to do so, in which case, intelligent consideration is impossible; and its 
consultation is not legitimate? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: As 
promised to residents and businesses, the council commissioned a full and proper 
consultation on the Clean Air Neighbourhood trial. This included the survey and opinion 
polling carried out by Opinium, one of Britain’s leading market research agencies. The 
consultation and engagement goes beyond the guidance set out by the Secretary of State 
for Transport.  
 
Data collected, including air quality monitoring, traffic volumes, polling, surveys, economic 
spend, footfall numbers, and parking PCNs, has been published in the report for next 

Page 20



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

week’s Cabinet meeting which will discuss the Clean Air Neighbourhood trial. Clean Air 
Neighbourhood PCN data will be published in the annual parking report. 
 
Question 7 
 
From: Caroline Shuffrey, Resident 
 
Question: In response to a resident’s question at last month’s council meeting the Council 
stated ‘The council has commissioned Opinium, a member of the British Polling Council, to 
undertake one of the most comprehensive surveys ever seen in this country into a 
neighbourhood scheme. This is open to all residents, not just those within the Clean Air 
Neighbourhood area. Opinium have also been commissioned to carry out opinion polling 
both within the Clean Air Neighbourhood area and, again, across the borough’. 
 
A leaflet directing residents to answer the poll Opinium.com/hfsurvey/ was only delivered 
by Royal Mail to random households in a small area in Fulham, many addresses appeared 
to be missed out. The poll was not advertised in the Council’s weekly newsletters or on 
Next Door. The poll could not be answered by those residents who were not online. The 
poll was only open for a short period, much shorter than for other surveys. 
 
Given that such a comprehensive survey was undertaken why did the Council make so 
little effort to advertise the poll to the 80,000 plus households across the borough? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: A 
leaflet was sent to 15,000 homes south of the Fulham Road, a far wider circulation than 
the Clean Air Neighbourhood trial area which is taking place in the streets to the west of 
Wandsworth Bridge Road. Given the considerable interest of residents and businesses, 
we also carried out opinion polling in the rest of the borough and opened the online survey 
to all who live and work in the borough. This was advertised through social media 
channels and the council website. This was the largest consultation and engagement ever 
carried out by this council on a neighbourhood project. 
 
The door-to-door opinion polling and online survey carried out by Opinium, one of Britain’s 
leading market research agencies, shows that residents in the Clean Air Neighbourhood 
overwhelmingly support the measures we have introduced. This was the largest 
consultation and engagement ever carried out by this council on a local neighbourhood 
project. As they have repeatedly told us in their own street letters of support, the trial has 
enhanced the quality of life on the streets and is making South Fulham an even more 
pleasant place to live.  
 
Question 8 
 
From: Donald Grant, Resident 
 
Question: The Traffic Camera Consulting Group is the largest residents’ group in South 
Fulham, with several hundred members from over 100 Fulham streets. We advised your 
“Strategic Director of Environment” several times that due to this we wished to be involved 
in traffic and public realm issues being influenced by residents. That has not happened 
outside two staged meetings, and instead minority resident groups and individual residents 
routinely influence the punitive trial LTN details, and initiatives on Wandsworth Bridge 

Page 21



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Road. In the absence of any replies from your Director, when will we start to be involved in 
traffic and public realm discussions between the Council and other residents? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: The 
Traffic Camera Consulting Group like other groups, including those of residents and 
businesses, continues to be included in meetings to discuss the Clean Air Neighbourhood 
trial. 
 
Question 9 
 
From: Natalie Lindsay, Resident 
 
Question: In light of your Air Quality Assessment paper it is clear that urgent action needs 
to be taken to tackle the filthy air each and every resident of the borough is subjected to. 
We also know that to meet our Climate obligations by 2030 we must reduce car use by a 
minimum of 27%. Can the council lay out their proposed timetable to act on excessive 
volumes of vehicles in the borough (via CANS, LTNS, main road mitigations/de-
prioritisations etc) and in parallel how quickly they plan to create safe segregated cycle 
lanes to help the families/residents that still drive to switch to active travel. 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: As you 
know as part of our clean air strategy, we are aiming with the support of local residents to 
reduce through traffic from local side roads, which will then enable us to tackle the traffic 
on the main roads. 
 
These quieter streets along with interventions at main roads will provide a new network of 
cycle quietways for safer cycling across the borough. Segregated cycle lanes for main 
roads are planned in conjunction with TfL, with the next big intervention planned being 
Wood Lane. 
 
Question 10 
 
From: Hillary Cannon, Resident 
 
Question: Uber and other ride sharing apps - the more affordable options for private taxi 
service and therefore among the most frequently used by young people - do not have 
access through the LTN in south Fulham (or the CAN scheme, to use its common name), 
and because of this are regularly dropping young women at the top of Parson's Green and 
other points along Wandsworth Bridge Rd, forcing them to walk home alone at all hours of 
the night. Additionally, there has been at least one report of a known sexual predator 
operating in the exact area where these women are being forced to walk, and presumably 
other predators are already noticing that the neighbourhood is now rife with opportunities 
to harm young women, thanks to these cameras. This issue has been raised countless 
times in emails sent by myself and other women in the borough - all of which have been 
ignored. 
 
Does the Council plan to turn off the cameras until a viable, solution can be found that 
ensures the safety of women and girls, or does it plan to continue knowingly risking their 
lives in favour of this divisive and now demonstrably dangerous scheme? 
 

Page 22



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: Thank 
you for raising this vital issue. The safety of women and girls, alongside that of all 
residents, is a priority for this council.  
 
Since 2022, we have pursued a specific strategy to end violence against women and girls, 
based on a coordinated community response. At the heart of the strategy is the prevention 
of violence through interventions at multiple levels. 
 
To protect all residents, we have also introduced the highest density of CCTV cameras in 
the country and have established our own, 72-strong Law Enforcement Teams to patrol 
every neighbourhood and work alongside the police. 
 
As regards Uber and other ride-hailing apps, we have now signed an agreement with Uber 
on a technical solution which allows its drivers to go through the South Fulham cameras 
without penalty to pick up and drop off residents.   
 
We are also in talks with other ride-hailing apps who have expressed strong interest in 
doing the same. 
 
Question 11 
 
From: Philip Jones, Resident 
 
Question: At the end of the Council’s response to my question at the last Full Council 
meeting I said that I wanted to drill down into the Council’s figures of the 1,780 affordable 
residential units that it has permitted to be built over the last ten years to determine how 
many were residential units with rental prices capped at 80% of local market rents and 
how many were low-cost social rent properties? 
 
Response from Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy: Over 
the last ten years 1,780 affordable residential units have been permitted to be built in the 
borough. 68% (1,206) of these were social rented homes and 32% (574) were 
intermediate homes. 
 
Question 12 
 
From: Jacqueline Rivadeneira, Resident 
 
Question: Would Fulham & Hammersmith support that Builders and Construction 
Companies become licensed and formally Regulated to improve standards to reduce the 
number of rogue builders and companies and have an accountable and responsible 
industry? 
 
Response from Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy: The 
Council is currently focusing on implementing the requirements of the Building Safety 
Regulator established under the Building Safety Act 2022, and the urgent improvements in 
the safety of buildings this will bring.  If the government consult on the licensing of builders 
and construction firms in future as an additional regulatory regime we will give it due 
consideration and provide a detailed response once the details are known.  
 
Question 13 

Page 23



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
From: Richard Cazenove, Resident 
 
Question: Re the CAN, thank you to Councillor Holder for providing traffic data from the 
Grimston Road monitoring camera. It shows vehicles using the street since the start of the 
CAN trial have increased by just under 9% to approximately 1,850/day. This compares to 
large reductions on other north-south routes – e.g. minus 58.8% on Broomhouse Lane. A 
demonstrable fall in “cut-through” traffic has been offset by a larger increase in “access” 
volumes. This is primarily due to out-of-borough cars/vans seeking a new route to the 
Hurlingham Club and 400 adjacent flats to avoid the Hurlingham Road CAN fine camera. 
The change in mix has had a much more detrimental impact in terms of traffic volumes on 
Ranelagh Avenue for reasons well understood by the Council. 
 
As discussed previously there are a number of ways this could be mitigated and following 
communication with the Director for Climate Change and Transport, we seem to have had 
breakthrough. He has confirmed that the Council is working on providing “automatic” 
immunity to Hurlingham Club traffic from the cameras – no form filling, no pre-registration 
etc. I believe there are some specific points to be agreed (e.g. which cameras the 
exemptions will apply to) and technology to be refined, but with this in mind when do you 
expect the modification will be implemented? The willingness to act on feedback is both 
encouraging and much appreciated. 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: 
Officers are actively working with the suppliers on the of an upgraded system, this is 
planned for early summer this year. 
 
Question 14 
 
From: Caroline Brooman-White, Resident 
 
Question: Two years ago Councillor Harcourt wrote to me saying initial pollution data for 
Wandsworth Bridge Road has shown it is not significantly different to the side streets. Is 
this still true? 
 
Response from Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm: The 
relevant pollution data can be found in the March 2024 Cabinet report: 
https://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=70032 

 

Page 24

https://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=70032


 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Party Appointments for the 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 
Report of: The Leader of the Council – Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Responsible Director: Sharon Lea, Chief Executive 
 

 
Summary 
 
The Council is asked to note the Party appointments for the Municipal Year 2024/25. 
 

 
 
Administration 
 
Leader  Councillor Stephen Cowan 
Deputy Leader Councillor Ben Coleman 
Chief Whip  Councillor Max Schmid 
Deputy Whips Councillors Genevieve Nwaogbe and Patrick Walsh 
 
 
Opposition 
 
Leader   Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
Deputy Leader  Councillor Andrew Dinsmore 
Opposition Whip  Councillor Alex Karmel 
Opposition Deputy Whip Councillor Jose Afonso 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

1. That the appointments made by the Party Groups on the Council be noted. 

 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6.1



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Full Council 
 

Date:  22/05/2024 
 

Subject: Review of the Constitution 
 

Report of: The Leader of the Council - Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 

Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 

Responsible Director: Grant Deg, Monitoring Officer 
  

 

SUMMARY 
 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to review the Council’s Constitution each 
year to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect in accordance with 
Article 15 of the Constitution. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Full Council approve the following changes to Lead Member roles: 

a. Create a new Lead Member for Land Development as detailed in 
Appendix 1. 

b. Create a new Lead Member for Asylum Seekers, Refugees, and 
Migrants as detailed in Appendix 1. 

c. Amend the role profile for the Lead Member for Wellbeing and Early 
Access to Support as detailed in Appendix 1.  

d. Delete the Lead Member for Youth Advancement role. 

2. That Full Council approve the changes to the membership and terms of 
reference of the Pensions Fund Committee, Standards Committee, and 
Standards Committee Sub-Committees in Appendix 2. 

3. That Full Council approve the changes to the Children’s Services Register of 
Authorities detailed in Appendix 3. 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Ensuring a high standard of governance 
across the Council. 
 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6.2



Financial Impact 
 
The creation of two new lead members and the deletion of one will result in one 
additional Lead Member allowance of £3,439. 
  
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance – Corporate Services, 14/05/2024 
 
Verified by Andre Mark, Head of Finance –Strategic Planning and Investment, 
14/05/2024 
 

Legal Implications 
 
The Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to have and maintain a 
Constitution. The Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the Council’s Constitution 
continues to fulfil its stated purposes, as set out in Article 1 of the Constitution. 
  
Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services, 09/05/2024 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
  

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
1. Each local authority is required to publish the arrangements it has made to 

discharge its functions in a ‘constitution’ prepared in accordance with Section 
37 of the Local Government Act 2000. The Constitution sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures that are 
followed to ensure business is conducted in an efficient, transparent, and 
accountable manner. Some of the content of the Constitution is required by law, 
the remainder is for the Council itself to determine. 
 

2. The Constitution is reviewed at least annually to ensure it continues to promote 
timely, effective, transparent, and lawful decision making reflecting the 
arrangements Members have put in place for the running of the Council. 
 

3. In-year amendments were approved by Council to the Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers to reflect recent changes in organisational structure and changes to the 
responsibilities of Chief Officers.  

 
4. The Monitoring Officer has a duty to keep the Constitution under review and 

has delegated authority to amend the Constitution where there has been a 
change in law, job title, structure, rearrangement of job responsibilities or for 
general administrative convenience. All extensive changes to the Constitution, 
however, must be approved by Full Council.  

 
 

Page 27



Changes to Lead Member Roles 

 
5. The Administration has proposed two new Lead Member roles (Land 

Development and Asylum Seekers, Refugees, and Migrants) and to delete the 
role of Lead Member for Youth Advancement. Amendments to the role profile 
for the Lead Member for Wellbeing and Early Access to Support have been 
proposed to promote an enhanced focus on wellbeing in communication with 
adult residents and promote knowledge of and early access to support services 
within the borough. The role will now be reporting to the Cabinet Member for 
Civic Renewal. These changes are detailed in Appendix 1. 

Committee Changes 

 
6. The Standards Committees has 5 Councillors with 3 Independent Members on 

the Committees. It is proposed to increase the membership of the Standards 
Committee by 1 from 5 to 6 Councillors. 

 
7. The Committee on Standards in Public Life's report on local government ethical 

standards, was published on 21 January 2019. The report proposed a number 
of best practices and recommendations. In line with best practices, one of the 
three Independent Persons will act as the Chair of the Standards Committee 
and all Independent Persons will have a vote. 

 
8. The proposed terms of reference for the Standards Committee and sub-

committees are attached as Appendix 2. These sub-committees will support the 
complaints process. 

 
9. The Chair of the Pension Board will be appointed as an observer to the 

Pension Fund Committee. 

Updates to the Children’s Services Register of Authority 

 
10. The Children’s Services Register of Authority has been updated to reflect 

changes in positions following restructures. Levels of financial sign off have 
also been reviewed for some posts based on business need and some have 
increased to allow officers to make more timely decisions that have a financial 
requirement for placements of children or for equipment. The updated register, 
with highlighted changes, can be found at Appendix 3. 

Reasons for Decision 

 
11. The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to review the Council’s Constitution 

each year to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect in 
accordance with Article 15 of the Constitution. 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Changes to Lead Member roles 
Appendix 2 – Committee Changes 
Appendix 3 – Children’s Services Register of Authority 

Page 28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF


Appendix 1 

 

Changes to Lead Member Roles 
 
 
Lead Member for Land Development (New Role) 
 
Reporting to the Cabinet Member for the Economy and the Cabinet Member for the 
Public Realm, the post holder will:  

 Promote the development, monitoring and implementation of the Council’s 
regeneration strategy. 

 Work closely with residents and community groups to encourage developers 
to build beautiful buildings that meet the needs of the community and are in 
keeping with the character of the neighbourhoods they would be in. 

 
 
Lead Member for Asylum Seekers, Refugees, and Migrants (New Role) 
 
Reporting to the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community Safety, the 
post holder will:  

 Ensure refugees, migrants, asylum seekers and unaccompanied child 
refugees have access to services and their needs are taken into account – 
making connections between the council, charities, local community groups 
and residents. 

   Review and monitor the Council’s achievements in resettling vulnerable 
refugee families. 

 Act as a public champion for migrants, refugees, asylum seekers and 
unaccompanied child refugees interests in the borough.  

 Support the development of policy to improve the wellbeing of and support for 
migrants, asylum seekers, and child refugees. 

 
Lead Member for Wellbeing and Early Access to Support (Amended Role) 
 
Reporting to the Cabinet Member for Civic Renewal, the post holder will:  

 Promote an enhanced focus on wellbeing in communication with adult 
residents.  

 Promote knowledge of and early access to support services within the 
borough. 

Page 29



Appendix 2 

Standards Committee 
Terms of Reference 

 
Members 
6 voting Councillors 
 

Quorum 
3 Members of the Committee 

Political proportionality 
5 Administration members 
1 Opposition member 
 

Co-optees 
3 voting Independent Persons are 
invited to attend 

 
1. Membership 
 
1.1 The Chair will be elected at the first meeting of the Committee and should be 

chosen from the Independent Persons in attendance. In the absence of any 
Independent Persons, the members present shall elect a Chair for the 
meeting from among the members then present, who shall have the second or 
casting vote. If the Chair subsequently attends the meeting, the person then in 
the Chair shall vacate it. 

 
2. Voting 
 
2.1  All Members on the Committee shall have voting rights. In the event of an 

equality of votes, the Chair of the Committee shall have a second casting 
vote.  

 
3.  Procedures 
 
3.1  Except as provided herein, Council Procedure Rules (as applicable to all 

Committees) shall apply in all other respects to the conduct of the Committee. 
 
3.2 Meetings of the Committee shall be held in public, subject to the provisions for 

considering exempt items in accordance with sections 100A-D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
4.  Meetings 
 
4.1 Meetings will be convened at the request of the Monitoring Officer as required 

during the Municipal Year. 
 
5. Responsibilities 
 
5.1 To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the Members and Co-

opted Members of the Council and church and parent governor 
representatives. 
 

5.2 To assist Members, Co-opted Members and church and parent governor 
representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

Page 30



5.3 To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
5.4 To monitor the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
5.5 To advise and recommend training for Councillors, and co-opted Members 

and church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
5.6 To periodically review the “arrangements” under Section 28 of the Localism 

Act 2011 under which allegations that a Member or co-opted Member of the 
Council, or of a Committee or Committee of the Council has failed to comply 
with the Council’s Code of Conduct are considered, investigated and 
determined. 
 

5.7 To consider reports referred to the Committee by the Monitoring Officer of 
investigations into alleged breaches of the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members.  
 

5.8 To discharge all the Council’s functions under Section 28 of the Localism Act 
2011 in relation to considering, investigating and making a decision on 
allegations that a Member or co-opted Member of the Council, or of a 
Committee or Committee of the Council, has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct.  

 
5.9 To hear an appeal where a Member is dissatisfied with the decision in respect 

of a complaint against them. 
 

5.10 To consider any applications for dispensations from Councillors and co-opted 
members to allow them to participate in decisions. 
 

5.11 To consider any complaints in respect of Members referred to the Committee 
under the Council’s “Whistleblowing” procedure and determining the action to 
be taken, if any.  

 
5.12 To consider, advise and, if appropriate, take action upon other Member 

conduct issues not otherwise dealt with under these terms of reference. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 31



Standards (Complaints) Sub-Committee 
Terms of Reference 

 
Members 
3 voting Councillors drawn from the 
membership of the Standards Committee  
 

Quorum 
3 Members of the Sub-Committee 
 

Political proportionality 
2 Administration members 
1 Opposition member 

Co-opted Members 
None 

 
1. Constitution 
 
1.1 Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place 

“arrangements” under which allegations that a Member or co-opted Member 
of the Council, or of a Committee or Committee of the Council, has failed to 
comply with Code of Conduct. 

 
1.2 The Standards (Complaints) Sub-Committee is established by the Standards 

Committee to consider, investigate and make decisions on such allegations. 
 
2. Meetings 
 
2.1 Meetings will be convened at the request of the Monitoring Officer as required 

during the Municipal Year to enable the Council to discharge its obligations. 
 
3. Voting 
 
3.1 All members of the sub-committee have voting rights.  In the event of an 

equality of votes the Chair shall have the casting vote. 
 
4. Chair 

 
4.1 The Chair shall be elected by the Members present. 
 
5. Procedures 

 
4.1 Council Standing Orders (as applicable to Committees) shall apply at 

meetings of the sub-committee. In the event of a conflict between these 
procedures and any guidance or law, then the latter will prevail. 

 
6. Terms of Reference 
 
6.1  To discharge all the Council’s functions under Section 28 of the Localism Act 

2011 in relation to considering, investigating and making a decision on 
allegations that a Member or co-opted Member of the Council, or of a 
Committee or Committee of the Council, has failed to comply with Code of 
Conduct. 

  

Page 32



Standards (Appeals) Sub-Committee 
Terms of Reference 

 
Members 
3 voting Councillors drawn from the 
membership of the Standards Committee  
 
The Sub-Committee will comprise a 
different membership from the Sub-
Committee which originally made the 
decision. 
 

Quorum 
3 Members of the Sub-Committee 
 

Political proportionality 
2 Administration members 
1 Opposition member 

Co-opted Members 
None 

 
1. Constitution 
 
1.1 The Standards (Appeals) Sub-Committee is established by the Standards 

Committee to consider any appeals by Members against the decision of the 
Standards (Complaint) Sub-Committee where the Member is dissatisfied with 
the decision of that Sub-Committee in respect of a complaint against them. 

 
1.2 Meetings will be convened at the request of the Monitoring Officer as required 

during the Municipal Year to enable the Council to discharge its obligations. 
 
2. Deliberations 
 
2.1 The Sub-Committee in considering the appeal will undertake a review of the 

existing evidence, correspondence and witness statements.  It will not recall 
witnesses nor take additional evidence. 

 
2.2 At the end of its deliberations, the sub-committee will either endorse the 

previous decision, or conclude that there is no breach and dismiss the 
complaint.  

 
3. Voting 
 
3.1 All members of the sub-committee have voting rights.  In the event of an 

equality of votes the Chair shall have the casting vote. 
 
4. Chair 
 
4.1 The Chair shall be elected by the Members present. 
  

Page 33



5 Procedures 
 
5.1 Council Standing Orders (as applicable to Committees) shall apply at meetings 

of the sub-committee. In the event of a conflict between these procedures and 
any guidance or law then the latter will prevail. 

 
6. Terms of Reference 
 
6.1 To hear an appeal where a Member is dissatisfied with the decision of the 

Standards (Complaints) Sub-Committee in respect of a complaint against them. 
 

6.2 To endorse the previous decision of the Standards (Complaints) Sub-

Committee, or to conclude that there is no breach and dismiss the complaint. 
 
 
 
  

Page 34



Pension Fund Committee 
Terms of Reference 

 
Members 
5 voting Councillors 
 

Quorum 
3 Members of the Committee 
 

Political proportionality 
4 Administration members 
1 Opposition member 
 

Co-opted Members 
The Committee may co-opt non-voting 
independent members or observers, 
including employee representatives and 
non-administering authority members, as 
appropriate 
 
Chair of the Pension Board - a non-
voting observer 

 
1. Membership 
 
1.1 The Chair will be drawn from one of the Administration Councillors; the Vice-

Chair will be an Opposition Councillor. 
 
1.2 The Committee may co-opt non-voting members, including employee 

representatives and non-administering authority members, as appropriate. 
 
2. Voting 
 
2.1 All Councillors on the Committee shall have voting rights. In the event of an 

equality of votes, the Chair of the Committee shall have a second casting 
vote. Where the Chair is not in attendance, the Vice-Chair will take the casting 
vote. 

 
3. Procedures 
 
3.1 Except as provided herein, Council Standing Orders (as applicable to 

Committees) shall apply at meetings of the Committee. In the event of a 
conflict between these procedures and any guidance or law then the latter will 
prevail. 

 
3.2 Meetings of the Committee shall be held in public, subject to the provisions for 

considering exempt items in accordance with sections 100A-D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
4. Meetings 
 
4.1 The Pension Fund Committee will meet at least four times a year. 
 
4.2 The Chair of the Committee may convene additional meetings as necessary. 
 
4.3 The Chief Executive may ask the Committee to convene further meetings to 

discuss particular issues on which the Committee’s advice is sought. 

Page 35



 
5. Reporting 

 
5.1 The Pension Fund Committee will formally report back in writing to the full 

Council at least annually. 
 
6. Responsibilities 
 
6.1 To exercise on behalf of the Council all of the powers and duties of the 

Council in relation to its functions as Administering Authority of the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund. This includes but is not 
limited to the following matters: 

a) Reviewing and approving the statutory policies of the Fund including the 
Governance Compliance Statement, Funding Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy Statement, Pension Administration Strategy, 
Communications Strategy. 

b) To determine the arrangements for the appointment of the Fund Actuary, 
Investment Consultant and any other Advisor that it may be determined 
appropriate to appoint. 

c) To agree an annual Internal Audit Plan in respect of the Pension Fund 
which will include, at least, an annual assurance review of the Pensions 
Administration service. 

d) To regularly receive and review a comprehensive Risk Register relating to 
the activities of the Pension Fund. 

e) To agree the Business Plan and Annual Budget of the Fund. 

f) To agree the Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements. 

g) To determine, approve and regularly monitor the arrangements relating to 
the provision of all matters relating to Pensions Administration functions 
and the provision of a Pensions Administration Service to the Pension 
Fund. 

h) To receive regular performance monitoring reports, in such form as it 
determines, in respect of the Pensions Administration Service. 

i) To review and approve a Reporting Breaches of the Law procedure for the 
Pension Fund and to regularly receive the Breaches Log. 

j) To make and review an Admission Policy in relating to the admission of 
Employers to the Fund and be responsible for determining the admission 
of Employers to the Fund. 

k) To agree the investment strategy and strategic asset allocation having 
regard to the advice of the Investment Consultant. 

l) To determine the Fund management arrangements, including the 
appointment and termination of the appointment of Fund Managers. 

m) To monitor the performance of the Pension Funds appointed Fund 
Managers. 

n) To determine the relationship of the Pension Fund with the London 

Page 36



Collective Investment Vehicle and to monitor its activity and performance. 

o) To determine the arrangements for the provision of Additional Voluntary 
Contributions for Fund members. 

p) To ensure that the Covenants of Employers are thoroughly assessed as 
required and at least during every Triennial Actuarial Valuation. 

q) To receive, from the Fund Actuary, Actuarial Valuations of the Fund. 

r) To consider and determine a response to any advisory Recommendation 
received from the Pensions Board. 

s) To receive and consider the External Auditors Annual Plan and Annual 
Report on the Pension Fund. 

t) To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes, regulations, government 
guidance and other codes and best practice as applicable to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 

u) To determine such other policies that may be required so as to comply 
with the requirements of Government or bodies acting on behalf of 
Government. 

v) To ensure all members of the Committee undertake appropriate, and 
ongoing, training to fulfil their responsibilities. 

 

Page 37



Appendix 3 – H&F Children’s Services Departmental Register of Authority 
 

NOTE: Changes are highlighted in yellow. 
 

Part 1: Functions Delegated to The Director 
 
The Director for Children’s Service may exercise the following functions. Additionally, the Director may authorise other officers to 
undertake the delegation on their behalf as set out in this register. Where post titles have been amended the authority can be 
exercised by the new equivalent post until the register is amended.  
 
If the Director for Children’s Service is unable to act for any reason, The Director of Education and SEND or the Operational 
Director for Children and Young People’s Service, the Chief Executive or the Chief Executive’s nominated SLT member/s may 
discharge all of the functions set out below. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, in all cases where the exercise of executive functions is not specifically reserved to the Executive, 
those functions are deemed to be delegated to the Chief Executive and the Chief Officer with responsibility for the relevant function. 
 
The Director for Children’s Service may authorise proper officers employed by other local authorities to exercise these functions 
under agreed joint arrangements. 

 
 
 

 
SPECIFIC DECISION AND FUNCTIONS DELEGATED IN CHILD PROTECTION AND CHILD IN NEED INCLUDING 
DISABLED CHILDREN’S TEAM   
 

Decision/Function Authorised Officers 

 
To make arrangements for the provision of services and assistance whether in 
kind or in cash to children in need, their families and others, pursuant to S.17 
of the Act, or direct payment to qualifying persons under S.17A.  
(Children Act 1989) subject to the financial limits 

 
Operational Director, Children and Young 
People Service (CYPS) up to £10,000  
Head of Service up to £5,000 
Team Manager/DTM/PSW up to £500 

P
age 38



  
 

 
To make arrangements for the provision of services and assistance for eligible 
disabled children whether in kind or in cash to children in need, their families 
and others, pursuant to S.17 of the Children Act 1989, or direct payment to 
qualifying persons under S.17A. and in line with statutory duties on the 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 subject to the financial limits 
and Short Breaks Panel process  
 

 
Short Breaks Panel Chairs (The Chairs can be 
Service Manager Short Breaks, Service 
Manager Disabled Children’s Team, Operational 
Director of Education and SEND, Head of 
Disability Services and DSCO, Centre Manager 
Stephen Wiltshire Centre) 
 
Outside of panel up to a £5,000 limit Head of 
Disability Services and DSCO /Service Manager 
Short Breaks/Team Manager Disabled 
Children’s Team/Centre Manager Stephen 
Wiltshire Centre 
 

 
Decisions to provide ongoing accommodation and subsistence for persons 
with no recourse to public funds under S.17  
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Children Looked After and Care 
Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment Contact 
and Assessment 
Head of Service Family Assist  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO 
 

 
Decision to initiate S.47 enquiries 
 

 
Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager Children Looked After 
Team Manager Care Leavers 

P
age 39



Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 
 

 
Decision to take no further action following S.47 enquiries 
 

 
Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager Children Looked After 
Team Manager Care Leavers 
Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 
 
 

 
Decision to convene a Child Protection Conference following S.47 enquiries 
 

 
Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager Children Looked After 
Team Manager Care Leavers 
Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 
 
 

 
Decision to terminate a Child Protection Plan 
 

 
Multi-agency decision ratified by Child Protection 
Chair/Advisor 
 

 
Decision to transfer case responsibility for a child/young person from one local 
authority to another 
 

 
Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager Children Looked After 
Team Manager Care Leavers 
Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 
 

P
age 40



 
 SPECIFIC DECISION AND FUNCTIONS DELEGATED IN INITIATING LEGAL PROCEEDINGS INCLUDING DISABLED 
CHILDREN’S TEAM  
 

Decision/Function Officer Responsible 

 
Authorise the institution of legal proceedings for Emergency Protection Order, 
Interim Care Order, Interim Supervision Order under the Children Act 1989 
and associated legislation and provide continuing instructions in the 
proceedings, unless such authorisation is specifically reserved to a more 
senior officer. 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Children Looked After and Care 
Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
 
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Authorise the institution of proceedings to apply for a secure accommodation 
order under Section 25 of the Act and extension of such orders  

 
Operational Director CYPS 
 

 
Authority to decide on a placement in Secure Accommodation without an 
Order for up to 72 hours 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
 

 
Authority to apply for a Placement Order  
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding  

 
Decisions to approve payment of the legal expenses of applicants for a Child 
Arrangement Order or other Section 8 Orders in respect of children in care to 
the extent that they are not met by Legal Aid 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Care Leavers and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO (subject 
to funding approval rates) 

P
age 41



 

 
Endorsing the Care Plan for the final hearing 
 

Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Care Leavers and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Decision to apply for discharge or variation of a Care Order or Supervision 
Order (including extension of a Supervision Order) 
 
 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Care Leavers and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
SPECIFIC DECISION AND FUNCTIONS DELEGATED IN CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER INCLUDING CONTACT AND 
ASSESSMENTS HELD IN THE DISABLED CHILDREN’S TEAM 
 

Decision/Function Officer Responsible 

 
Decision to accommodate a child 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
AD performance & Improvement 
Operational Director, Education and SEND and 
delegated authority through children’s resource 
panel 

 
Authorise placements of Looked After children with “in-house” providers/foster 
carers 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Operational Director, Education and SEND and 
delegated authority through children’s resource 
panel 
 
 

 
Authorise placements of Looked After children with external providers of  

 Operational Director CYPS 
Operational Director, Education and SEND and 

P
age 42



residential care or foster carers from an independent fostering agency  
 

delegated authority through children’s resource 
panel 
 

Authorise placements of Looked After children with external providers of  
residential special schools for disabled children held in the Disabled Children’s 
Team.  
 

Operational Director, Education and SEND 

 
Decision to place a child who is the subject of a Care Order or Interim Care  
Order with parents or persons with Parental Responsibility  
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 

 
Agreement to a young person remanded to local authority care being placed 
at home or with friends  
 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS   

 
Notification to discharge from care a child/young person aged 16 or 17 who 
has been accommodated under Section 20  

 
Operational Director CYPS 

Temporary approval of Family and Friends under Reg 24 (Connected FC)  
 

Operational Director CYPS and delegated 
authority through children's resource panel  

 
Permission to go abroad (for a child subject of a Care Order, s33 (8) Children 
Act 1989 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS   

 
Consent to termination of pregnancy for children in care subject to 
consideration of whether the child can give consent, ensuring that the LA has 
parental responsibility for the child and that it is reasonable for the LA to give 
consent, without making an application to the High Court  
 

 
Operational Director CYPS  

  

P
age 43



Change of Name of a Looked After Child 
 

Operational Director CYPS  

 
Permission for a child subject of a Care Order to marry  
 

 
Operational Director CYPS   

 
Decision to apply for a Recovery Order, s50 Children Act 1989, for a child who 
is in care, the subject of an EPO or in Police protection.  
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Care Leavers and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment 
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Authority to apply for a Deprivation of Liberty Order  
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of Care Leavers and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Decision to refuse parental contact with a child subject to a Care Order for up 
to seven days in an emergency when it is necessary to do so in order to 
safeguard or promote the child’s welfare. s34 (6) Children Act 1989. The Head 
of Service must set a date to review the decision and seek legal advice as to 
whether to return to Court for an order under s34 (4) of the Children Act 1989 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment 
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Decision to apply for an Order authorising the Authority to refuse contact s34 
(4) Children Act 1989 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

  

P
age 44



Medical consent for a child subject of Care Order: Routine medical treatment 
 

Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager Children Looked After and Care 
Leavers 
Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 

 
Emergency medical treatment which may or may not involve general 
anaesthetic 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Planned medical treatment involving surgery and general anaesthetic Parental 
involvement should always be considered and only excluded if not in the 
child’s best interests 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Operational Director, Education and SEND 

 
Change in school without a change of placement 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
Head of Disability Services and DSCO  

 
Notification to Ofsted following the death of a child looked after/ serious harm 
to a child in a Children’s Home/ Foster Care. Schedule 2 para 20 Children Act 
1989. Notification to Secretary of State and all with PR  
 

 
Operational Director CYPS  

 
CYPS – SPECIFIC DECISION AND FUNCTIONS DELEGATED IN FOSTERING/ADOPTION/PERMANENCE 

P
age 45



 

Decision/Function Authorised Officers 

 
Authorise Fostering for Adoption 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 

 
Approval (and de-registration) of adopters 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding upon ALW Panel’s 
recommendation   

 
Approval (and de-registration) of foster carers 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding upon ALW Panel’s 
recommendation   

 
Decision to present adoptive parent application to Adoption and Fostering 
Panel 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 

 
Clearance of adoption/permanency applications where offences are identified 
on DBS checks 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
 

 
Decision that adoption is in the best interest of the child 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding 

 
Authorise any exemptions from the usual fostering limit for foster carers living 

 
Operational Director CYPS 

P
age 46



in the local authority area 
 

Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding 

 
Approval of Foster Carer Reviews (Year 1 and where circumstances have 
changed, and approval varied) 
 

 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding 

 
Approval of Foster Carer Reviews (cases which are not required to be 
presented to Fostering Panel) 
 

 
Fostering IRO 
Operational Director CYPS 
Head of Service Performance & Improvement 
Head of Safeguarding 

 
Decision to present foster carer application to Fostering Panel 
 

 
Team Manager Contact and Assessment 
Team Manager Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Team Manager LAC 
Team Manager Disabled Children’s Team 

 
Clearance of foster carer applications where offences are identified on DBS 
checks 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
 

 
Authorise Special Guardianship as the permanence plan for a Looked After 
child 
 

 
Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
 

  

P
age 47



Authorise the level of special guardianship support to be provided, including 
financial support to special guardians 
 

Head of Service Family Support and Child 
Protection 
Head of LAC and Care Leavers 
Head of Service Contact & Assessment  
Head of Service Family Assist  
 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES INCUDING COMMISSIONING, EDUCATION AND 
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS & DISABILITIES  
 
 

Authorised Officers  
 

a) Capital expenditure 

 Approval of planned and reactive spend for schools within the school 
capital programme on the Council’s contract framework 

 

 Urgent reactive works that have H&S or business continuity 
implications within the reactive maintenance budget approved 

 
b) Urgent reactive works that have H&S or business continuity 

implications within the reactive maintenance budget approved 
 

 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 
Operational Director CYPS 
AD Commissioning  
AD Performance & Improvement up to £100,000 
 
Head of Assets and Resources up to £70,000 
 
Service Manager Education Assets up to 
£50,000 
 
 

 
Authority to award contracts up to the EU threshold in compliance with the 
Contract Standing Orders 
 

 
Operational Director of Education and SEND 
Operational Director CYPS 
AD Commissioning  
AD Performance & Improvement following the 
Commissioning & Transformation Board 
 

Revenue expenditure within available budget subject to decision paper with 
approved financial and legal implications.  Up to the EU threshold 
 

Operational Director of Education and SEND 
Operational Director CYPS 
AD Commissioning  
AD Performance & Improvement 

P
age 48



EHCPs - AUTHORISATION TO FINALISE EDUCATION, HEALTH AND CARE PLAN (EHCPs) and SPECIFY RESOURCES in 
Section F, Part 3 – Children and Families Act 2014  
Sections 36, 39, 40, 42 and 63 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and Regulations 13 and 14 of the Special Education Needs and Disabilities 
Regulations 2014 

 

Decision/ Function  Authorised Officers  

In line with EHCP Panel process 
Finalise and sign EHC Plans and Top-up ages 0-25 
Change of mainstream placement EHCP Top-up ages 0-25 
Change of placement specified in Section I of EHC Plans from mainstream 
settings to special or additionally resourced provision ages 0-25   
Commission Home Tuition Service ages 0-25 

Operational Director of Education and SEND  
Strategic Head of SEND  
EHC Casework Service Manager   
EHC Casework Team Leader  
Performance, Data and Quality Improvement 
Manager 
Head of Disability Services and DCSO 
Service Manager Disabled Children’s Team 
 

Expenditure in relation to Education, Health, and Care Plans outside of top-up 
and place funding.  

Operational Director of Education and SEND 
over £50,000. 
 
Strategic Head of SEND, up to £50,000. 
 
Service Manager EHC Casework, up to £15,000. 
 

EDUCATION 

The purchase of SEND Support equipment  Operational Director of Education and SEND up 
to £100,000 
 
Strategic Head of SEND, up to £50,000 
 
Head of SEND Support and Early Years up to 
£15,000 
 

Authorise SENIF/Inclusion Funding (Special Educational Needs Inclusion Operational Director of Education & SEND up to 

P
age 49



Fund) Funding for Early Years providers, SEN Inclusion and Contingency 
funding to mainstream, maintained and academy schools in all phases 
 
Education and Skills Funding Agency: Operational Guide Early Years 
Entitlements: Local Authority funding of providers 
 
Children’s and Families Act 2014 

£100,000 

Strategic Head of SEND up to £50,000 
HOS Early Years SEN Support /Panel Chair up 
to £15,000 per decision. 
 
Strategic Head of SEND, up to £50,000 
 
 
EHCP Panel Chair or SEND Support Panel 
Chair up to £15,000 per decision 

 Service Manager EHC Casework  

 Team Leader EHC Casework  

 Head of SEND Support and Early Years 
 
 

To assist the department with coordinating all aspects of the Children 
Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006, including:  

 Appoint Investigating Officers, Review Panel lists and Independent 
Persons.  

 Appoint independent mediators to support the resolution of resident 
concerns   

 

AD Performance and Improvement  

Customer Care and Data Protection Manager  

 

P
age 50



To institute proceedings on behalf of the Authority against the parent of a child 
of compulsory school age in respect of the failure of such child to attend 
regularly at the school at which he/she is a registered pupil, where the 
following circumstances obtain: 
 
(a)  where there has been a continuing pattern of failure by the child to attend 
the school regularly otherwise than by reason of absence with leave or for the 
reasons set out in sub-section (3)(a) and (b)(c) or 4 of the said Section 444 
and such pattern of failure extends over a period of not less than one month 
and; 
 
(b)  where there is evidence of a lack of co-operation in the matter of school 
attendance by the parent of the child or by both the parent and the child and; 
(c) where one written warning has been given on behalf of the local authority 
that proceedings may be instituted, provided that no proceedings shall be 
instituted until after the expiry of ten days from the date of the written warning. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 
Head of Assets and Resources  
Head of Attendance, Child Employment 
(ACE) & Admissions  
 

To serve school attendance orders on the parents of any children failing to 
perform their duty to secure the education of their children and to institute 
proceedings against any parent who fails to comply with the requirements of 
such an order. 
 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 
Head of Assets and Resources  
Head of ACE & Admissions 

Provided the health of the child will not suffer, to grant licences to children 
resident in the Borough who are taking part in public entertainment. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND  
Head of Assets and Resources  
Head of ACE & Admissions 

To recommend institution of proceedings where such action is warranted, and 
the AD of Legal Services advises that there is sufficient evidence to do so. 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 

To issue licences in respect of the employment of children. Operational Director of Education & SEND 
Head of Assets and Resources  
Head of ACE & Admissions 
 

P
age 51



To institute proceedings under any employment of children byelaws. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 
Head of Assets and Resources  
Head of ACE & Admissions 
 

In schools without delegated budgets, to decide on the suspension of a 
schoolteacher and whether the circumstances warranted suspension with or 
without pay. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 

To appoint or dismiss the clerks of governing bodies of county schools without 
delegated budgets. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 

To authorise the implementation of the pay discretions for schoolteachers in 
accordance with the local authority’s schoolteachers Pay Policy. 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 

To hire and dismiss headteachers across Local Authority maintained schools 
 

Operational Director of Education & SEND 

 

 
  

P
age 52



Part 2: Functions delegated to the Director in consultation / conjunction with other officers 
 
The Director of Children’s Services may authorise proper officers employed by other local authorities to exercise these functions on 
their behalf under agreed joint arrangements. 
 

Legislation Function In consultation / conjunction with 

Non-statutory To enter into any arrangements with the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea, the City of Westminster and other 
agencies on any outstanding general financial issues that relate to 
the former responsibilities of the London Residuary Body. 

Chief Executive 

Non-statutory To enter into any arrangements with the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea, Westminster City Council or other 
agencies on any outstanding general non-financial issues relating 
to any former responsibilities from the London Residuary Body. 
Any such arrangements will be reported to the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services for information. 

Other relevant Directors 

Non-statutory To respond to outside bodies including Central Government 
Departments on matters of a professional or operational nature, 
within the department’s remit and within established Council policy. 

Other relevant Directors 

Non-statutory To respond to Government Circulars and new aspects of current 
legislation which fall within the portfolios of the Cabinet member for 
Children’s Services where the Council has already established its 
overall policy framework. Details of the response are to be sent to 
the relevant opposition representatives. 

Other relevant Directors and the 
appropriate Cabinet Member 

Non-statutory To undertake consultation and liaison relating to the nature of the 
service in the authority and to proposed changes in any policy. 

The appropriate Cabinet Member and 
Deputy Leader 

Non-statutory To authorise the publication and dissemination of information and 
publicity relating to the Children’s Services in the authority, in 
accordance with the Strategic Plan and any other Policy agreed by 
the Council. 

The corporate Communications team 
and with the Cabinet Member for 
publications listed in the corporate 
communications protocol. 

1996 Education Act 
and Regulations 

To authorise school licensed deficit applications. Director of Finance 

P
age 53



made thereunder 

1997 Education Act 
and Regulations 
made thereunder 

To respond to appeals made by parents to the Special Educational 
Needs Tribunal. 

AD Legal Services 

1998 Education Act 
and Regulations 
made thereunder 

To determine the resourcing of educational establishments and the 
creation of posts and staffing complements in educational 
establishments which do not have delegated budgets within the 
approved budget and policies of the service. 

Head of Finance  

1999 Education Act 
and Regulations 
made thereunder 

To approve requests for the change of use of grants by voluntary 
organisations up to 10% of the total grant or a maximum sum of 
£5,000, whichever is the lesser. 

Chief Executive 

2000 Education Act 
and Regulations 
made thereunder 

To authorise supplementary payments of grant-aid to voluntary 
organisations in relation to an unforeseen increase in costs which 
have already been approved as part of a grant (e.g. salaries, rent), 
subject to money being identified within an existing budget. 

Chief Executive 

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 

Section 40 - To institute legal proceedings against an individual 
who is unlawfully present on education premises and who is 
causing or permitting a nuisance or disturbance on said property. 

AD Legal Services 

Children Act 1989 Section 36 - To apply to the Family Proceedings Court for an 
Education Supervision Order. 

AD Legal Services 

Children Act 1989 Schedule 3, Part 111 - To exercise the powers of the LEA in 
respect of Education Supervision Orders and to institute 
proceedings in the Magistrates' Court if the parent fails to comply 
with the directions of the Order. 

AD Legal Services 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To authorise officers to appear on behalf of the Authority in 
proceedings being conducted in the Magistrates Court. 

AD Legal Services 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To sign all legal and quasi-legal agreements between the Council 
and outside parties. 

AD Legal Services 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To enter into contracts for the provision of services to outside 
bodies, including Governing Bodies. 

AD Legal Services 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To approve the letting of premises held by the Children’s Services 
Department for periods not exceeding two years, provided that 

Director of Children’s Services and 
Strategic Director for Economy 

P
age 54



such lettings do not create security of tenure. 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To appoint to School Governing Bodies in situations where a 
vacancy needs to be filled in less than three weeks. 

Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To agree appointments to the Standing Advisory Council for 
Religious Education. 

Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To set levels of fees and charges for services up to £10,000 per 
annum within approved estimates. 

Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To authorise funding for placements of children in Out of Borough 
special boarding schools. 

Chief Executive 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To agree affiliation to appropriate educational establishments. Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To agree minor changes to the names of existing schools. Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

Local Government Act 
1972 

To establish temporary school Governing bodies. Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 

 
 
 

P
age 55



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Appointment by the Leader of the Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
 
Report of: The Leader of the Council – Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 
Responsible Director: Sharon Lea, Chief Executive 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report asks Council to note: 

 The composition and appointments made by the Leader to the Executive 
(commonly referred to as Cabinet). 

 The appointment of Lead Members. 
 
The proposed Executive consists of a Leader, elected by the Council, a Deputy 
Leader and eight Cabinet Members appointed by the Leader. 
 
The Executive has a duty to carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are 
not the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under 
the constitution. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That the Council notes the appointments made by the Leader to the 
Executive, as set out below: 

 
Deputy Leader (with responsibility for 
Health and Adult Social Care) 

Ben Coleman 

Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 

Rebecca Harvey 

Cabinet Member for Civic Renewal Bora Kwon 

Cabinet Member for Children and Education Alex Sanderson 

Cabinet Member for Climate Change and 
Ecology 

Wesley Harcourt 

Cabinet Member for The Economy Andrew Jones 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Homelessness 

Frances Umeh 

Page 56

Agenda Item 6.3



Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform Rowan Ree 

Cabinet Member for Public Realm Sharon Holder 

 
2. That the Council notes the appointment of the following Lead Members: 

 
President – H&F Enterprise Board Zarar Qayyum 

Lead Member for European Co-operation 
and Digital Innovation 

Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 

Lead Member for Culture and Heritage Mercy Umeh 

Lead Member for Community Mental 
Health 

Lucy Richardson 

Lead Member for Support for Older 
People 

Asif Siddique 

Lead Member for Inclusive Community 
Engagement and Co-production 

Sharon Holder 

Lead Member for Asylum Seekers, 
Refugees, and Migrants 

Trey Campbell-Simon 

Lead Member for Women and Girls Emma Apthorp 

Lead Member for Flood Mitigation Helen Rowbottom 

Lead Member for Energy Crisis Support Liz Collins 

Lead Member for Wellbeing and Early 
Access to Support 

Laura Janes 

Lead Member for Land Development Stala Antoniades 

Borough Representative for the Armed 
Forces Community 

Patrick Walsh  

 

 
Wards Affected:     All  
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Values 

Taking pride in H&F Ensuring a high standard of governance across the 
Council. 

 

Financial Impact  
 
The recommendations in this report have no direct financial implications. A separate 
report sets out the financial implications of Members Allowances.   
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance, Corporate Services, 13/05/2024 
 

Page 57



Verified by Andre Mark, Head of Finance –Strategic Planning and Investment, 
13/05/2024 
 

Legal Implications 
 
The Leader of the Council is responsible for the appointment of the Executive. 
 
Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services, 13/05/2024 
 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
H&F Council’s constitution: www.lbhf.gov.uk/constitution  
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 

None. 

 

Page 58

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/constitution


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Allocation of Seats and Proportionality on Committees 
 
Report of: The Leader of the Council - Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 
Responsible Director: Nicola Ellis – Strategic Director, Chief Operating Officer, 

Corporate Services 
 

 
SUMMARY 

 
The Council is required to confirm the proportional division of seats on the standing 
committees. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That the allocation of seats set out in Appendix 1 be noted. 
 

 
Wards Affected:     All  
 

 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Values 

Taking pride in H&F Ensuring a high standard of governance across the 
Council. 
 

 
Financial Impact  
 
There are no direct financial implications from this decision. 

 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance - Corporate Services, 13/05/2024 
 
Verified by Andre Mark, Head of Finance –Strategic Planning and Investment, 
13/05/2024 
 
Legal Implications 

 
The legal implications are set out in the body of the report. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6.4



 
Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services, 13/05/2024 
 

 

Background papers used in preparing this report 
None. 
 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
Allocation of Seats 
 
1. Political Groups on the Council are formed in accordance with the Local 

Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 when two 
or more councillors notify the Chief Executive, as Proper Officer, of their wish 
to be treated as a group. 

 
2. Section 15 (1) (b) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (“the 1989 

Act”) imposes a duty on the local authority to review the allocation of seats on 
the committees of the Council between the political groups at its annual 
meeting or as soon as possible thereafter. The Council may carry out such a 
review at any other time and may do so if requested by a political group. 

 
3. In accordance with the 1989 Act the following principles apply to the allocation 

of seats: 
 

(a) That not all the seats on the body to which appointments are being made 
are allocated to the same political group; 
 
(b) That the majority of seats on each committee are allocated to a particular 
group if the number of persons belonging to that group is a majority of the 
authority’s membership; 
 
(c) That, subject to (a) and (b), when allocating seats to a political group, the 
total number of their seats across all the ordinary committees of the Council, 
must reflect their proportion of the authority’s membership; and  
 
(d) Subject to (a) to (c), that the number of seats on each committee is as far 
as possible in proportion to the group’s membership of the authority. 

 
4. Sub-committees, with the exception of the Licensing Sub-Committee, are also 

governed by the political balance rules, but it is not necessary to add up all the 
sub-committee seats and then allocate them in proportion. As far as this is 
practicable, the allocation of seats on each sub-committee should reflect the 
proportional representation of the political groups on the Council. 

 
5. The 1989 Act requires that, once the Council has determined the allocation of 

committee places between the political groups, the Council must then appoint 
the nominees of the political groups to the committees.  

 

Page 60



6. The Cabinet, Health and Wellbeing Board and the Licensing Committee are 
not required to be proportional and so are outside of the political balance 
calculation. 

 
7. It is open to the Council when carrying out a review to adopt some 

arrangement other than that prescribed by the Act and the Regulations. Notice 
of such a proposal would have to be given in the Summons, and a decision 
would need to be made with no one voting against it. The remainder of this 
report therefore assumes that the Council will not want an alternative 
arrangement to that prescribed by law. 

 
Political proportionality 
 
8. The political balance of the Council can be calculated by using the simple 

formula below (to two decimal places): 
 

No. of Group Members x 100 / 50 
 

9. Following Councillor Morton becoming an Independent Member on 18th July 
2023, the political balance of the Council is set out in Table 1 below: 

 

 No of seats on the Council Proportionality 

Labour  39 78% 

Conservative 10 20% 

Independent  1 2% 

Total 50 100% 

 
PROPOSAL AND ISSUES 

10. The Labour and Conservative Groups hold respectively, 39 and 10 of the 50 
Council seats. While there is one Independent Member. The proportion by 
which seats on Committees should be allocated is 78% Majority Group, 20% 
Minority Group and 2% Independent member. This equates, on the basis of 84 
committee seats to: 66 Majority Party, 17 Minority Party and 1 Independent 
seats. 

11. Membership of the Council’s Standing Committees (except the Licensing 
Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board) and Sub-Committees is 
governed by the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990, as amended, which provides for Members of Standing 
Committees and Sub-Committees to be those whose names have been 
notified to the Chief Executive, who is the duly appointed proper officer for 
these purposes. The Chief Executive has the power to appoint to all Standing 
Committees (except the Licensing Committees) and Sub-Committees in 
accordance with any notification received under the Regulations. 

 
12. Both political groups on the Council have to notify the Chief Executive of the 

names of the Members to serve on the Standing Committees, Sub-
Committees and subsidiary bodies. 

 

Page 61



REASONS FOR DECISION 

13. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires local authorities, 
where Members are divided into political groups, to review periodically the 
representation of the political groups on their Committees and Sub-
Committees to ensure a political balance. 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 - Allocation of Seats 
 
 

Page 62



Allocation of Seats and Proportionality 
 
Seats are allocated with the following calculation: 
 

𝑐𝑜𝑢𝑛𝑐𝑖𝑙𝑙𝑜𝑟𝑠 𝑖𝑛 𝑝𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑔𝑟𝑜𝑢𝑝 ÷ 𝑡𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑛𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑐𝑜𝑢𝑛𝑐𝑖𝑙𝑙𝑜𝑟𝑠 × 𝑠𝑒𝑎𝑡𝑠 𝑜𝑛 𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑚𝑖𝑡𝑡𝑒𝑒
= 𝑎𝑙𝑙𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛 𝑜𝑓 𝑠𝑒𝑎𝑡𝑠 (𝑟𝑜𝑢𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑑 𝑡𝑜 𝑛𝑒𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑡 𝑤ℎ𝑜𝑙𝑒 𝑛𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟) 

 
Administration councillors (Labour): 39 
Opposition councillors (Conservative): 10 
Independent councillor: 1 
Total number of councillors: 50 
 

Committees Total 
seats 

Administration’s 
allocation 

Opposition’s 
allocation 

Independent 
allocation 

Planning and Development 
Control Committee 

8 6 2 0 

Policy and Oversight Board 8 7 1 0 

Appointments Panel (A) 5 4 1 0 

Appointments Panel (B) 5 4 1 0 

Appointments Panel (C) 5 4 1 0 

Appointments Panel (D) 3 2 1 0 

Audit Committee 5 3 1 1 

Pension Fund Committee 5 4 1 0 

Standards Committee 6 5 1 0 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

5 4 1 0 

Health and Adult Social Care 
Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

5 4 1 0 

Social Inclusion and Community 
Safety Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

5 4 1 0 

Climate Change and Ecology 
Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

5 4 1 0 

The Economy, Arts, Sports and 
Public Realm Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

5 4 1 0 

Housing and Homelessness 
Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

5 4 1 0 

Wormwood Scrubs Charitable 
Trust 

3 2 1 0 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

1 1 0 0 

 

Sub-Committees Total 
seats 

Administration’s 
allocation 

Opposition’s 
allocation 

Independent 
allocation 

Licensing Sub-Committee 3 2 1 0 

 

Page 63



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Party Appointments for the 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 
Report of: The Leader of the Council – Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Report author: Kayode Adewumi – Assistant Director, Democratic, Registration 

and Coroner’s Services 
 
Responsible Director: Sharon Lea, Chief Executive 
 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 

The Council is asked to appoint Members to the Regulatory, Policy and 
Accountability, and other Committees, set out in Appendix 1, to discharge the 
responsibilities for council functions as outlined in the constitution. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That the Council agrees the appointments of Chairs and Memberships of 
Regulatory, Policy and Accountability and other Committees under its 
Constitution for the Municipal Year 2024/25, as set out in Appendix 1. 

 
2. This Council also notes their respective portfolios and terms of reference, as 

set out in the constitution. 

 

 
Background papers used in preparing this report 
None. 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Committee Memberships 2024/25 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 64

Agenda Item 6.5

../../04/01.htm


Appendix 1 

Committee Memberships 2024/25 
 
1. Planning and Development Control Committee (6:2) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Omid Miri (Chair) Alex Karmel 

Florian Chevoppe-Verdier (Vice-Chair) Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 

Nicole Trehy  

Ross Melton  

Nikos Souslous  

Patrick Walsh  

 
2. Licensing Committee (9:3) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Mercy Umeh (Chair) Jose Alfonso 

Paul Alexander Aliya Afzal-Khan 

Asif Siddique Dominic Stanton  

Zarar Qayyum  

Genevieve Nwaogbe  

Bora Kwon  

Wesley Harcourt  

Florian Chevoppe-Verdier  

Patrick Walsh  

 
2a. Licensing Sub-Committee (2:1) 
 
 Members are drawn from the membership of the Licensing Committee. 
 
3. Appointments Panels 

The membership requirements for the appointments panels are detailed in Part 
3 of the Constitution. 

 
4. Audit Committee (3:1:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillor 

Patrick Walsh (Chair) Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 

Florian Chevoppe-Verdier Independent Councillor 

Lisa Homan David Morton 

 
  

Page 65



Appendix 1 

5. Pension Fund Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Ross Melton (Chair) Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 

Adam Peter Lang  

Laura Janes  

Florian Chevoppe-Verdier  

 
Non-voting Co-opted members: Michael Adam and Peter Parkin 
Observer: Councillor Ashok Patel 
 

6. Standards Committee (5:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Rebecca Harvey Alex Karmel 

Helen Rowbottom  

Rowan Ree  

Rory Vaughan  

Nikos Souslous  

 
Independent Persons: His Honour John Rylance, Dr Tom Babbedge and Ms 
Dilina Ostborn 

 
7. Pensions Board 

 

Administration Councillors 

Ashok Patel (Chair) 

Nikos Souslous 

 
8. Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Administration Councillors 

Ben Coleman, Deputy Leader (Chair) 

Natalia Perez, Chair of Health and Adult Social Care PAC (Deputy) 

Alex Sanderson, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 

Helen Rowbottom, Chair of Children and Education PAC (Deputy) 

 
9. Wormwood Scrubs Charitable Trust Committee (2:1) 

 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Alex Sanderson (Chair)  Dominic Stanton 

Bora Kwon  

 

  

Page 66



Appendix 1 

Policy and Accountability Committee Memberships 
 
1. Policy and Oversight Board (7:1) 

 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Lisa Homan (Chair) Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 

Helen Rowbottom  

Nikos Souslous  

Rory Vaughan  

Nicole Trehy  

Natalia Perez  

Jacolyn Daly  

 
2. Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Helen Rowbottom (Chair) Aliya Afzal-Khan 

Daryl Brown  

Mercy Umeh  

Trey Campbell-Simon  

 
3. Social Inclusion and Community Safety Policy and Accountability 

Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Nikos Souslous (Chair) Andrew Dinsmore 

Omid Miri  

Lucy Richardson  

Sally Taylor  

 
4. The Economy, Arts, Sports & Public Realm Policy and Accountability 

Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Rory Vaughan (Chair) Jackie Borland 

Liz Collins  

Adam Lang  

Ashok Patel  

 
5. Climate Change & Ecology Policy and Accountability Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Nicole Trehy (Chair) Jose Alfonso 

Ross Melton  

Page 67



Appendix 1 

Laura Janes  

Stala Antoniades  

 
6. Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee (4:1) 

 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Natalia Perez (Chair) Amanda Lloyd-Harris 

Genevieve Nwaogbe  

Emma Apthorp  

Ann Rosenberg  

 
 

7. Housing and Homelessness Policy and Accountability Committee (4:1) 
 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Jacolyn Daly (Chair) Adronie Alford 

Asif Siddique   

Sally Taylor  

Omid Miri  

 
 

Joint Committees 
 

8. North West London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Administration Councillors 

Natalia Perez (voting member) 

Nikos Souslous (substitute member) 

 
 

Advisory Bodies 
 
Note: Advisory bodies have no legal decision-making powers. 
 
9. Corporate Parenting Board 

 

Administration Councillors Opposition Councillors 

Alex Sanderson (Chair) Aliya Afzal-Khan 

Helen Rowbottom  

Rebecca Harvey  

 

Page 68



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Council Appointments to Local Government Organisations and Outside 

Bodies 
 
Report of: Councillor Stephen Cowan – The Leader of the Council  
 
Report author: Kayode Adewumi – Assistant Director, Democratic, Registration 

and Coroner’s Services 
 
Responsible Director: Nicola Ellis - Strategic Director, Chief Operating Officer, 

Corporate Services 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report asks the Council to appoint representatives to Local Government 
Organisations and other Outside Bodies. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That the Council’s appointments to Local Government Organisations for 
2024/25, as set out in Appendix 1, be agreed. 

2. That the Council’s appointments to Outside Bodies for 2024/25, as set out in 
Appendix 2, be agreed. 

 

 
Wards Affected:     All 
  

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Values 

Doing things with residents 
and not to them 

The nomination of Councillors and community 
representative to outside bodies will ensure a better 
outcome for our residents. 
 

 

Financial Impact  
 
There are no direct financial implications.  
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance – Corporate Services, 13/05/2024 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6.6



Verified by Andre Mark, Head of Finance –Strategic Planning and Investment, 
13/05/2024 
 

Legal Implications 

Full Council has the authority to appoint representatives to Outside Bodies. 
 
Grant Deg, Director for Legal Services, 13/05/2024 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 

1. Every year, the Council is approached by the Local Government Association, 
the London Councils and other key local government bodies to nominate 
representatives to their committees or boards. These representatives work on 
committees which lobby the Government and develop policy which affects local 
authorities.  

 

2. The Council is also approached by local community organisations and charities 
to nominate people to their management boards or as trustees or directors. The 
Council acknowledges the significant contribution that these organisations 
make to the social fabric of our borough. Therefore, Councillors and residents 
who are actively involved in the local community and are willing to bring their 
wealth of experience to these organisations are appointed.  

 
3. The Council is requested to make the appointments to Local Government 

Organisations for 2024/25, as set out in Appendix 1, and to Outside Bodies, as 
set out in Appendix 2 of the report.  Any midyear appointments to or removal 
from appropriate outside bodies, charitable organisations and Council-owned 
companies and subsidiaries will be undertaken by the Leader and ratified at the 
next council meeting. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION  

4. The Council is asked annually to nominate Members to various Local 
Government Organisations in order to participate in discussions and contribute 
to policy development on issues affecting local government in general and 
Hammersmith and Fulham residents in particular. The appointments to the 
various outside bodies by the Council are in fulfilment of its commitment to 
support the third sector in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 
CONSULTATION 

5. Local representatives have been consulted on their nominations. 
 
 

Page 70



EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

6. There are no direct equality implications for groups with protected 
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. However, the Council’s 
nominations to third sector and other users’ groups will aim to ensure that the 
Council improves all aspects of how it works to tackle social exclusion. 

 
 
List of Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Nominations to Local Government Organisations 2024-25 
Appendix 2 – Appointments to Outside Bodies 2024-24 

Page 71



Nominations to Local Government Organisations 
 

Organisation  Nominations  Term  

London Councils Leader’s 
Committee  
1 Representative and 2 
Deputies  
(1 vote per authority)  
  

Representative:  
Councillor Stephen Cowan  
  
Deputies:  
Councillor Ben Coleman  
Councillor Bora Kwon  
  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

London Councils Transport 
and Environment Committee  
1 Representative and up to 4 
Deputies  
  

Representative:  
Councillor Sharon Holder  
  
Deputy:  
Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

London Councils Grants 
Committee   
1 Representative and up to 2 
Deputies  

Representative:  
Councillor Rebecca Harvey  
  
Deputy:  
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson  
  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

Greater London Employment 
Forum  
(GLEF)  
1 Representative and 1 Deputy  
  

Nomination:  
Councillor Zarar Qayyum  
  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

Greater London Provincial 
Council (GLPC)  
Appointment will be made from 
Leader’s Cttee and GLEF 
nominated members  
  

Nomination:  
Councillor Andrew Jones  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

Local Government Association 
(LGA) General Assembly  
Up to 4 Representatives and 4 
votes  

Representatives:  
Councillor Stephen Cowan*  
Councillor Ben Coleman  
Councillor Rowan Ree  
Councillor Bora Kwon  
*currently holds the 4 votes  
  

1 year to 
22/05/25 

London Heliport Consultative 
Committee 
 

Councillor Paul Alexander 1 year to 
22/05/25 

London CIV Shareholder 
Representative 
 

Councillor Ross Melton (as Chair of 
Pension Fund Committee) 
 

1 year to 
22/05/25 

Capital Letters Borough 
Representative 
 

Councillor Frances Umeh (as Cabinet 
Member for Housing and 
Homelessness) 
 

1 year to 
22/05/25 

 

Page 72



Appendix 2 

Appointments to Outside Bodies – May 2024 
 
This list only shows the appointments that expire this year. 
 

Outside Body Appointee Expiry 
Date 

Length Description 

Earls Court and 
Olympia Charitable 
Trust 

Councillor Adam Peter 
Lang (L)  

22/05/26 2 years  Committed to supporting the local community with an 
annual award of £25,000 for distribution across the 
borough. to benefit young people with an emphasis on 
education, health and personal development (which 
includes the arts and sports). 

Volunteer Centre Councillor Zarar Qayyum 
(L) 

22/05/25 1 year  Its objectives are to support volunteering in West 
London and to help unemployed people in their 
search. 

Lyric Theatre Councillor Bora Kwon (L) 22/05/25 1 year The Lyric Theatre Ltd describes its aim to be ‘to 
produce and present a high quality, accessible 
programme of contemporary theatre for audiences of 
all ages and backgrounds from West London and 
beyond”.  They also devise and deliver high quality 
creative learning activities for young people so that 
they can participate in the arts and develop their 
personal, social, educational and creative potential. 

Lyric Theatre Councillor Nicole Trehy (L) 22/05/25 1 year See above 

Lyric Theatre Councillor Emma Apthorp 
(L) 

22/05/25 1 year See above 

P
age 73



Lyric Theatre Councillor Nikos Souslous 
(L) 

22/05/25 1 year See above 

West London 
Economic Prosperity 
Board  

Councillor Stephen Cowan  
 
Substitute: 
Councillor Ben Coleman  

22/05/25 1 year  Board of West London Alliance councils focussed on 
economic development strategy. 

Sands End Arts & 
Community Centre 
(Trustee) 

Councillor Ben Coleman 
(L) 

22/05/25 1 year The SEACC Trust, a registered charity, comprises 
trustees who are nearly all local to Fulham and 
between them offer a wide range of skills and 
backgrounds to help run the Sands End Arts & 
Community Centre for the benefit of the local 
community and promote social cohesion. 

Alternative Theatre 
Limited (Bush Theatre) 

Cllr Mercy Umeh (L) 22/05/26 2 years Landlord Trustee. To provide a platform for unheard 
voices from diverse communities and to develop the 
artists and audiences of the future.  

 

P
age 74



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Full Council  
 

Date:  22/05/2024 
 

Subject: Adoption of a New Member’s Code of Conduct 
 

Report author: Kayode Adewumi, Assistant Director – Democratic, Registration 
and Coroner’s Services  

 

Responsible Director: Grant Deg, Director for Legal Services and Monitoring 
Officer 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to request Full Council to adopt the LGA draft Model 
Code of Conduct.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Full Council: 

1. Approve the Member Code of Conduct attached as appendix 1 for adoption. 
2. Approve the list of sanctions at Appendix 2 available if a Councillor breaches 

the Code.  
3. Adopt the LGA’s Guidance on the Member Model Code of Conduct 

Complaints Handling (the “Guidance on complaints handling”) at Appendix 3. 
4. Approve Arrangements for dealing with complaints alleging a breach of the 

Members’ Code of Conduct at Appendix 4. 
 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

The adoption of the new Member Code 
of Conduct will promote confidence in 
local democracy.  

 

Financial Impact 
  
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
  
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance, Corporate Services, 9th April 2024. 
 

Legal Implications 
  

Page 75

Agenda Item 6.7



Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires each local authority to adopt a 
code of conduct which deals with the conduct that is expected of members and co-
opted members, when they are acting in that capacity.  
 
Section 28 of the Act requires the Member Code of Conduct (Code) to be consistent 
with the Nolan principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership.  
 
The Code appended at Appendix 1, prepared by the Local Government Association 
(LGA), is consistent with the Nolan Principles and is suggested national good 
practice. 
 
The Standards Committee is responsible for standards functions as set out in the 
constitution and for advising Full Council on the adoption or revision of the Code. 
Changes to the Code are however decisions reserved to Full Council.  
 
If adopted by Full Council, the Code will replace the Council’s current Code in the 
constitution and will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
Angela Hogan, Chief Solicitor (Contracts and Procurement) 9th April 2024 
 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report - None 
  

 

Background 
 
1. The Standards Committee on 7 May 2024 considered and approved the LGA 

draft Member Code of Conduct and the attached appendices.  It recommended 
that Full Council adopt the Code and amend the Constitution accordingly.  The 
Code attached at appendix 1 includes the comments made by the Committee. 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 
 
2. The purpose of the code of conduct is to assist Members in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of them and to set out the type of conduct that could 
lead to action being taken against them.  It sets out general principles of 
conduct expected of all Councillors and specific obligations in relation to 
standards of conduct. The Code is intended to protect Councillors’ democratic 
role, encourage good conduct, and safeguard the public’s trust and confidence 
in the role of a councillor. 
 

LGA Model Code of Conduct – Appendix 1 
 
3. In June 2023, the LGA conducted a survey to capture data on the Model 

Councillor Code of Conduct to gauge the impact of the code on Councils. The 
total response rate was 110 complete responses out of 317 (35 per cent). 8 out 
of 33 London Boroughs responded to the survey (24 per cent). 
 
The Key findings of the survey published on 1st August is as follows: - 

 

Page 76



 All respondents to the survey were aware of the Model Councillor Code of 
Conduct. 

 82% of respondents said they had adopted the LGA Model Councillor Code of 
Conduct to at least some extent, with 25% adopting it in full and 40% adopting 
the Code with some additions or minor amendments. 

 Among Councils which used the Model Code to inform their review, 73% 
reported it being ‘Very useful’ and 25% stated it was ‘Fairly useful’. 

 A light touch review of the constitutions of Councils that did not respond to the 
survey indicated that 54% of non-respondent Councils had adopted the Model 
Code in full or in part. 

 In total across England, 63% of councils have adopted the Model Councillor 
Code of Conduct either completely or partially and 37% have not. 

 
4. Since December 2020, when the LGA launched the Model Code, 95% of 

responding Councils have reviewed their Code of Conduct.  85% have 
conducted a formal review and 10% have informally reviewed their Code. Only 
5% of the Councils which took part in this survey have not reviewed their 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct since December 2020. 
 

5. The Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer strongly recommend the 
adoption of the LGA Code. . 

 
Proposed Sanctions – Appendix 2 

 
6. The Localism Act 2011 abolished the statutory standards regime set up by the 

Local Government Act 2000. Therefore, the range of sanctions prescribed by 
the 2000 Act are no longer available.  

 
7. If the decision takers finds that a subject Member has failed to follow the Code 

of Conduct and that they should be sanctioned, the sanctions now available 
under the Localism Act 2011 are set out in Appendix 2.   

 
8. Failure to comply with a sanction may of itself be a breach of the Code. 

 
LGA’s Guidance on the Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling 
(the “Guidance on complaints handling”) – Appendix 3  
 
9. This guidance was prepared in response to requests received by the LGA as 

part of their consultation in 2020 on the LGA Model Councillor Code of 
Conduct. It is designed to assist monitoring officers, and anyone nominated by 
a monitoring officer to carry out investigations on their behalf and to assist 
councillors in understanding the process. 
 

Arrangements for dealing with complaints alleging a breach of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct – Appendix 4  
 
10. Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place 

“arrangements”, under which allegations that a Member or co-opted Member of 
the Council, or of a Committee or Sub Committee of the Council (as defined by 
sub section 27 (4) ), has failed to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct 
can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations.  
 

Page 77



11. These “arrangements” set out how a person may make a complaint that an 
elected or co-opted Member of the Council has failed to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct (“the Code”) and sets out how the Council will deal 
with allegations of a failure to comply with the Code.  
 

12. Such arrangements must provide for the Council to appoint at least one 
Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the Council before it 
takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 
and whose views can be sought by the Council at any other stage, or by a 
Member or co-opted Member against whom an allegation has been made.  
 

13. These arrangements have been updated taking into account the proposed 
action the Standards Committee or Council, Leader or appropriate official of the 
Political Groups can take where a Member has failed to comply with the Code 
of Conduct. 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
14. Whilst there is a statutory requirement for every authority to adopt a Code of 

Conduct, the LGA’s model Code is a template and authorities can choose to 
adopt it either in whole or with amendments to take into account local 
circumstances.  This report outlines 2 options for consideration.  

 

Options  
 
Option 1 – Full Council to adopt the LGA Model Code appended at Appendix 1. 
 
15. The LGA Code has undergone various rounds of consultation and supporting 

documents have been produced by the LGA designed to assist the Monitoring 
Officer to handle complaints.  It is appropriate for the Full Council to consider 
and make changes to the Model Code in accordance with national guidance if it 
adopts this option. 
 

Option 2 – Do Nothing and continue with the Council’s existing code of 
conduct 
 
16. The Council should periodically review the Code and consider whether changes 

should be made. The existing code of conduct has been reviewed by the 
Monitoring Officer.  Therefore, is not recommended to do nothing. 

Reasons for Decision 

  
There is a statutory requirement for each Council to adopt a code of conduct. 
Although the Council currently has a Code, the LGA has prepared an updated model 
code.  One of the roles of the Standards Committee is to consider changes to the 
Code of Conduct.  A recommendation from the Standards Committee is needed 
before a decision can be made by Full Council on the adoption of the Code.  The 
Standards Committee met 7 May 2024 and approved the LGA draft Member Code of 
Conduct and the attached appendices for adoption by Full Council. 
 

Page 78



LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Model Code of Conduct 
Appendix 2 – Proposed Sanctions  
Appendix 3 – LGA’s Guidance on the Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints 
Handling (the “Guidance on complaints handling”) 
Appendix 4 – Arrangements for dealing with complaints alleging a breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct 

Page 79



Appendix 1 

Member Code of Conduct 
 
Definitions 
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Councillor” means a member or co-
opted member of the Council.  
 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct   
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Councillor, in modelling the 
behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to 
set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you.  It is also 
to protect you, the public, fellow Councillors, council officers and the reputation of 
local government.  It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all Councillors 
and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct.   
 
General principles of Councillor conduct   
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 
services including Councillors and council officers should uphold the Seven 
Principles of Public Life also known as the Nolan Principles (Appendix A). 
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 
specifically for the role of Councillor. 
In accordance with the public trust placed in you, on all occasions MUST: 

 act with integrity and honesty 

 act lawfully 

 treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 
Councillor. 

 
In undertaking your role you SHOULD: 

 impartially exercise your responsibilities in the interests of the local community 

 not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person 

 avoid conflicts of interest 

 exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with the 
Council’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 
Application of the Code of Conduct   
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 
acceptance of the office of Councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Councillor.   
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 
Councillor which may include when:   

 you misuse your position as a Councillor 

 your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 
with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Councillor. 

 
The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 at face-to-face meetings   

 at online or telephone meetings   

 in written communication   

Page 80



 in verbal communication   

 in non-verbal communication   

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and   

 comments. 
 
You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct, show leadership and 
promote the values in this Code at all times when acting as a Councillor and in any 
public or published communications while you hold office as a Councillor.   
The Council’s Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of 
the Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct.   
 
Failure to comply with Sanctions. 
 
Failure to comply with a sanction may of itself be a breach of the Code. 
 
  

Page 81



STANDARDS OF COUNCILLOR CONDUCT 

 
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a Councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 
 
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 
should be followed. 
 
General Conduct 
 
1. Respect 
 

As a Councillor you must: 
 

1.1 treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
 
1.2 treat council employees, employees and representatives of partner 

organisations and those volunteering for the council with respect and respect 
the role they play. 

 
 
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in 
the written word.  Debate and having different views are all part of a 
healthy democracy. As a Councillor, you can express, challenge, 
criticize and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a 
robust but civil manner.  You should not, however, subject 
individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack or do 
anything to undermine your duty as a Councillor to promote equality 
(see section 2). 
 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and 
courteously.  Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s 
expectations and confidence in councillors. 
 
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the 
public.  If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or 
threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in 
person or online and report them to the council, the relevant social 
media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, 
where action could then be taken under the Code of Conduct and 
council employees, where concerns should be raised in line with 
council’s Member/officer protocol. 

 

 
  

Page 82



2. Refraining from bullying, harassment and discrimination and duty to 
promote equality 

 
In performing your duties as a Councillor and, in any published material, 
whether spoken or written while you are a Councillor, you must: 
 

2.1 not bully any person, 
 
2.2 not harass any person, 
 
2.3 promote equalities and not behave in such a way so to undermine achieving 

equality and 
 
2.4 not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 

 

 
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) 
characterises bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or 
insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means 
that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient.  Bullying 
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, 
happen face-to-face on social media, in emails or phone calls, 
happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not 
always be obvious or noticed by others. 
 
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as 
conduct that causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of 
violence and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. 
It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 
communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could 
be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 
 
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly 
because of a protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are 
specific aspects of a person's identity defined by the Equality Act 
2010.  They are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex and sexual orientation. 
 
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities.  
Councillors have a central role to play in ensuring that equality 
issues are integral to the council’s performance and strategic aims, 
and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality 
across public services. 
 
In November 2023, Full Council unanimously adopted the London 
Local Government Anti-Racist Statement which is appended to this 
Code. Councillors are expected to behave in ways that promote 
the values and ethos of that statement (Attached as appendix C. 
 

Page 83



Social media is a public forum and the same considerations, 
including the provisions of this section of the Code, apply as would 
to speaking in public or writing something for publication, either 
officially or in a personal capacity. 

 
 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council 

As a Councillor you must: 

 
3.1 not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who 

works for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
 

 
Officers work for the Council as a whole and must be politically 
neutral (unless they are political assistants). They should not be 
coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their 
neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for 
example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or 
the content of a report that they have written. However, you must 
not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or 
alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their 
professional integrity. 
 

 
4. Confidentiality and access to information 
 

As a Councillor you must:   
 
4.1 not disclose information: 

a. given to you in confidence by anyone   
b. acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is 

of a confidential nature, unless 
i. you have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
ii. you are required by law to do so; 
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or   

iv. the disclosure is: 
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the council; and 
3. have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

 
4.2 not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 

Councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my 
employer or my business interests. 

 
4.3 not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

 

Page 84



Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their 
proceedings and printed materials are open to the public, except in 
certain legally defined circumstances.  You should work on this 
basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that 
discussions, documents and other information relating to or held by 
the council must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples 
include personal data relating to individuals or information relating 
to ongoing negotiations. 

 

 
5. Disrepute 
 

As a Councillor you must 
 
5.1 not bring your role or the council into disrepute. 
 

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 
community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater 
scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be 
aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, 
other councillors and/or the council and may lower the public’s 
confidence in your or the council’s ability to discharge your/its 
functions.  For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest 
and/or deceitful can bring the council into disrepute.  You are able 
to hold the council and fellow councillors to account and are able to 
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and 
processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to 
other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

 
6. Use of position 

 
As a Councillor you must: 
 

6.1 not use, or attempt to use, your position improperly to the advantage or 
disadvantage of yourself or anyone else.  

 

Your position as a member of the council provides you with certain 
opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges and you make choices 
all the time that will impact others. However, you should not take 
advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ 
private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.   

 
7. Use of council resources and facilities 
 

As a Councillor you must: 
 

7.1 not misuse council resources. 
 
7.2 when using the resources of the Council or authorizing their use by others:   

a.  act in accordance with the Council’s requirements; and   

Page 85



b.  ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless that 
use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, 
the discharge of the functions of the council or of the office to which you 
have been elected or appointed.  

 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the council to 
assist you in carrying out your duties as a Councillor.   

Examples include:   

•  office support   

•  stationery   

•  equipment such as phones, and computers   

•  transport   

•  access and use of council buildings and rooms. 
 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a 
Councillor more effectively and are not to be used for business or 
personal gain. They should be used in accordance with the 
purpose for which they have been provided and the council’s own 
policies regarding their use.   

 
8. Complying with the Code of Conduct 
 

As a Councillor you must:   
 
8.1 undertake Code of Conduct training provided by the Council.   
 
8.2 cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination.   
 
8.3 not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved 

with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.   
 
8.4 comply with any sanction imposed on you following a finding that you have 

breached the Code of Conduct.  

 
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the council 
 
9. Interests 
 
As a Councillor you must: 
 
9.1 register and disclose your interests. 
 

It is extremely important for you as a Councillor to demonstrate 
high standards, for you to have your actions open to scrutiny and 
for you not to undermine public trust in the council or its 
governance.  If you do not understand or are concerned about the 
council’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this 
with your Monitoring Officer.   

Page 86



Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer 
to establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the 
authority.   

You need to register your interests so that the public, council 
employees and fellow councillors know which of your interests 
might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a public 
document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. 
The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate 
openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are 
personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should 
disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to 
know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise.  It 
is also important that the public know about any interest that might 
have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or 
taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the 
public as open and honest.  This helps to ensure that public 
confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.   

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under 
the Localism Act 2011.   

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and 
disclosing interests. If in doubt, you should always seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer.   

 
10. Gifts and hospitality 
 
As a Councillor you must: 
 
10.1 not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which could give 

rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence 
on your part to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do 
business with the council or from persons who may apply to the council for any 
permission, license or other significant advantage.   

 
10.2 register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.   
 
10.3 register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that you 

have been offered but have refused to accept.   
 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the council, 
you should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality 
which are (or which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you 
because you are a Councillor.  The presumption should always be 
not to accept significant gifts or hospitality.  However, there may be 
times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness 
in which case, you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly 
registered.  However, you do not need to register gifts and 
hospitality which are not related to your role as a Councillor, such 
as Christmas gifts from your friends and family.  It is also important 

Page 87



to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and 
hospitality associated with your duties as a Councillor.  If you are 
unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for guidance.   

 
11. Provision of formal references for Council Employees 
 
11.1 As a Councillor you must not provide or offer to provide a formal reference for 

any candidate for employment or promotion with the Council as to do so may 
be perceived as bringing an unacceptable pressure to bear on the appointing 
officer and any officer appointed as a result of such reference. However, there 
may be exceptional circumstances where a Councillor may provide a 
confirmatory reference at the discretion of the Monitoring Officer.   

 
12. Sex Offenders Register or to Sexual Risk Orders 
 
12.1 As a Councillor you must inform the Monitoring Officer if you commit any 

offence under Sexual Offences Act 2003 and are subject to the notification 
requirements set out in the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (commonly known as 
being put on the sex offenders register), or subject to Sexual Risk Orders “or 
other orders relating to sexual conduct”.  

 
12.2 A Councillor who becomes disqualified pursuant to the Local Government Act 

1972 section 81A**, as inserted by the Local Government (Disqualification) Act 
2022 section 1, shall immediately notify the Monitoring Officer of that fact and 
of the circumstances relating to it. 

 
(This was agreed by Full Council on 19 October 2022) 

 

 Police Investigation, Arrest or Charge. 
 
11.4 As a Councillor you are required to inform the Monitoring Officer should you be 

under police investigation, have been arrested or charged of an offence. 
 
Interpretation 
 
The Monitoring Officer shall consider the Local Governments Association Guidance 
on the Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling, when dealing with 
complaints alleging a breach. It will be for the Monitoring officer to use his or her 
discretion to interpret said Guidance when dealing with complaints alleging a breach 
of the Members Code of Conduct. 
 
**List of reasons for disqualification  
 

 are employed by the local authority;  

 are employed by a company which is under the control of the local authority;  

 are employed under the direction of various local authority committees, boards 
or the Greater London Authority; or  

 are subject to bankruptcy orders;  

 have, within 5 years before being elected, or at any time since being elected, 
been convicted in the UK, Channel Islands or Isle of Man of any offence and 

Page 88



have received a sentence of imprisonment (suspended or not) for a period of 
not less than three months without the option of a fine;  

 are disqualified under Part III of the Representation of the People Act 1983;  

 are a teacher in a school maintained by the local authority 

 not attending a meeting at least once in any six-month period 

 being subject to relevant notification requirements or orders due to sexual 
offences 

 
  

Page 89



Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 
 
The principles are: 
 
Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.   
 
Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 
or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 
and relationships.   
 
Objectivity 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.   
 
Accountability 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.   
 
Openness 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 
Honesty 
Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 
Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.  They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs.   
 

  

Page 90



Appendix B –  Registering interests 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a Councillor or your re-election or re-appointment to office 
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 
 
Failure to register a disclosable interest is a criminal offence. 
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 
below.   
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.   
 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 
days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered 
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.   

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

Councillor, or a person connected with the Councillor, being subject to violence 
or intimidation.   

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with 

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer 
agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.   

 
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  If it is a 
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

 
5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 

or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and 
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it. 

 
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests   
 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial 

Page 91



interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in 
Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise 
must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain 
in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.   

 
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests   
 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in 
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you 
must disclose the interest.  You may speak on the matter only if members of 
the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.  Otherwise you must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 
 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –   
a. your own financial interest or well-being;   
b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 
c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other 

Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2 
 

you must disclose the interest.  In order to determine whether you can remain 
in the meeting after disclosing your interest the test set out in paragraph 9 
should be applied. 

 
9. Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe 
that it would affect your view of the wider public interest. 

 
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 
speak at the meeting.  Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or 
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 
granted a dispensation.   
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest. 

 
 

10. Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on 
a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member 
in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of 
the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 
from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
Dispensations 
 

Page 92



11. In cases where a Councillor has a disclosable Pecuniary Interest, they may 
still be able to participate and vote at the meeting if they have obtained a 
dispensation from the Monitoring Officer in accordance with the provisions set 
out below. 

 
12. There are five circumstances in respect of which a dispensation may be 

granted, namely: 
 

(a) That so many members of the decision-making body have disclosable 
pecuniary interests in a matter that it would impede the transaction of 
the business; 

(b) That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to 
alter the outcome of any vote on the matter; 

(c) That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the authority’s area; 

(d) That without a dispensation, no member of the committee would be 
able to participate in this matter; 

(e) That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation 

 
13. You must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any 

dispensation granted to you at or before the consideration of the item of 
business or as soon as the interest to which the dispensation relates, 
becomes apparent. In the event of a blanket dispensation granted to all 
Councillors on a particular matter, this should be declared by the chairman at 
the commencement of the meeting. 

 
General Dispensations Granted by the Monitoring Officer 
 

14. The following general dispensations have been granted by the Monitoring 
Officer to all Councillors to enable them to be present, speak and vote where 
they would otherwise have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on the grounds 
that it is appropriate to grant a dispensation to allow all Councillors to 
participate fully in the following matters: 

 
a)  Housing: where the Councillor (or spouse or partner) holds a tenancy or   

lease with the Council as long as the matter does not only relate to the 
Councillor’s particular tenancy or lease, 

b) School meals or school transport and travelling expenses where the 
Councillor is a parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or is a 
parent governor of a school, provided that the matter does not only 
relate to the particular school which the child attends. 

c) Housing Benefit: where the Councillor (or spouse or partner) directly 
receives housing benefit in relation to their own circumstances. 

d) Decisions in relation to any Council Tax Benefit if the Councillor  or their 
spouse or partner are in receipt of any such benefit. 

e) Membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme of either the 
Councillor or their spouse or partner. 

 

Page 93



For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure adherence to the Member Code of 
Conduct, Councillors should seek guidance from the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade,  
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the council) made to the Councillor 
during the previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a 
Councillor, or towards his/her election expenses. This 
includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labor Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract made between the Council and 
 

(a) the Councillor; or 
(b) the spouse or civil partner of the Councillor; 
or 
(c) the person with whom the Councillor is living as if 
they were spouses/civil partners; 
or 
(d) a firm in which any of the parties in (a-c) is a 
partner, or 
(e) an incorporated body in which any of the parties 
in (a-c) is a director* or  
(f) a body in which any of the parties in (a-c) has a 
beneficial interest in the securities) and the council - 

(i) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
(ii) which has not been fully discharged 

 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area 
of the council. 
 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or 
right in or over land which does not give the Councillor 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the Councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners a right to occupy or to receive 
income. 
 

Licenses Any license (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 

Page 94

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Councillor’s knowledge) – 
 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
 
(b) the tenant is a body that 

(i) the Councillor; or 
(ii) the spouse or civil partner of the Councillor; or 
(iii) the person with whom the Councillor is living 
as if they were spouses or civil partners is a 
partner of, a director* of, or has a beneficial 
interest in, the securities* in. 

 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body  
where -  
(a) that body (to the Councillor’s knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of the council; 
and  
(b) either—  

i) the total nominal value of the securities* 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or 
ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of 
any one class in which; 

(a) the Councillor; or 
(b) the spouse or civil partner of the Councillor; 
or 
(c) the person with whom the Councillor is living 
as if they were spouses or civil partners 

 
has a beneficial interest which exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

 

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 
bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 
  

Page 95



Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 

 
You must register as an Other Registerable Interest: 
 

a) any unpaid directorships 
b ) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of 

general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your authority   

c) any body 
(i)  exercising functions of a public nature 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the 
influence of public opinion or policy (including any 
political party or trade union) of which you are a 
member or in a position of general control or 
management 

 

 
  

Page 96



Appendix C – The London Local Government Anti-Racist 
Statement 

 
Local authorities in London are committed to achieving racial equality 
because we recognise that persistent racial inequalities are unacceptable and 
adversely affect all Londoners. 
 
We know that some groups are more likely to face inequality, experience poor 
outcomes and to live in poverty. We also know that this is sometimes used as an 
excuse not to acknowledge racial inequality. But groups don’t happen to be more 
disadvantaged by chance. Structural disadvantage is rooted in racism and 
discrimination that is both historical and current.  
 
We do have legislation to protect against overt racism, negative attitudes and 
treatment, but many of the systems that discriminate do so because of more subtle 
and covert unchecked “prejudice, assumptions, ignorance, thoughtlessness and 
racist stereotyping. 
 
This wording draws on the Macpherson Report 1999 definition of institutional racism 
which is still relevant today. This is a dehumanising process that is unacceptable 
and communities are tired of being treated this way. 
 
We cannot let another generation down by not responding what remains a clear and 
compelling articulation of what must change. 

Page 97



Appendix 2 – Sanctions 
 
Where a panel finds that the subject member has been in breach of the code, that 
panel (or substitutes if any member is unavailable) may take any of the steps set out 
below. Where the monitoring officer has referred the question of sanction to a panel, 
the panel may take any of the steps set out below. Where a report or 
recommendation is made to any person or body, that person or body may take any of 
the steps set out below. 
 
When deciding upon a sanction or what other action to take, the decision makers 
should ensure that it is reasonable, proportionate and relevant to the subject 
member’s conduct and, if relevant, past conduct. The decision maker may take one, 
or a combination or any other sanction it decides is reasonable and proportionate. 
 
A Sub Committee of the Standards Committee 
 
A Sub Committee may take any one or more of the following steps: 

1) determine that the matter requires no further action. 
2) refer the matter to or back to the monitoring officer to seek or to continue to 

seek an informal resolution to the matter, to be referred back to the panel if 
that fails. 

3) report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to council 
4) issue a formal censure 
5) recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case of un-

grouped councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any or 
all committees or sub-committees of the authority  

6) recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member be removed 
from positions of responsibility 

7) instruct the monitoring officer to arrange training for the subject member 
8) recommend to council that the subject member be removed from all outside 

appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated by the 
authority  

9) recommend to council that it withdraws facilities provided to the subject 
member by the authority for a specified period, such as a computer, website 
and/or email and internet access 

10) recommend to council that it excludes the subject member from the authority’s 
offices or other premises for a specified period, with the exception of meeting 
rooms as necessary for attending council, committee and sub - committee 
meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named officers only 

11) if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be removed from 
their role as leader of the authority 

12) if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political 
group that the Councillor be removed as group leader or other position of 
responsibility. 

 
Council, Leader or appropriate official of the Political Groups  
 
Where a report or recommendation has been made to the council or other body or 
person the council or that body or that person may take any one or more of the 
following steps: 

Page 98



1) note the report. 
2) follow and act upon the recommendation. 
3) reject the report or recommendation with reasons. 
4) refer the matter back to the panel with or without a recommendation to take 

any other step which had been open to the panel. 
5) impose any other step which had been open to the Council, Leader or 

appropriate official of the Political Group. 
 
 

Page 99



This guidance, together with the guidance prepared for
councillors to help them understand and follow the revised Local
Government Association (LGA) Model Councillor Code of
Conduct (2020), has been prepared in response to requests
received by the LGA as part of our consultation in 2020 on the
LGA Model Councillor Code of Conduct. It is designed to assist
monitoring officers, and anyone nominated by a monitoring
officer to carry out investigations on their behalf and to assist
councillors in understanding the process. Local authorities may
have different practices and arrangements in place. However,
the principles of fairness, proportionality, transparency and
impartiality will still apply.
21 Sep 2021

Guidance on Member Model Code of
Conduct Complaints Handling

1. Introduction
It is vital that the public has confidence in the high standards of local
government, and that there is transparency about the conduct of
councillors and the mechanisms for dealing with alleged breaches of the
Codes of Conduct. Equally, it is vital that councillors themselves have
confidence in these mechanisms, and that investigations into such
complaints abide by the principles of natural justice.

Any reference in this guidance to ‘you’ is a reference to a monitoring
officer, a deputy monitoring officer, or any person nominated by them to
carry out their functions. Furthermore, any reference to the ‘subject

Page 100

https://www.local.gov.uk/


member’ is a reference to the councillor who is the subject of the
allegation and references to an Independent Person means an
Independent Person appointed under s. 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011.

Under the Model Code of Conduct, councillors are required to
cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and respect the
impartiality of officers. This is in recognition of the key role monitoring
officers have in ensuring what might be contentious and difficult issues
are handled fairly. This guidance is to support them in carrying out their
duties.

The system of regulation of standards of councillor conduct in England
is governed by the Localism Act 2011. Local authorities must have a
Code of Conduct for councillors, which must be consistent with the
“Seven Principles of Public Life”, selflessness, honesty, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness and leadership.

Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities (other than
parish and town councils) must have in place ‘arrangements’ under
which allegations that an elected or co-opted councillor of the authority
or of a town or parish council within the principal authority’s area has
failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct can be considered
and decisions made on such allegations. It is for the principal authority
to decide the details of those arrangements, but they must appoint at
least one Independent Person whose views are to be taken into account
before making a decision on a complaint that they have decided to
investigate.

This guidance is for guidance purposes only and where it differs from
the authority’s own arrangements under the Localism Act then the
authority’s arrangements should be followed.

s28      (6) A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in
place—

(a) arrangements under which allegations can be investigated, and

(b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made.

Page 101



(7) Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by a relevant
authority must include provision for the appointment by the authority of
at least one independent person—

(a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the
authority before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided
to investigate, and

(b) whose views may be sought—

(i) by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within
paragraph (a),

(ii) by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that    person’s
behaviour is the subject of an allegation, and

(iii) by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that
person’s behaviour is the subject of an allegation and the authority is
the parish council’s principal authority.

The case of R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council 2018 (R Taylor v
Honiton TC) made clear that allegations of a failure to follow an
authority’s Code of Conduct can only be considered in accordance with
the principal authority’s standards arrangements. Though the conduct
complained of may give rise to a staff grievance, for example, the
subject member cannot receive a sanction outside of the standards
arrangements.

Background
More than 100,000 people give their time as councillors. The majority do
so with the very best motives, and they conduct themselves in a way
that is beyond reproach. However, public perception tends to focus on a
minority who in some way abuse their positions or behave badly. Even
where behaviour does falls short most issues are resolved easily
through a simple apology or through swift action from an officer, a
political group or meeting chair. Reference to the Code of Conduct and
a formal complaint are very much the last resort where issues remain
unresolved.

Page 102



Anyone who considers that a councillor may have breached the Code of
Conduct may make a complaint to that councillor’s local authority,
usually via the principal authority’s monitoring officer. Each complaint
must be assessed to see if it falls within the authority’s legal jurisdiction,
for example whether the subject member was acting as a councillor or
representative of the authority at the time. A decision must then be
made on whether or not some action should be taken, either as an
investigation or some other form of action.

When a matter is referred for investigation or other action, it does not
mean that a decision has been made about the validity of the allegation.
It simply means that the authority believes the alleged conduct, if
proven, may amount to a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct
and that some action should be taken in response to the complaint.

The process for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints must be fair
and be seen to be fair.

2. Initial assessment of complaints

Responsibilities
The law does not specify how complaints are to be handled. However,
in most authorities, initial assessment of complaints that a councillor
may have breached the Code of Conduct is usually carried out by the
authority’s monitoring officer. In other authorities all complaints go to an
assessment committee of councillors for consideration. This is a matter
for local choice, but the authority should be satisfied that whatever
assessment arrangements it adopts, the assessment can be carried out
fairly, objectively and without undue delay.

Even where the matter is normally delegated to the monitoring officer,
they may reserve the right to refer the matter to a committee of
councillors, for example where the monitoring officer has a conflict of
interest or the matter is particularly high-profile.

Whichever approach (or any other) is taken, it is important to have
published criteria against which complaints can be assessed to aid
transparency and consistency (see below).

Page 103



Independent Persons (IPs) are people who are neither councillors nor
officers of the authority but are appointed under Section 28 of the
Localism Act 2011 to work with the authority to support them with Code
of Conduct complaints and standards issues. Under the Localism Act
their views must be sought and taken into account on any matter under
investigation, the subject member may seek their views at any stage
and the authority may also seek their views at any other stage of the
process.

The Committee on Standards in Public Life has recommended that
authorities should also seek the views of the IP when initially assessing
a case as a further way of ensuring consistency and enhancing public
confidence in the framework.

Pre-assessment
Publicising the complaints system

Local authorities, including parish and town councils, should publish
information on their websites about the Code of Conduct, about what
can and cannot be considered as a complaint, how to complain
(including a standard complaints form if appropriate) and where Code of
Conduct complaints should be sent to. They should also provide clear
details of the procedures they will follow in relation to any written
allegation received about a councillor.

Where a principal authority is responsible for handling complaints about
its parish and town councillors, it should also make this clear.

The submission of complaints and accessibility
Local authorities should consider that some complainants will not know
where to direct their complaint. Some complaints may also need to be
considered through more than one of an authority’s complaint
processes.

Officers dealing with any incoming complaints to the authority will
therefore need to be alert to a complaint that a councillor may have
breached the Code. If a written complaint specifies or appears to

Page 104



specify that it is in relation to the Code, then it should be passed to the
relevant person for consideration.

Local authorities may produce a complaint form which sets out all the
information they expect to receive from a complainant. This can be
helpful to both the authority and the complainant. However, authorities
cannot compel complainants to use a complaint form.

If an authority does not have a complaint form, it should nevertheless
give clear guidelines as to the information that complainants need to
provide.

The required information may include:

the complainant’s name, address and other contact details;
who the complainant is, for example, a member of the public,
fellow councillor or officer;
who the complaint is about and the authority or authorities that the
councillor belongs to;
details of the alleged misconduct including, where possible, dates,
witness details and other supporting information;
equality monitoring data if applicable, for example the nationality of
the complainant.

The authority should also make it clear that only in exceptional
circumstances would a complainant be granted confidentiality and that
as a matter of fairness the complainant’s identity would normally be
disclosed to the subject member (see section below on confidentiality).

A complaint may arise from an expression of dissatisfaction or concern,
which come about in a number of ways initially, including verbally. In
such cases, the monitoring officer should ask the complainant whether
they want to formally put the matter in writing. If the complainant does
not, then the monitoring officer should consider the options for informal
resolution to satisfy the complainant. If it is a significant complaint,
which the complainant is unwilling to commit to writing (for example
because they feel they are being bullied), the monitoring officer may
wish to reassure the complainant about confidentiality and draft the
complaint for agreement with the complainant.

Page 105



Under the Localism Act, however, formal complaints must be submitted
in writing. This include electronic submissions, though the requirement
for complaints to be submitted in writing must be read in conjunction
with the Equality Act 2010 and the duty to make adjustments. For
example, a complainant may have a disability that prevents them from
making their complaint in writing. In such cases, authorities may need to
transcribe a verbal complaint and then produce a written copy for
approval by the complainant or the complainant’s representative.

Authorities should also consider what support should be made available
to complainants.

Authorities should not normally allow anonymous complaints as that
would be against the principles of transparency and fairness and make
matters much more difficult to investigate. However, there may be
exceptional compelling reasons why an anonymous complaint could be
accepted without detriment to the process and where the allegation can
be evidenced without reference to the complainant. For example, if an
anonymous complainant submitted a video showing the councillor
acting inappropriately or sent in documentation disclosing an
undeclared directorship in a matter relating to local authority business, it
may be considered that the public interest in investigating the allegation
outweighed the issue of anonymity.

Please note that anonymity and confidentiality are different concepts.
Anonymity means the complainant is not known whereas confidentiality
means that the complainant is known to the authority but their identity
has been withheld for a specific reason.

Complaints which identify criminal conduct or a breach of other
regulations by any person may be referred to the police or any other
relevant regulatory agency for consideration, in accordance with any
agreed protocol. In such cases the authority, in agreement with the
other body, should consider pausing the assessment of the complaint
pending action by the other body.

Page 106



Acknowledging receipt of a complaint
When a complaint is received by the local authority the relevant officer
should acknowledge its receipt and set out the process to be taken to
assess the complaint with an agreed timescale.

The authority may also notify the subject member that a complaint has
been received and invite their comments on it within an agreed
timescale. In deciding whether or not to notify the subject member they
would need to weigh up different factors. For example, would telling the
subject member risk that the complainant may be intimidated or
evidence destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside of the
jurisdiction of the Code is there any need to hear from the councillor?
However, the presumption would normally be to invite the subject
member to comment as this can help the authority to decide whether a
matter can be dealt with informally without the need for a formal
investigation, for example.

If the authority does tell the subject member about the complaint, the
relevant officer will need to be satisfied that they have the legal power to
disclose the information they choose to reveal. Additionally, the impact
of the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) should be considered to ensure that any personal
data is processed fairly and lawfully at every stage of the process.
Reasonable expectations of privacy need to be balanced against the
public interest.

Pre-assessment enquiries and reports
When the authority notifies the subject member that a complaint has
been made about them, and seeks any relevant comments, the subject
member should be given a short timeframe in which to submit their
comments such as 10 working days from the date of the notification. In
parish cases the principal authority may also notify the clerk and may
ask for relevant factual information which would help in the assessment
of the complaint.

Page 107



In notifying the subject member it should be made clear that no
judgment one way or the other has been made about whether the
allegation is in fact true.

The authority may contact complainants for clarification of their
complaint if they are unable to understand the document submitted.

The authority may also carry out preliminary enquiries, for example
whether the member was in fact present at the meeting to which the
complaint relates. However, such enquiries should be limited to readily-
available public records so as not to extend to a more formal
investigation.

In authorities where the assessment is carried out by a committee
rather than an officer, they may decide that they want the monitoring
officer, or other officer, to prepare a short summary of a complaint for
the committee to consider. This could, for example, set out the following
details:

Whether the complaint is within jurisdiction;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct the complaint might relate
to, or the paragraphs the complainant has identified;
A summary of key aspects of the complaint if it is lengthy or
complex;
Any further information that the officer has obtained to assist the
committee with its decision, for example initial comments from the
subject member, minutes of meetings or a copy of a councillor’s
entry in the register of interests. However, it should be noted that
these pre-assessment enquiries should not be carried out in such
a way as to amount to an investigation. For example, they should
not extend to interviewing potential witnesses, the complainant, or
the subject member (although they may have been asked for initial
comments) as that would be a matter for any formal investigation
should the case proceed;
The views of the Independent Person.

Page 108



Assessment
Initial tests

The assessment of a complaint would normally be a two-step process,
described by the Committee on Standards in Public Life as the
‘can/should’ stages – the first stage being ‘can we deal with this
complaint?’ and the second being ‘should we deal with this complaint?’.

The first step would be a jurisdictional test and would assess whether
the complaint is:

against one or more named councillors of the authority or of a
parish or town council the authority is responsible for;
the named councillor was in office at the time of the alleged
conduct;
the complaint relates to matters where the councillor was acting as
a councillor or representative of the authority and it is not a private
matter;
the complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under
which the councillor was operating at the time of the alleged
misconduct.

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated
as a breach of the Code, and the complainant must be informed that no
further action will be taken in respect of the complaint. If there is any
doubt, however, the allegation should proceed to the second stage. For
example, if it is unclear whether the councillor was acting ‘in capacity’ or
not then the second stage of assessment criteria should be used.

Where a matter is being referred to a committee of councillors for
assessment, we would expect the monitoring officer only to pass cases
which have met the jurisdictional threshold.

Second-stage criteria
Once these jurisdictional tests have been met the authority should have
further criteria against which it assesses complaints and decides what
action, if any, to take. These criteria should reflect local circumstances

Page 109



and priorities and be simple, clear and open. They should ensure
fairness for both the complainant and the subject member.

Assessing all complaints by established criteria will also protect the
authority from accusations of bias. Assessment criteria can be reviewed
and amended as necessary, but this should not be done during
consideration of a matter.

In drawing up assessment criteria, authorities should bear in mind the
importance of ensuring that complainants are confident that complaints
about councillor conduct are taken seriously and dealt with
appropriately. They should also consider that deciding to investigate a
complaint or to take other action will cost both public money and the
officers’ and councillors’ time. This is an important consideration where
the matter is relatively minor.

The following non-exclusive factors may help an authority to develop
local criteria:

1. Does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a
potential breach of the Code?
2. Are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be
explored first?
3. Where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater
allowance for robust political debate (but not personal abuse) may be
given, bearing in mind the right to freedom of expression;
4. Is the complaint in the view of the authority malicious, politically
motivated, or ‘tit for tat’
5. Whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the
matter, even if proven, would not be serious enough to warrant any
sanction (see guidance on hearings);
6. Whether a substantially similar complaint has previously been
considered and no new material evidence has been submitted within
the current administration;
7. Whether a substantially similar complaint has been submitted and
accepted;
8. Does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past? This
would include consideration or any reason why there had been a

Page 110



delay in making the complaint;
9. Was the behaviour that is the subject of the complaint already dealt
with? For example, through an apology at the relevant meeting;
10. Does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a local
authority decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual?
And
11. Is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is
seriously ill?

Some of these criteria are inevitably subjective. For example, who
decides if a complaint is trivial? The complainant may feel they have a
genuine grievance even if to a third party it seems relatively minor.

Equally even if a complaint seems to be ‘politically motivated’ it may
nevertheless be highlighting a potentially significant breach of the Code
which could not be ignored.

Such criteria can therefore only ever be indicative, and authorities
always need to take into account the public interest in taking further
action on a complaint. Assessment criteria should be adopted which
take this into account so that authorities can be seen to be treating all
complaints in a fair and balanced way.

In assessing any case, an authority may want to consider the following
questions in the context of local knowledge and experience:

Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the
authority that the complaint should be referred for investigation or other
action?

If the answer is no, it should be made clear to the complainant that
there is insufficient evidence to make a decision so unless, or until,
further information is received, the authority will take no further action
on the complaint. When doing so, the complainant should be given a
clear timeline to submit any further evidence or otherwise the file will be
closed.

Page 111



Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a councillor?

The councillor may have been a councillor at the time of the alleged
misconduct but may have since ceased to be a councillor. The authority
will need to consider whether it still has jurisdiction. If so, then the
authority may not want to take any further action unless they believe the
matter is so serious, and the councillor may return to the authority that it
would still be in the public interest to pursue the matter. If they do
pursue the matter the range of potential sanctions is inevitably more
limited and may extend only to publication of the report and a formal
censure.

If the councillor is still a member of another principal authority, the
authority may wish to refer the complaint to that authority if it would also
fall within their code of conduct.

If a councillor is still a member of a town or parish council within the
principal authority’s area, then the principal authority can still deal with
the matter if it relates to matters at the town or parish council.

Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that
there would be little benefit in taking action now?

Where a matter happened some time ago then the authority may decide
that any further action would be unwarranted. For example, an
investigation may be difficult as people’s recollections may have faded.
The authority may therefore wish to set a time limit for receiving
complaints of say six months under normal circumstances. However, it
should also be borne in mind that there may be a good reason why a
complaint is ‘late’ – for example, victims of bullying or harassment may
have needed time and courage before coming forward or been made
aware of other incidents which has prompted them to make a complaint
about things in the past.

Does the complaint appear to be trivial, malicious, politically
motivated or tit-for-tat?

Where a complaint is rejected on these grounds the authority should be
very clear about the reasons why and discourage politically motivated or
tit-for-tat complaints in particular. It will, however, need to satisfy itself
that, regardless of any alleged motive of the complainant, the complaint

Page 112



itself is not sufficiently serious to warrant any further action regardless of
the motive. A complaint may appear on the face of it to be politically
motivated, for example, because of the timing of its submission, but if it
raises sufficiently serious matters it would nevertheless need to be
considered fully.

The assessment criteria that the authority adopts should be made
publicly available on its website.

Decision

Initial assessment decisions
Where the decision has been delegated to an officer, the authority
should aim to complete their initial assessment of an allegation within
15 working days of receiving a complaint. Where they have asked the
subject member for comment, they should allow them up to 10 working
days to comment and then make the assessment normally within five
working days of any comments being received.

Where the subject member has not commented, and the ten working
days has elapsed (and they have not provided a reasonable excuse for
the delay) the assessment should nevertheless be made within five
working days after that.

Where an Independent Person is invited to give their views prior to
assessment these should be done at least a day before the final
deadline. Where the Independent Person meets in person with the
officer to discuss the case, they should nevertheless record their views
in writing for the record after the meeting.

Where the assessment is sent to a committee, the committee should be
set up along similar timescales. Any inordinate delay in assessing cases
can have a damaging effect on trust in the system and is unfair for both
the complainant and subject member.

The authority may reach one of the three following decisions on an
allegation:

no further action should be taken on the allegation;

Page 113



the matter should be dealt with through a process of informal
resolution in the first instance (see section on informal resolution)
or;
the matter should be referred for a formal investigation (see
section on investigations).

Decision to take no action
The authority may decide that no further action is required in respect of
a complaint based on its agreed criteria.

Where the authority reaches this decision it should be clear that, where
an allegation may have disclosed a potential breach of the Code it has
nevertheless made no finding of fact as it does not believe it is in the
public interest to pursue the matter any further, Where it has been
concluded that no potential breach of the Code of Conduct is disclosed
by the complaint (for example because it is outside of jurisdiction), no
further formal action can be taken by the authority in respect of it.

There should be no right of appeal against a decision not to take any
further action if the system is to be efficient and proportionate.

Where the decision was taken by an officer, the monitoring officer may
wish to report to the relevant committee periodically on cases in which
there has been no further action taken. These cases should be reported
confidentially with the aim of giving the committee a picture of issues
within the authority and enabling it to assure itself that decisions made
have been broadly reasonable in the whole. They are not there to re-
open issues.

Referral for informal resolution
When the authority decides that they should seek to resolve the matter
informally in the first instance they should refer to the separate guidance
on informal resolution.

Page 114



Referral for investigation
When the authority decides a matter should be referred for investigation
it should refer to the separate guidance on investigations.

Notification of assessment decisions
If the authority decides to take no action over a complaint, then as soon
as possible after making the decision they should notify the complainant
and subject member of the decision and set out clearly the reasons for
that decision, including the views of the independent person.

If the authority decides that the complaint should be referred for formal
investigation or informal resolution, they should notify the complainant
and subject member, stating what the allegation was and what further
action is being taken.

In such cases the authority will need to decide whether or not to give
the subject member a copy of the full complaint and whether the
complainant, where they had been granted confidentiality, should
remain confidential for the time being. In doing so they would need to
decide whether doing so would be against the public interest or would
prejudice any future investigation. This could happen where it is
considered likely that the subject member may intimidate the
complainant, or any witnesses involved. It could also happen where
early disclosure of the complaint may lead to evidence being
compromised or destroyed. If only one part of a complaint has been
referred for action or the complaint is against more than one councillor
then the authority may wish only to disclose the relevant parts of the
complaint. Any decision to withhold information should be kept under
review as circumstances change.

If the subject member is a parish or town councillor and the authority
has decided to take some action with regard to the complaint, their
parish or town council should also be notified via the clerk. In doing so
the authority will need to consider whether any of the information is
confidential.

Page 115



A decision notice should be issued within one working day of the
decision being made.

Independent Person
If the views of the Independent Person were sought, this should be
made clear in the decision letter and state whether the Independent
Person agreed with the decision or not. Where the Independent Person
did not agree with the decision, the notification should explain how the
authority took account of those views in reaching a different decision –
for example in concluding that the matter was not in fact within the
scope of the Code but was a private matter.

Other issues to consider

Assessments Committee
Where a committee is convened to assess an allegation, it is an
ordinary committee of the authority if it is making the decision. This
means it must reflect political proportionality unless that has been
waived and it is subject to the notice and publicity requirements under
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

However, while there should be a presumption that a hearing following
an investigation would normally be held in public (see guidance on
hearings) there will be a strong presumption towards an assessment
being treated as exempt information. The meeting may have to consider
unfounded and potentially damaging complaints about councillors,
which it would not be appropriate to make public because of the risk of
unfounded reputational damage or the potential risk of prejudicing any
future investigation.

Nevertheless, as for any meeting dealing with exempt or confidential
information a summary of the outcome would need to be published
setting out the main points considered such as:

the conclusions on the complaint;
the reasons for the conclusion.

Page 116



Assessments delegated to officers
Where an assessment decision has been delegated to an officer there
is no legislative requirement for a decision notice to be published.
Nevertheless, the authority should consider whether an assessment
notice should be published in the public interest or not in the same way
as they would if it were a committee decision.

What if the subject member is member of more than one authority?

There may be times when the same complaint is made against a
member of more than one authority. For example, an allegation may
allege that a councillor has failed to register an interest at both district
and county level.

In such a case the two authorities should have an agreement about who
would carry out the initial assessment (if necessary, under an agreed
delegation) and any subsequent action. This avoids the risk of two
different actions or conclusions being reached.

The matter would not arise where the councillor was on a town or parish
council and also on the ‘principal’ district, unitary or metropolitan council
as the principal authority is responsible for handling both complaints. It
could however arise if the parish or town councillor were also on the
county council in a two-tier area.

3. Informal resolution
When dealing with allegations, an authority can decide that some form
of action other than investigation or ‘informal resolution’ is needed at a
local level. The authority may also decide that informal resolution may
be more appropriate than referring a matter to a hearing following
completion of an investigation. Where the authority has delegated such
a decision to the monitoring officer, we would expect the monitoring
officer to seek the views of an Independent Person before taking such a
course of action. Where the delegation is held by a committee, we
would expect the committee to consult its monitoring officer and an
Independent Person before reaching that decision. You may also
consider seeking an informal resolution part way through an

Page 117



investigation rather than completing an investigation if it becomes clear
the matter could be resolved amicably. Where informal resolution
relates to a formal investigation you must seek the views of an
Independent Person before halting or pausing the formal investigation.

Why seek an informal resolution?
An informal resolution is a more proportionate way of dealing with
relatively minor allegations, one-off incidents or underlying
disagreements between individuals. It should be borne in mind however
that dealing with a matter by alternative resolution at the initial
assessment stage is making no finding of fact as there has been no
formal investigation, so you would need to balance the interest in
resolving a matter quickly and satisfactorily against the interest in the
complainant having their complaint upheld or the member’s desire to
clear their name.

Matters which you might consider appropriate for informal resolution
may include:

the same particular breach of the Code by many members,
indicating poor understanding of the Code and the authority’s
procedures;
a general breakdown of relationships, including those between
members and officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of
minor disrespect, harassment or bullying to such an extent that it
becomes difficult to conduct the business of the authority;
misunderstanding of procedures or protocols;
misleading, unclear or misunderstood advice from officers;
lack of experience or training;
interpersonal conflict;
allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same members;
allegations about how formal meetings are conducted;
allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems
within the authority, which are more significant than the allegations
in themselves.

Page 118



When would informal resolution not be appropriate?
Complaints should not be referred for informal resolution when you
believe an investigation is in the public interest, for example because of
the seriousness of the allegations or because it demonstrates a pattern
of behaviour. In addition, an allegation which challenges the councillor’s
honesty or integrity may be better dealt with as a formal investigation
because of the potential reputational issues.

Similarly, an informal resolution is not intended to be a quick and easy
means of dealing with matters which you consider to be too trivial or
time-consuming to investigate. Genuinely trivial cases are better dealt
with by a decision to take no action (see guidance on initial
assessments). While an alternative resolution can be a cost-effective
way of getting a matter resolved for individual cases, it is not a quick fix
particularly where there are more systemic issues. It should not be seen
as a routine or cheap way of disposing of an allegation, as it can
sometimes be a drawn out, costly and time- consuming process.

You should also take care to avoid it appearing to the complainant that
deciding to seek an alternative resolution is sweeping matters under the
carpet. The decision should demonstrate to the complainant that their
complaint is being addressed and being taken seriously, although
perhaps as part of a wider issue.

Importantly, if a complaint merits being investigated, then it should be
referred for investigation.

Who can be the subject of informal resolution?
Informal resolution could either be directed at the councillor who is the
subject of the complaint, both the subject member and the complainant,
or at the authority more generally.

For example, it may be a request that a councillor apologise for remarks
made in the heat of the moment. Or you may decide that the authority’s
resources are better used trying to ensure that the subject member and
complainant attempt some form of mediation or reconciliation, or it may
be about wider issues for your authority that are raised by the case. For

Page 119



example, a relatively minor alleged infringement of the Code, by a
councillor who is accused of misusing their authority’s IT equipment,
might identify shortcomings in the authority’s policy about councillors
using that equipment. In such a case you might decide that the best
way to deal with the allegation is to ask the authority to review the policy
and make recommendations for improvement.

If you decide to seek an informal resolution when assessing a
complaint, you should be clear that an investigation into that complaint
will not take place provided you are satisfied that the party at whom the
resolution is directed has acted in good faith in seeking to comply with
it.

Who should you inform if seeking informal resolution?
If you believe a complaint can be dealt with through informal resolution
you should consult with the Independent Person and you should inform
the subject member and the complainant of your intention and give
them the opportunity to comment before you make your final decision.
However, you should simply be trying to assess how successful the
resolution might be rather than giving them a veto. For example, a
complainant may not be happy at receiving an apology as they may
expect the matter to be fully investigated but you may nevertheless
decide that an apology is reasonable and best use of resources in the
circumstances.

When informal resolution has been completed you should notify:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;  
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town
or parish councillor.

In addition, you should report back to the standards committee or
similar where you have one at the next available opportunity on the
outcome of your actions. This would allow the committee to take a

Page 120



holistic view of whether informal resolution is being used appropriately
and effectively in the round but should not be seen as an opportunity to
re-open the case.

What sort of actions might form an alternative resolution?
Alternative resolution can take a wide range of forms. When considering
an alternative resolution, you need to think if the complaint highlights
specific issues. For example, if it is against a relatively new councillor, a
councillor who has taken on a new role or to do with relatively new
procedures is there an issue about lack of understanding or training?

Training may be in anything you consider appropriate, such as:

the Code of Conduct
authority procedures and protocols
chairing skills
working with external bodies
wider governance issues
planning and licensing
working with officers
use of authority resources.

Where the issue is more of an inter-personal dispute it may simply be
asking the subject member to apologise or to withdraw a remark. You
may need to be clear that this does not necessarily mean that the
councillor has been found to have breached the Code of Conduct where
there has been no formal investigation. It is therefore important where
you decide on this course at initial assessment that the action proposed
does not imply this. You cannot require the subject member to apologise
although you may take that into consideration when thinking of the next
steps. Of course, in those cases where the councillor has admitted the
breach and offered an acceptable apology, you may decide that no
further action is necessary.

Where the allegation highlights wider procedure or cultural issues within
the authority, you may wish to consider training for all councillors as a
whole or mentoring of particular councillors, or work as an authority on
conflict resolution.

Page 121



You may also decide that the allegation highlights authority procedural
failings rather than the specific fault of an individual so you may want to
develop or review particular authority protocols and procedures.

Where the allegation is one of a series which in your view highlight that
relationships within an authority as a whole have broken down to such
an extent that it has become very difficult to conduct the business of the
authority then some wider form of reconciliation may be needed rather
than simply investigating a whole series of complaints which may of
themselves be relatively minor but highlight a pattern of disruption or
dysfunction. In such cases it may be helpful to engage an independent
mediator who is experienced in group community resolution. Mediation
is a formal professional process designed to reach agreed outcomes.
Less formal mechanisms may also be used to work with the authority to
draw up an action plan to move matters forward and again these are
often best done by somebody independent.

In such cases it is particularly important that all parties should
understand that a decision to seek an informal resolution without
investigating the individual complaints means that no conclusion has
been reached about what happened. Furthermore, no decision has
been made about whether the subject member(s) failed to comply with
the Code. Everyone involved should understand that the purpose of
such action is not to find out whether the councillor breached the Code
of Conduct but rather to address the underlying causes. This is
regardless of how simple it may be to establish the facts.

Where a committee is considering an alternative resolution, it should
always consult the monitoring officer. The monitoring officer may be
able to advise the committee how viable the proposed resolution is, by
providing information on the resources available to them. They may be
able to tell the committee how much any proposed resolution might cost
and whether, for example, the authority has access to the facilities or
resources needed to accomplish it, such as qualified mediators.

Where the matters involve the town or parish council the principal
authority cannot compel the town or parish council to meet the costs,
but it may discuss with them the implications that other town and parish

Page 122



councils have experienced when they have failed to take action at an
early stage. These have included officer and councillor resignations,
community disharmony, national level publicity and reputational
damage, staff grievances and settlement costs, excessive Freedom of
Information Act (FoIA) and Data Subject Access requests, additional
external audit inspections and fees and legal challenges and costs.

In considering such issues it is incumbent on the town or parish council
to recognise there will be a need to invest in resolutions to the issues
and it may be that where they are unwilling to seek to resolve the issues
they face, the principal authority may take that into account when
assessing future complaints.

Role of the monitoring officer
Role of the monitoring officer

When a matter has been referred for alternative resolution, you should
inform the relevant parties (see above). You should take care over how
the decision is conveyed. It is important that the wording does not imply
that the councillor is culpable where there has been no formal
investigation. It is also important that councillors do not feel they have
been found guilty without an investigation of the allegation. Above all
avoid the risk that both parties could end up potentially feeling
dissatisfied.

You should set a time limit by which the action must be taken and make
it clear what will happen if it is not undertaken, or not undertaken to your
satisfaction. If, within that time limit, you are satisfied with the outcome
you should notify the relevant parties. The matter is then closed.

If you are not satisfied within the timescales, you must then notify the
relevant parties of whether the matter is nevertheless now closed or
whether you intend to take further action. In doing so you should consult
with the relevant Independent Person.

You should report any outcomes to your standards committee.

What are the next steps if the informal resolution does not

Page 123



work?
In certain cases, you may decide that no further action is required. For
example, if the subject member has made what you consider to be a
reasonable apology or has attended the training, then there is little merit
in pursuing the issue even if the complainant may remain dissatisfied.
An investigation should not be viewed as something that can take place
after an alternative resolution has been attempted and is simply not to
the satisfaction of the complainant. There is a risk otherwise that
alternative resolution will not be taken seriously, and the complainant
will not cooperate if it is seen merely as a precursor to an investigation.

On the other hand, where a subject member has categorically refused
to comply with the proposed resolution, has failed to cooperate or has
taken action you consider inadequate then you should consider whether
a formal investigation is needed, or where the resolution has been
proposed during or at the end of a formal investigation, whether the
matter should be referred for a hearing. Bear in mind that deliberate and
continued failure to cooperate with a monitoring officer who is trying to
deal with a standards issue may amount to a breach of the Model Code.
In deciding on next steps, you should always bear in mind the public
interest and your agreed criteria for considering whether a matter needs
further investigation.

4. Investigations

Introduction and background
This guidance deals with good practice where it has been decided that
an allegation that the Code of Conduct may have been breached merits
a formal investigation.

The Localism Act does not specify how an investigation should be
carried out or by whom but simply asks principal authorities to have
arrangements in place to handle allegations that the Code may have
been broken. In practice we would expect authorities to delegate the
day-to-day handling of a formal investigation to their monitoring officer.
Monitoring officers are at the heart of the standards framework. They

Page 124



promote, educate and support councillors in following the highest
standards of conduct and ensuring that those standards are fully owned
locally.

Principles of investigation
While an investigation under the Localism Act 2011 is not covered by
the right to a fair hearing under Article 6 of the European Convention on
Human Rights as the outcome of any hearing will not impact upon the
rights of the councillor to carry on the role as a councillor, any
investigation must nevertheless abide by the principles of natural justice
(R (Greenslade) v Devon County Council 2019). That means that the
councillor must know what they are accused of and be given the
opportunity to comment on the allegations.

Any investigation should therefore bear in mind some key principles:

Proportionality. That is, the investigation should strive to be
proportionate to the seriousness or complexity of the matter under
investigation. Where a matter is straightforward or relatively
simple, for example where the facts are not in dispute, there may
be no need for any formal investigation, but a report can simply be
written up (see attached table). Equally not all of the steps in this
guidance need be followed in every instance of a formal
investigation – a judgment must be made in each case based on
its complexity and contentiousness.
Fairness. The investigation should make sure that the subject
member knows what they are accused of and has an opportunity
to make comments on the investigation, including on a draft report.
Again, this may depend on the nature of the complaint – for
example, an alleged failure to declare an interest may be largely a
factual matter which needs little or no investigation rather than one
that needs to involve evidence from other parties. A councillor
quickly admitting to an error may not need further detail to be
probed.
Transparency. As far as is practical and having regard to an
individual’s right to confidentiality, investigations should be carried

Page 125



out as transparently as possible – all parties should be kept up to
date with progress in the case.
Impartiality. An investigator should not approach an investigation
with pre-conceived ideas and should avoid being involved where
they have a conflict of interest.

Managing conflicts of interest
A first consideration when deciding how an investigation is to be
handled will be to see whether any conflicts of interest arise for you. As
monitoring officer, you may have taken the decision that an allegation
needs a formal investigation. It would not be a conflict of interest if you
yourself then undertook that investigation. You have simply decided in
the first instance that there is on the face of it a case to answer but have
made no judgment. An investigation is to then establish what exactly did
happen and if it does in fact amount to a breach of the code. So, there
is no conflict in deciding that a matter needs investigating and then
carrying out that investigation yourself.

However, there may be other areas where a potential conflict of interest
could arise. For example:

If you were asked to investigate an allegation against a councillor
and you had advised them on the same issue previously,
regardless of whether or not they had followed your advice;
If you have been involved in assisting the complainant in
formulating their allegation (Her Majesty's Advocate v Alexander
Elliot Anderson Salmond)
If you were the complainant or a potential key witness to the
incident. In such situations, you should delegate the investigation
to somebody else (see section on delegation of investigations);
Where you have tried unsuccessfully to resolve a complaint
informally, for example where one of the parties has refused to
cooperate or refused to accept an apology (see guidance on
informal resolution). In such a case there may be a perception that
you have already made some judgment in the matters at hand.
If you find that you have a direct or indirect interest in an
investigation, for example if a family member or friend is involved.

Page 126



Instead, you should notify the subject member and the complainant
so that the conflict is on the record, explaining that you will not take
any part in the investigation, the reason why and who will carry out
the investigation in your place.

Also bear in mind that if you do the investigation personally a conflict
may arise later in the process if the matter goes to a hearing, and you
are asked to act as adviser to the hearing. You may therefore wish to
consider at the start of an investigation whether you would want to ask
someone else to carry out the investigation if you think you would be
better supporting any hearing panel (see guidance on holding a
hearing). We believe that you should not conduct an investigation and
advise a hearing about the same case. You therefore need to consider
whether it is more important to investigate the matter and delegate the
role of advising a potential hearing, or to delegate the investigative role.

Delegation of investigations
Monitoring officers can delegate investigations to their deputy or to any
other named individual. However, if they do, monitoring officers should
maintain the function of overseeing the investigation unless they are
conflicted out – see section on conflicts of interest – in which case they
should make arrangements for another suitable person to oversee the
investigation.

Under Section 5(1)(b) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989,
local authorities must provide you with sufficient resources to perform
your duties. In many authorities, monitoring officers will be able to
appoint another officer to carry out their investigation. Smaller
authorities may find it useful to make reciprocal arrangements with
neighbouring authorities where they do not already exist formally. This is
to make sure that an experienced officer is available to carry out an
investigation or supervise it, should the need arise.

Authorities may also decide to outsource the investigation to another
organisation or individual. This can be particularly helpful if it is a
complex investigation which may absorb an individual’s time or where it
is politically high-profile or contentious or where there are possible

Page 127



conflicts of interest and it is therefore helpful to have somebody
independent from the authority carrying out the investigation. You may
wish to agree a decision to outsource an investigation with an
Independent Person.

Where you delegate the investigation, you should record the scope of
the delegation in writing and keep this on the investigation file. This is to
ensure that there is no confusion concerning the role and authority of
the person delegated to conduct the investigation. You should be
particularly clear about who is responsible for writing the draft and final
reports. You should also have agreed timelines for delivery of the report.
Where it is likely that this initial timeline cannot be met, for example
because of unavailability of people for interviews or because further
issues emerge, you should have a mechanism to agree and record any
extension and again you may wish to consult with the Independent
Person.

If you intend to advise a hearing panel should the matter go for a
hearing, you should avoid being involved in the preparation of the
investigation report. However, you may want to be able to reserve the
right to decide when the report is of an acceptable quality to be put to
the hearing and, if the recommendation from the investigator is that
there is no breach of the Code you should be clear about who signs off
that report and decides on no further action. We recommend that the
views of the Independent Person are also sought where no further
action is being taken.

You should inform the relevant parties when you delegate an
investigation or make sure that the investigator has done this, so that
they know who is dealing with the case and in case they need to
provide the investigator with more information.

Disclosure of information
You must treat any information you receive during the course of an
investigation as confidential to the investigative process until the
investigation is completed unless there is a statutory requirement to
disclose it, for example when there are parallel criminal investigations

Page 128



being undertaken. Similarly, all parties involved in the conducting of the
investigation should be advised of the confidential nature of the
proceedings.

Starting an investigation
When you decide to start a formal investigation or receive instructions to
carry out an investigation, be clear what it is you are investigating. If the
initial complaint had made several different allegations be clear whether
you are investigating them all or only part of the allegations. You should
also be clear which parts of the Code you are investigating against
although you may decide to include other or different provisions during
the investigation as it develops.

Having established the scope of the investigation you should inform:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town
or parish councillor.

We would suggest that the notice sent to the town or parish council is
sent to the parish clerk, unless sending it to the chair of the council is
more appropriate because of the parish clerk’s involvement in the
complaint (or deputy chair if the chair is the subject member). You may
wish to set out what action you consider the town or parish council
should take (if any) with regards the complaint and requirements related
to confidentiality given that town or parish council standing orders may
require the clerk to report the complaint to the council.

You should explain to all parties what it is you are investigating and
what will happen next. You should also inform the subject member that
they have the right to seek the views of the Independent Person and be
represented at any interviews with the investigator.

Page 129



Conducting the investigation
You must always be aware of your obligations under the Data Protection
Act 2018, UK General Data Protection Regulations the Human Rights
Act 1998 and other relevant legislation, when carrying out an
investigation.

When conducting an investigation, you should be able to make inquiries
of any person you think necessary. However, there is no obligation for
them to respond. If you have difficulties obtaining a response, or a
person refuses to cooperate with the investigation you should not let
this delay the investigation but make sure that is clear in any report you
write.

By law, a monitoring officer can require their authority to provide them
with any advice or assistance they need to help them with their duties.
However, you cannot require a parish or town council to meet the costs
of any investigation into a parish or town councillor or any costs incurred
by the parish or town council in providing advice and assistance with the
investigation.

Evidence of new breaches
During the course of an investigation, you may uncover evidence of
conduct by councillors that breaches the Code of Conduct but extends
beyond the scope of the investigation referred to you. Your powers as
an investigator relate only to the allegation that you have been given.
While that means you may consider other parts of the Code than those
initially considered if they are relevant to the matter in hand, you may
also uncover evidence of a possible breach that does not directly relate
to the allegation you are investigating. If this happens, you should tell
the person you obtained the information from that you cannot
investigate the possible breach as part of your existing investigation.
You should tell them that they may wish to make a separate complaint
to the authority and if the authority considers it needs further action it
could be subsequently added to your investigation or dealt with as a
separate matter.

Page 130



Alternatively, if the matters are serious issues in your view, you may
wish to refer the matters to the authority yourself as a new complaint for
them to make an initial assessment on through their scheme of
delegation. If you hold that delegation (for example as monitoring
officer) you may wish to ask someone else to take a view on whether
the investigation should be extended.

Referring cases back to the authority
During the course of an investigation, it may be necessary to reappraise
if an investigation remains the right course of action, for example, if:

You believe that evidence is uncovered suggesting a case is less
serious than may have seemed apparent to the authority originally
and that a different decision might therefore have been made
about whether to investigate it or not;
You conclude after examining the matter in detail that in fact the
matters under investigation were not done by the subject member
in their role as a councillor or as a representative of the authority
but rather in a private capacity;
You have uncovered something which is potentially more serious
and the authority may want to consider referring it to the police, for
example;
The subject member has died, is seriously ill or has resigned from
the authority and you are of the opinion that it is no longer
appropriate to continue with the investigation;
The subject member has indicated that they wish to make a formal
apology which you consider should draw a line under the matter.

In this context ‘seriously ill’ means that the councillor has a medical
condition which would prevent them from engaging with the process of
an investigation or a hearing for the foreseeable future. This might be a
terminal illness or a degenerative condition. You would be expected to
establish this from a reliable independent and authoritative source other
than the subject member. This would include where a councillor claims
they are suffering from stress brought on by the investigation.

Page 131



Ultimately it will be for the monitoring officer (or as otherwise defined in
the authority’s procedures for handling complaints) to conclude whether
the investigation should continue. In reaching that decision, the
authority should consult with the Independent Person before deciding to
defer or end the investigation.

If the matter has been deferred or ended you should notify the subject
member and the complainant of the decision and provide timescales
within which the matter will be dealt with if it has been deferred. This
would not always be appropriate, however, particularly if the matter has
been referred to the police.

Deferring an investigation
An investigation should be deferred when any of the following
conditions are met:

There are ongoing criminal proceedings or a police investigation
into the councillor’s conduct;
You cannot proceed with your investigation without investigating
similar alleged conduct or needing to come to conclusions of fact
about events which are also the subject of some other
investigation or court proceeding;
Your investigation might prejudice another investigation or court
proceeding.

An investigation may also need to be deferred:

when there is an ongoing investigation by another regulatory body;
because of the serious illness of a key party;
due to the genuine unavailability of a key party.

When it is clear that there is an ongoing police, or other investigation, or
related court proceedings, you should make enquiries about the nature
of the police, or other investigation, or the nature of any court
proceedings. It may be helpful to have an agreed Protocol with the local
police about handling overlapping cases as the police may want you to
carry on your investigation in the first instance.

Page 132



If at any time during the investigation you become aware of any
circumstances that might require the investigation to be deferred, you
should normally notify the subject member of this but again you would
need to be careful where there are other proceedings ongoing. If you
are not the monitoring officer, you should notify the monitoring officer
and seek their consent to the deferral. You or the monitoring officer may
also wish to consult with the Independent Person.

The decision to defer an investigation should be taken by the monitoring
officer. If you have asked someone else to carry out the investigation,
they will need to gather sufficient information from the complainant,
subject member, and from the police or other organisation involved, to
enable you, as the monitoring officer, to come to a decision. You may
wish to seek legal advice at this stage. The reason for the decision to
defer should be specifically set out in the investigation file with
supporting documentation attached.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate some of the alleged
conduct, where there is no overlap with another investigation or court
proceedings. The investigator should highlight those areas where
investigation may be possible in the investigation plan.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate the alleged conduct in
parallel with another investigation, for example where the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman is investigating an authority’s
decisions and you are investigating the conduct of an individual
councillor involved in making the decision. You may need to work
closely with the other organisation and agree the steps that each party
will take.

You should ask the police, other relevant organisation or individual in
writing to keep you informed of the outcome of any police or other
investigation, court proceedings or other relevant matter. You should
note any important dates, for example of committal hearings, in the
investigation plan review. In addition, you may wish to make further
contact with the police, other body or individual to ask for an update on
the matter.

Page 133



A deferred investigation should be kept under regular review, in the
interests of natural justice. You may wish to seek legal advice at regular
intervals, for example every three months, from the date of the deferral
decision about the reasonableness of continued deferral.

Once a decision is taken to begin the investigation again you should
notify in writing:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person; and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town
or parish councillor.

You should also review the investigation plan in light of the outcome of
any police investigation or court proceedings.

Confidentiality
You should treat the information that you gather during your
investigation as confidential. This will help ensure that your investigation
is seen as fair. Maintaining confidentiality reduces the risk of evidence
being viewed as biased and preserves the integrity of the investigation.

We recommend that you also ask the people you interview, and anyone
else aware of the investigation, to maintain confidentiality. You should
remind councillors of their obligations under the Code of Conduct
regarding the disclosure of information that they receive in confidence.

Members of the public are not covered by the Code of Conduct. A
person making an allegation about a councillor is under no responsibility
to the subject member to keep that complaint confidential, but if they do
decide to publish the complaint and it is untrue then the complainant
may well expose themselves to an action for defamation.

When the complaint has been received by the authority, the authority is
then a data controller in respect of the personal data contained within
the complaint and also a body subject to the FoIA.

Page 134



Were the authority to receive a subject access request (SAR) from the
subject member, then the response is likely to be that the complaint will
be disclosed to the subject member anyway for comment. Schedule 2
s.7 of the Data Protection Act 2018(DPA) includes an exemption from
DPA rights where the function is designed to protect members of the
public against dishonesty, malpractice or seriously improper conduct
and the function is of a public nature. Local authority investigations are
likely to fall under this scope and therefore relevant articles of the UK
GDPR including subject access (article 15) do not apply.

There is of course an exemption against disclosure of third-party
personal data, but the complainant can be assumed to have agreed to
the processing of their own personal data. Some thought needs to be
given as to whether other third-party data needs to be redacted, but
sufficient information does need to be provided to the subject member
to allow them to comment on the complaint.

If a request for information about the complaint was received under the
FoIA from a third party, then there would be clear grounds for refusing
that request during an ongoing investigation. 

If you receive a request from a journalist for example, who is asking if a
councillor is under investigation for a specific issue, it would be
reasonable to confirm or deny the fact but explain that no further
comment can be made until the investigative process is complete.

Any draft report that you issue on the outcome of the investigation
should be marked as confidential. This is to preserve the integrity of any
further investigation that you may need to undertake.

Timescales for an investigation
There are many factors that can affect the time it takes to complete an
investigation. Nevertheless, it is important that there are realistic targets
from the outset for the completion of an investigation. This allows the
monitoring officer to monitor the progress of investigations and explore
reasons for any delays where they have delegated the investigation. We

Page 135



recommend that most investigations are carried out, and a report on the
investigation completed, within a maximum of six months of the original
complaint being referred for an investigation.

This will not always be possible, particularly where there is overlapping
jurisdiction or you are waiting for a key piece of evidence from an
external body but if it is to take longer than that, specific permission
should be discussed between the monitoring officer and the
Independent Person, and a note made as to the reasons why.

Refusal by the subject member or other relevant party to cooperate, for
example by not making themselves available for an interview without
good reason, should not be a reason for delay but should be reflected in
the report. If the subject member refuses to cooperate that of itself is a
potential breach of the Model Code and may be something that any
decision maker in a case may want to take account of.

Draft reports
The investigator should produce a draft report. If they are not the
monitoring officer, they should share the draft initially with the monitoring
officer and the independent person so that they can satisfy themselves
that the investigation is of an acceptable standard and met the scope of
the complaint. Once the monitoring officer is satisfied, the draft report
should then be sent to the relevant parties with a deadline for
commenting.

Where criticism is made of a third party (for example a witness) who will
not otherwise have an opportunity to comment on a draft report then a
Maxwellisation process (Maxwellisation is the process by which people
who may be subject to criticism in public reports can comment on those
proposed criticisms before the report is published) should be followed
before a draft report is completed.

You are under no obligations to accept any comments made but where
you do not accept comments you should make a note explaining why.
Exceptionally you may need to issue a second draft if there have been
significant changes.

Page 136



Completion of an investigation
On completion of an investigation, the monitoring officer may decide:

to take no further action;
to seek to resolve the matter informally; or
to refer the matter to a hearing if it is part of the authority’s
procedures to refer the matter to a separate hearing by a panel or
standards committee (see guidance on hearings).

In doing so the monitoring officer must consult with the relevant
Independent Person.

In general, the investigation should be regarded as completed when the
monitoring officer receives the final report and accepts that no further
investigation is necessary.

Purpose of the report
The report should be treated as an explanation of all the essential
elements of the case and a justification for why you have concluded
there has been a breach or not. The report should cover:

agreed facts;
any disputed facts together with your view, if appropriate, as to
which version is more likely;
whether those facts amount to a breach of the code or not; and
your reasons for reaching that conclusion.

Final reports
The final report should be issued by the monitoring officer and must be
sent to:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;
the relevant parish or town council of which the subject member is
a councillor.

Page 137



The report must make one of the following findings on the balance of
probabilities:

that there have been one or more failures to comply with the Code
of Conduct;
that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been no breach of the
Code, that should usually be the end of the matter though they may
want to send the report or a summary to the standards committee
where you have one for information purposes only or to consider wider
lessons.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been a breach of the
Code, the monitoring officer will decide what action, if any, to take and
notify the relevant parties. For example, they may decide to seek an
informal resolution at this stage or decide that the matter is merely a
technical breach which will not lead to any sanction. In doing so the
monitoring officer should consult with the independent person.

If the monitoring officer decides the matter should be referred for a
hearing, the report should be accompanied by information explaining
that a hearing will be held and the procedure to be followed. (see
guidance on holding a hearing)

Publishing a report
Where a matter has been referred to a hearing you do not need to
publish the report as that will be dealt with at the Hearings Stage.

Where you have concluded that there has been no breach, that no
further action is needed, or the matter has been resolved in some other
way you do not need to publish the investigation report but you should
report the matter to your standards committee. If the matter has
generated local interest you may consider putting out a brief statement
explaining the outcome and your reasoning. The report may also be
disclosable under a Freedom of Information request but that would need

Page 138



to be considered depending on the content of each report, the need to
redact personal information and careful consideration given to the public
interest test as to whether it should be disclosed or not.

Report checklist
Your report should contain the information listed below.

a ‘confidential’ marking
a ‘draft’ or ‘final’ marking
the date
the legislation under which the investigation is being carried out
a summary of the complaint
the relevant sections of the Code
evidence
your findings of fact
your reasoning
your finding as to whether there has been a failure to comply with
the Code.

The level of detail required will vary for each report, depending on the
complexity of information to be considered and presented. The report
should, however, contain documents that you have relied on in reaching
your conclusions. These may include:

a chronology of events
summaries of conversations, correspondence and notes of
interviews with witnesses.

In addition, the covering letter you send with the draft report should
explain that the report does not necessarily represent your final finding.
You should also explain that you will produce a final report once you
have considered any comments received on the draft report.

When you send the final report, you should also explain that the report
represents your final findings and, if it is to be subject to a hearing, it will
be for the panel to decide if they agree with your view or not. It is

Page 139



important that the report has the date of its completion on the front
page. This provides clear evidence of when the time within which a
hearing should be held begins.

The date of the hearing should be within three months from the date the
monitoring officer, or delegated officer, completes the final report (see
guidance on hearings).

There should be no appeal allowed either for the subject member or the
complainant. Where a breach has been found and the matter is going to
a hearing the parties will have their chance to have their say on the
investigation at that stage. Where no breach has been found, no action
taken or the matter otherwise resolved, that will be the end of the
matter.

5. Investigation practicalities

Outsourced investigations
There are a number of reasons why you might outsource an
investigation. This may be because of the complexity of the matters
means that you want an experienced investigator to carry out the
investigation. High-profile or politically contentious cases may require a
greater degree of independence from the authority to be demonstrated.
It may also be because the authority’s investigatory resources internally
are limited or at capacity due to other workloads.

In addition, most successful investigation report writers have experience
of writing reports for lay people or councillors. They understand that
their reports need to be clear enough for someone with no legal
background to understand how they reached their decision. They also
need to be clear enough to show what factors were taken into account
when reaching that decision. You would need to consider if you have
that capacity in your organisation.

Objectivity is also important. It may be difficult for an officer to consider
whether a colleague was bullied or treated disrespectfully for example.
There will be cases when an officer can investigate a complaint where a

Page 140



colleague is the complainant. However, this can only be done if you are
sure that they have the necessary impartiality to conduct the
investigation, with no perception of bias.

It is important, however, to stay in control of outsourced investigations.
To do so you will need to do the following:

1. Agree the scope of any delegation. In particular be clear who has
responsibility for preparing the investigation report and if necessary,
presenting it to a hearing panel;
2. Agree the scope of the investigation. In particular be clear what
allegations are being investigated and what should happen if the
investigator discovers evidence of further potential breaches of the
Code of Conduct;
3. Agree a firm deadline. You need to agree when the case will be
completed and consider whether there will be any financial
implications if the case is not completed on time;
4. Agree interim deadlines. You should agree when you will receive
key pieces of work including the investigation plan, the draft report
and the final report. If the investigating officer is new, then you may
wish to programme in regular investigation updates;

Agree the payment structure. You may want to consider how you
structure the payment for investigations. It is not unreasonable to pay
per stage of work completed, and for any additional investigative stages
to be agreed as and when they occur.

Start of an investigation
Draw up an investigation plan. This will help focus you on making the
investigation as effective as possible. The plan should include:

The complaint made against the subject member. You may find it
necessary to seek clarification from the complainant;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct that may have been
breached. Please note that you do not need to accept the
complainant’s interpretation of what paragraphs may have been
breached. It is helpful to breakdown each potential failure to
comply into the component parts of each provision. For example,

Page 141



in considering whether a councillor has misused their position
improperly to gain an advantage you may need evidence to
demonstrate that:

1) the councillor used their position;

2) the councillor used their position improperly;

3) the councillor conferred or attempted to confer an advantage or
disadvantage.

The facts which need to be determined to establish if the councillor
breached the Code and to decide what the appropriate finding
might be. They need to include:

               1) facts which would establish if the conduct happened as
alleged;

       2) facts that would need to be proven to show that the conduct
constituted a  

     breach of the Code;

    3) facts which might aggravate or mitigate the alleged breach, for
example, provocation or an apology.

 

The evidence that you would need to determine the issues outlined
in your plan. This includes who you will need to interview and why;
The evidence that has already been supplied by the complainant;
How you plan to gather any further evidence you are likely to need;
Any documents you are likely to need to see such as minutes of
meetings or register of interest forms and you can get them from;
If you are not the monitoring officer and are doing the investigation
under delegation, make sure you have confirmation on the extent
and scope of the investigation and build in check-in points with the
monitoring officer on progress;
How long you think it is likely to take you.

If at any stage in the investigative process there are significant changes
to any of the above areas, an investigation plan review may need to be
completed.

Page 142



Contact the complainant and subject member to advise them of your
contact details and provide them with a preliminary timescale for the
investigation. You should also remind the subject member of their right
to seek the views of an Independent Person.

At the end of your investigation, you should have documents which
chart the approach you took to the investigation, the reasons for this
approach, and when you changed your approach if appropriate. You do
not need to share these documents with the parties involved in the
investigation – they are for you to use as you wish. Their main function
is as a planning tool, but they also provide an audit trail should your
investigation be the subject of a complaint or review.

The investigation
Information requests

Documentary evidence should be sought before you conduct any
interviews and at the earliest opportunity. The list in your investigation
plan should form the basis of the first contact you make with the parties
and other witnesses.

You may invite the subject member to provide an initial response to the
allegation in writing when first making written contact with them. This
gives councillors the opportunity to admit to the breach if they would like
to do so, and could then save time and effort for all involved. A written
response may also provide you with additional useful information before
the interview stage.

Where you make a specific request for information this should be made
in writing, even if the initial contact is made by phone. Explain the
authority you have for asking for the documents and the broad purpose
for which you need the document, for example ‘an investigation into the
conduct of Councillor X’. You do not need to provide the detail of the
complaint against the councillor at this stage. You should also outline
the confidentiality requirements that relate to the information request
and set a deadline for response.

Page 143



In certain cases, you may wish for a subject member or other party not
to be made aware of a request for evidence. For example, if you
consider that this might lead to destruction of evidence by one of the
parties or to the improper collaboration of witnesses. In such
circumstances it may be appropriate to arrange to meet with the
witness, having given them a brief outline of your role. You can then
make your request for the relevant documents during the meeting. It is
important here that you explain what powers you have to obtain
information. If in doubt, it may be prudent to seek legal advice on how to
proceed.

If the request for information is refused it is likely to prove time
consuming and legally complex to try to pursue the matter. It may be
easier to see if there is another route to obtaining the same information.

Interviewing
Your goal in interviewing is to obtain the most informed, reliable
evidence possible. It is not to ambush or catch out interviewees.

Order of interviews
You may have spoken the subject member initially for their initial
reaction, but you will normally interview the subject member again
formally at the end of the investigation, when you have gathered all your
evidence, if they have not admitted to the breach at first contact. This
will give you the opportunity to put that evidence to the subject member
and obtain their responses to it.

Where practicable it may be best to carry out consecutive interviews on
the same day if you are concerned that witnesses may collude or use
information provided to them.

You may also wish to re-interview the complainant near the end of the
investigation on the same timescale as you are interviewing the subject
member. This may allow you to get them to agree facts. It also gives
them an opportunity to comment on issues that have been raised during
the course of the investigation and provides an opportunity to present
potential inconsistencies to the relevant parties for comment.

Page 144



The format of the interview
It might be more appropriate to conduct face-to-face or virtual interviews
than telephone interviews if:

1. the matters involved are sensitive;
2. the interviewee is vulnerable;
3. you or they will need to refer to multiple documents during the
interview;
4. the interviewee wishes to have a representative or colleague
present;
5. the interview is with the subject member.

It may be more appropriate to conduct a telephone interview if:

1. there are significant resource implications, either in terms of cost or
time in conducting a face-to-face interview;
2. the interview does not fall into one of the categories outlined
above.

If a subject member or witness insists on a face-to-face interview, then
serious consideration should be given to their request. You should
specifically check that there is no medical or disability-related reason for
their request. If there is, then you should conduct a face-to-face
interview. If there is no medical or disability-related reason, then the
decision is at your discretion. If you still wish to proceed with a
telephone interview despite their request, then you should outline your
decision in writing on the file. This is to show that it was both
proportionate and reasonable.

Do not conduct joint interviews. It is important that each witness gives
their own account without having their recollection influenced by hearing
another person’s account. An interviewee may, however, have a friend
or adviser present. If so that person should not be someone who is a
witness, and they should be asked to keep the matters confidential. If
an interviewee is a vulnerable person or a minor, you may wish to
ensure that you are accompanied by another person.

Page 145



The venue
If you are conducting a face-to-face interview, try to ensure that the
venue is:

1. mutually convenient on neutral territory – this would generally
include local authority offices but this may not always be appropriate;
2. in a private room where you cannot be overheard;
3. a place where the interviewee will feel comfortable and is unlikely
to be seen by people whose presence may intimidate or upset them,
for example, the complainant or subject member;
4. is safe for you, the investigating officer - please refer to any
authority policy on lone working.

Occasionally it may be appropriate to conduct an interview at the home
of the interviewee. This should generally be at the request of the
interviewee, but you should only do this if you feel safe and there is no
suitable alternative.

Information you should provide interviewees
You should provide the following information in writing to the
interviewee:

1. Confirmation of the agreed time, date and venue or that it is a
telephone or virtual interview.
2. Confirmation that the interview will be recorded, if appropriate.
3. Confirmation that the interviewee can have a legal or other
representative with them, but that the representative must not be a
potential witness in the investigation. Ask that they provide you with
the name and status of their representative before the interview.
4. Why you are conducting the interview.
5. How the information they give you in the interview may be used.
6. The circumstances in which the information that they give you
during the interview may be made public.
7. The confidentiality requirements that they are under as an
interviewee.

Page 146



8. Details and copies of any documents you may refer to during the
interview.
9. In the case of the subject member, details and copies of any
evidence you have gathered and which you may refer to in your
report.

You do not have to disclose witness testimony prior to the interview,
depending on the nature of that testimony and whether you want the
interviewee’s account prior to putting the witness’s testimony to them.
However, you may wish to disclose a witness’s testimony during an
interview once you have obtained the interviewee’s own account.

You could also consider providing an outline of the areas you intend to
cover at interview.

Note: if you only need to confirm one or two factual details with a local
authority officer you may contact them by phone and do not need to
forewarn them. However, when obtaining this information, you should:

1. orally outline all of the information you would otherwise have
provided in writing as set out above;
2. check that they are happy to give it to you then, rather than at an
agreed date in the future;
3. confirm the detail of information they do provide, in writing.

Special circumstances
If an interviewee has additional needs, for example a disability (seen or
unseen) or language barrier you should make reasonable provisions to
cater for their specific needs. If an interviewee is vulnerable or a minor,
then they should always be accompanied by a third party at the
interview.

Structuring an interview
Interviews should be planned in advance. You can plan your questions
using the following suggested format:

1. Divide the information you require into discrete issues. For
example, Issue 1: The planning meeting on date x; Issue 2: The

Page 147



planning meeting on date y.
2. Make a note of the evidence you have already obtained about each
issue.
3. Note how you would briefly summarise the evidence to the
interviewee.

Conducting the interview
All important interviews should be recorded where possible or else
detailed notes taken which are agreed afterwards with the interviewee.
The only exception is when the interview is likely to cover only a small
number of factual matters. In this case, it may be more appropriate to
resolve these factual matters in writing. Before recording an interview,
you should:

1. obtain the consent of the interviewee before you start recording the
interview;
2. ask them to record their consent on the record once you have
started and; offer to send the interviewee a copy of the transcript or
draft interview statement, whichever is applicable.

If they ask, you can send them a copy of the recording too. If you are
concerned that the interviewee may share the transcript with other
witnesses, you can delay sending the transcript or recording until you
have completed all of your interviews.

The interviewee should not normally be allowed to make a recording of
the interview. This is to prevent collusion between interviewees and any
possibility of record tampering.

Interview recordings should be destroyed as soon as a transcript of the
interview has been produced and agreed as accurate.

At the start of the interview
When the interviewee arrives, try and put them at ease;

1. Before you start the formal interview, inform the interviewee that
there is a standard interview preamble that you must take them
through. This ensures that any rapport you have established is

Page 148



unlikely to be lost when you take them through the legal framework of
the interview;
2.  Confirm that the interview will be recorded and put the recording
device in a visible place on the desk;
3. With their permission start recording;
4. Ask them to confirm for the record that they consent to the
recording;
5. Confirm for the record who you are, and why you are conducting
the Interview;
6. State the date and time for the record;
7. Confirm that they received your letter outlining the arrangements
for the interview;
8. Confirm that they read and understood your letter and ask if they
have any questions about any of the information within it;
9. If the interview is with the subject member, repeat orally all of the 
 information contained in your letter;
10. If the interviewee is at all unclear about anything, then repeat
orally all of the information contained in your letter;
11. Explain that they can take a break whenever they choose; 
12. Explain that you will offer them a break if the interview goes over
an hour,  even if they have not said that they want one;
13. Tell them how long the interview is likely to take and ask them if
they have a time by which it needs to end; 
14.  Explain that they can ask you to rephrase a question if they
don’t understand it.

During the interview
1. Start the interview with the subject member with some background
questions. These could include ‘how long have you been a councillor,
or ‘what training have you had on the Code of Conduct?’.
2. Do not ask multiple questions. Ask one question at a time, and do
not ask another question until the interviewee has answered your first
question;
3. Do not dart back and forth between different issues as you are
liable to confuse yourself and the interviewee;

Page 149



4. Tackle one subject issue at a time;
5. Ask open questions about information the interviewee or other
witnesses have provided about the issue;
6. Drill down. In other words, ask open questions about one specific
issue until you have all the information you need on it;
7. Where relevant ask the interviewee to reconcile differing accounts;
8. Ask closed questions to confirm the information you have obtained
about the specific issue;
9. Move onto the next issue using the same method. Start with a
broad open question about the subject, drill down for information with
specific open questions. Conclude the area by asking closed
questions to confirm what you have been told;
10. Do not ask leading questions, for example, ‘You said this to the
clerk, didn’t you?’;
11. Do not ask the interviewee to speculate;
12. Accurately put the evidence of other interviewees to the
interviewee and ask for their response;
13. When asked, explain the relevance of your question;
14. Do not allow the interviewee’s lawyer or representative to answer
a question;
15. You must allow the interviewee to stop and obtain advice
whenever they choose;
16. If the interviewee becomes upset or unwell you must offer them a
break;
17. Never raise your voice. Only interrupt if the interviewee is being
unreasonable or is not providing relevant information;
18. You should be mindful of avoiding oppressive or repetitive
questioning. If an interviewee will not properly answer a question,
despite significant attempts to obtain a satisfactory response, then
you should move on to another point or issue;
19. Do not question the subject member about matters which fall
outside the scope of the complaint;
20. If the interviewee wants a break, record the time of the break on
the record and the time you resume the interview. Ask the interviewee
to confirm for the record that you did not discuss anything about the
case with them during the break.

Page 150



Closing the interview
1. State the time the interview finished;
2. Thank the interviewee for their time and outline what will happen
next;

After the interview
1. Send the interviewee a copy of the transcript;
2. State in the letter that if you do not hear from them by a specified
date, you will assume the transcript is agreed;
3. If the content of the transcript is disputed, check the discrepancies
against the recording;
4. If the transcript is confirmed by the recording, write to the
interviewee to inform them of this. In these circumstances, if the
matter is referred to a hearing, submit the transcript, the recording,
the interviewee’s letter outlining the dispute, and your response.

Evaluating the information after an interview
1. Review your investigation plan in light of the information gathered
during the interview;
2. Review all the evidence you have gathered to determine if there
are any gaps in it;
3. Take a view on all disputed relevant matters. Your own opinion on
the evidence is sufficient. However, if you are unable to come to a
decision, you may need to seek further information or decide that you
are unable to reach a conclusion;
4. Weigh up all the evidence and decide if the alleged conduct
occurred;
5. If you decide that the subject member acted as alleged, you will
need to consider whether their conduct involved a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct;
6. If you decide the subject member breached the Code, consider
whether you have evidence of any mitigating or aggravating
circumstances. If not, you may need to seek further information.

Page 151



Drafting the report
When you have concluded your investigation, you will need to write up
your findings in a report which should contain the following information:

1. who the report is for;
2. who the report is by;
3. the date of the report.

Executive summary
This should include:

1. the full allegation and who it was made by;
2. the provisions of the Code of Conduct that were considered;
3. a conclusion as to whether there has been a failure to comply with
the Code the finding;
4. any relevant extracts from the Code and any other legislation or
protocols considered in the report.

Evidence gathered and the investigator’s consideration
1. Set out all the relevant evidence you have gathered even if it does
not support the conclusions you have reached;
2. State what you consider has taken place based upon your
evaluation of this evidence;
3. Set out undisputed facts as facts. Do not summarise them or
preface them ‘he said’ or ‘the minutes state’. If they are undisputed
just state them as fact.
4. Where there is a disputed fact, outline the different views and your
conclusion on them. You need to form a conclusion based on the
balance of probabilities. Also state why you have reached this
conclusion. For example:

The clerk, Councillor Jones and Councillor Smith met at
Councillor Jones’s house on y date at x time;
At interview the clerk stated that Councillor Jones said…..
At interview Councillor Smith stated that Councillor Jones told
the clerk…

Page 152



At interview Councillor Jones stated that he told the clerk…
I have considered the following issues when deciding
what Councillor Jones said to the clerk… I consider at on the
balance of probabilities Councillor Jones told the clerk…because…

  5. Include any mitigating or aggravating factors, such as the state of
mind of those involved.
  6. When you refer in the report to material in the evidence bundle,
identify the document referred to.

Summary of the material facts
Summarise the facts needed to confirm the conclusions you have
reached. Where there was a disputed fact, you will only need to include
the conclusion you came to.

If the subject member has made additional submissions which you do
not consider relevant to the case outline why you do not deem
information or opinions submitted by the subject member to be relevant.

Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct

1. Make each alleged breach in turn.
2. Outline which part of the Code of Conduct you are considering.
Explain the test you are applying when determining if there has been
a failure to comply with the Code.
3. Explain in detail, giving reasons, why you do or do not consider
that the conduct constitutes a breach of the Code.
4. Do not introduce any new facts or opinions. You must only refer to
evidence or opinions that have been outlined earlier in the report.

Make sure your explanation of the test you are applying, and the
reasons for your conclusions, are detailed and clear enough to
understand for a lay person with no legal background.

Finding
You should make a finding about each alleged breach of the Code:

Page 153



1. Outline in detail the reason for your decision
2. Refer to aggravating or mitigating facts, which must be outlined in
the facts section earlier in the report.

Schedule
Your report should include any documents taken into account:

1. Exhibit all the evidence upon which you have relied when reaching
your conclusion;
2. In complex cases it may be appropriate to provide a chronology;
3. Provide a list of unused material if appropriate.

Issuing a draft report
You should send a draft report, sending a copy to the subject member
and the complainant and inviting their comments by a specified date. If
you have carried out an investigation on behalf of the monitoring officer,
you should first of all make sure they are happy that the draft is to an
acceptable standard.

The draft should not be sent to other witnesses or parties interviewed,
but you should seek confirmation of their evidence from them before
issuing the report.

Ensure that the draft report is clearly marked as ‘Draft’ and ‘Confidential’
(though it can be discussed with a legal representative) and make clear
that the report may be subject to change and does not represent your
final conclusion.

If you have found the subject member in breach, make sure that the
evidence that you have relied upon when reaching this conclusion is
clearly marked in the report.

You must consider whether any of the information in the draft report is
sensitive personal information that should not go into the public domain,
for example, medical reports details or personal contact details.
Information of this nature should be edited from the draft and final report
unless it is essential to the reasoning.

Page 154



Comments on the draft
Responses to your draft may reveal the need for further investigation, or
they may add nothing of relevance. Occasionally changes may be
significant enough for you to consider issuing a second draft.

Once you have considered whether the responses add anything of
substance to the investigation, you will be able to make your final
conclusions and recommendations.

Where comments on the draft are critical of the investigation or the
investigator, you may need to consider how to respond to the
complaints made. You should not let such criticisms prevent a draft
report being finalised, however, unless this is unavoidable. In particular,
the investigation process, including writing the report, should not be
suspended while a complaint about the investigation is dealt with.
Complaints about the conduct of investigators should be dealt with in
the same way as other service complaints.

You should keep a written record of your consideration of any
comments received on the draft. It is best practice to provide a written
response to the party explaining your position or referring them to the
relevant paragraph of the report. This can be done when they are sent
the final report. You should avoid getting drawn into lengthy
correspondence with the subject member or other interested parties
where they disagree with the draft. You should confine comments to
matters of fact rather than personal opinions as to how the investigation
was done or the opinion you have reached. However, you will need to
show that you took all reasonable steps to address concerns.

If you receive further comments after the final report has been issued
you should explain that the investigation is now closed and refer them to
the person who is dealing with any hearing if appropriate.

The final report
You must state that the report represents your final finding. If you have
found the subject member in breach you should make sure the
reasoning for that conclusion and any supporting evidence is clear. You

Page 155



must consider whether any of the information in the report or evidence
bundle is confidential information that should not go into the public
domain, for example, medical details, personal contact details or
signatures. All information of this nature should be edited from the final
report unless it is essential to the reasoning.

You should send the final report to the monitoring officer if you are not
the monitoring officer who will then issue the report. If you are the
monitoring officer, you must send your report to:

1. The subject member
2. The Independent Person

A copy may also be made available to the complainant and others as
you think appropriate.

The monitoring officer must decide whether:

1. There has been no breach and therefore no further action will be
taken;
2. There have been one or more breaches, but no further action is
needed;
3. There have been one or more breaches, but the matters should be
resolved in a way other than by a hearing; or
4. That the matters be referred to a hearing.

This should be made clear in the letter accompanying the report and if
the monitoring officer decides that the matter should be referred to a
hearing panel, they should arrange for that to happen as soon as
possible (see separate section on hearings). The letter should also
make clear what if any aspects of the report are confidential but that it
can be discussed with a legal representative. If the matter is being
referred to a hearing it should be made clear that the whole report
remains confidential until the time of the Hearing to avoid prejudicing
any considerations.

Page 156



Confidentiality during the investigation
While it is important during the course of an investigation to preserve
confidentiality so as not to compromise the integrity of the investigation,
in practice in some circumstances, maintaining the confidentiality of an
investigation can be difficult. However, it is important that you take all
reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of your investigation, as
failure to do so may compromise the investigation. To help maintain
confidentiality:

1. Mark all of your letters, transcripts and reports as confidential;
2. Outline why you have marked it confidential but clearly inform
subject members in writing that they can appoint a solicitor, or other
person, to act as their representative. You must also clearly inform
them that they can disclose any relevant document to this
representative.
3. You should state that their representative should not be someone
who may be involved in the investigation;
4. It is important that you make it clear to all parties that they should
make any approach to witnesses in writing. This is to avoid confusion
that might arise about the investigative process;
5. When arranging interviews ask interviewees to identify the name of
any person who is accompanying them to the interview. Also ask
them to state what their relationship is to the interviewee. You should
explicitly state, in writing, that they should not be accompanied by
anyone who may be called as a witness in the investigation;
6. If you think it is possible that witnesses may discuss their
testimonies with each other, you should not send the transcripts of
any interviews until all of the interviews have been concluded. This
may mean that you send interview transcripts out with the draft report;
7. Where you are interviewing a number of people who have close
relationships with one another, it may be prudent to interview them
immediately after each other. This reduces any opportunity for
collaboration.

Page 157



If confidentiality is breached you should write to the party reminding
them of the confidentiality requirements and, if they are a councillor, of
their duties under the Model Code of Conduct. If you have evidence that
information was disclosed to a party prior to their interview, you can take
this into account when evaluating the reliability of the witness’s
evidence. If the disclosure was made by a councillor, you can consider
making a formal complaint about their conduct.

6. The hearings process
Once a formal investigation has taken place, the monitoring officer may
refer the matter to a hearing.

There is no prescription in the legislation that says a matter has to go to
a hearing or how that hearing may be conducted. Whatever approach
you decide to take it must follow the rules of natural justice and comply
with the obligations to ensure a fair hearing under Article 6 of the
Human Rights Act. In line with the principle of proportionality the
approach you take may depend upon the seriousness of the issue. For
example, if you are satisfied that the investigation has allowed all sides
to have their say the panel may simply review the report without further
reference to the parties.

This guidance is written however on the presumption that a hearings
panel of some form, consisting of elected councillors, will be convened.

The legislation stipulates that, where it is a town or parish council case,
the matter is dealt with by the principal authority.

Throughout this guidance we will refer to panel, but by that we mean a
committee or a sub-committee which the local authority (or a committee,
such as an Audit or Standards Committee) has delegated responsibility
to determine the outcome of certain complaints that individual
councillors have breached the Code of Conduct.

Page 158



Convening a hearing
At the end of the investigation, a hearing may be called where the
investigator has concluded that there has been a breach of the Code of
Conduct and the monitoring officer has concluded that the matter
cannot otherwise be resolved informally (see guidance on informal
resolution).

For reasons of fairness and proportionality a hearing should wherever
possible take place within three months of the date on which the
investigator’s report was completed. Where that is not possible, for
example because the matter is awaiting the outcome of other matters
being dealt with by outside bodies or other investigations into the
subject member, the monitoring officer should notify the relevant parties
of the reason for the delay and provide an estimated timescale.

However, the hearing should not take place sooner than 14 days after
the investigation report has been issued unless the subject member
agrees. This is to allow them sufficient time to prepare their defence and
consider any witnesses they may wish to call for example (see section
on the pre-hearing process below)

Once a date has been set for a Hearing the monitoring officer should
notify:

the subject member;
the investigator;
the relevant Independent Person;
the complainant if appropriate;
the clerk of any relevant town or parish council.

They should also outline the hearing procedure; the subject member’s
rights and they should additionally ask for a written response from the
subject member within a set time. This is to find out whether the subject
member:

wants to be represented at the hearing
disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the investigation report,
including reasons for any of these disagreements

Page 159



wants to give evidence to the hearing, either verbally or in writing
wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the standards
committee
wants to request any part of the hearing to be held in private
wants to request any part of the investigation report or other
relevant documents to be withheld from the public.

The investigator should also be asked if they wish to call any witnesses.

If the subject member is unable to make the specified date the panel
may arrange for the hearing to be held on a different date, provided that
they are satisfied that the subject member has given an acceptable
reason. Where the subject member does not give an acceptable reason
or does not reply within a specified time, the panel should proceed with
the date and may consider the report in the subject member’s absence
if the subject member does not go to the hearing. The subject member
should not be able to evade having the case heard simply by refusing to
cooperate and the Model Code makes failure to cooperate a potential
breach. However, the panel should make clear at the start of the
hearing that they have considered whether they can proceed in the
absence of the subject member and should record their reasons.

If one or more witnesses are unavailable on the given date the
monitoring officer, in consultation with the chair of the panel, should
decide how material they would be to the hearing and whether another
date needs to be looked for. Witnesses, especially members of the
public, often play an important part in the process and should be treated
with courtesy and respect although it may be that their views were
already sought as part of the investigation so the panel would need to
evaluate how they could proceed without them. Witnesses should be
kept promptly informed of the relevant dates, times and location of the
hearing.

Except in the most complicated cases, the panel should aim to
complete a hearing in one sitting or in consecutive sittings of no more
than one working day in total. When scheduling hearings, you should

Page 160



bear in mind that late- night and very lengthy hearings are not ideal for
effective decision-making. Equally, having long gaps between sittings
can lead to repetition or important matters being forgotten.

Role of the monitoring officer
It is important that the panel receives high quality, independent advice.
For this reason, a monitoring officer should be the main adviser to the
standards committee, unless they have an interest in the matter that
would prevent them from performing this role independently. This may
be because they have carried out the investigation or have another
conflict (see guide on investigations). If this situation arises, a
monitoring officer should arrange for another appropriately qualified
officer to advise the standards committee.

The monitoring officer or other legal adviser’s role in advising the panel
is to:

make sure that members of the standards committee understand
their powers and procedures
make sure that the procedure is fair and will allow the complaint to
be dealt with as efficiently and effectively as possible
make sure that the subject member understands the procedures
the panel will follow
provide advice to the panel during the hearing and their
deliberations.
help the panel produce a written decision and a summary of that
decision.

Monitoring officers play an important role in advising their councillors on
a day-to-day basis. When performing this role, monitoring officers need
to be aware of the potential conflicts of interest that can arise, as these
conflicts could prevent them from advising the panel at a later stage.

Monitoring officers will need to be aware of the potential conflicts
involved in investigating a matter, advising the panel and advising
councillors (see also guidance on investigations).

Page 161



However, conflicts of interest are not likely to arise simply from informal
discussions between councillors and monitoring officers.

You may wish to consider options for reducing the likelihood of such
conflicts, including:

arranging for another officer to advise councillors
continuing to advise councillors, while identifying possible
scenarios that may lead to future conflicts.

You should also ensure that if your advice could be relevant to an
investigation, you have another appropriately experienced officer who is
prepared to support the panel in its hearings and deliberations.

Smaller authorities in particular may find it useful to make arrangements
with neighbouring authorities to make sure that when a conflict arises,
an appropriately experienced officer is available to advise the panel.

Composition of the panel
The panel should be drawn from the main body of the standards
committee. If the panel includes independent representatives or parish
representatives, they do not have voting rights by law.

You will need to be clear whether political proportionality applies to the
panel or whether it has been waived by the local authority.

All panel members should have undergone suitable training.

Holding a pre-hearing
As soon as a date has been set for a hearing the panel should hold a
private pre-hearing. This could be done in writing or just between the
monitoring officer and the Committee chair for expediency. The purpose
of the pre-hearing process is to allow matters at the hearing to be dealt
with more fairly and economically. This is because it quickly alerts
parties to possible areas of difficulty and, if possible, allows them to be
resolved before the hearing itself. The pre-hearing should also decide
who will chair the panel.

At the pre-hearing the panel should:

Page 162



Decide whether any of the findings of fact in the investigation
report are in dispute and, if so, how relevant they are likely to be at
the hearing. For example, if the dispute is about the time of a
particular conversation but that time is not relevant to whether the
Code has been breached or not, there would be little point
focussing on that. On the other hand, if that alleged discrepancy
were material the panel needs to satisfy itself how it would resolve
that difference at the hearing.
Consider any additional evidence it considers is required at the
hearing.
Identify any witnesses it thinks it would want to hear from.
Decide if witnesses which the subject member or investigator may
want to call are relevant bearing in mind the nature of the issue
and the need for proportionality. For example, if an incident has
occurred at full council there would be no need to call every
member as a witness but equally the panel may feel it needs to
hear from a couple of witnesses representing different sides.
Similarly, if the subject member decides to call a number of
character witnesses the panel should take a view as to how
relevant that is and how many would suffice.
Consider whether there are any parts of the hearing that are likely
to be held in private or whether any parts of the investigation report
or other documents should be withheld from the public prior to the
hearing, on the grounds that they contain ‘exempt’ material (see
section on confidentiality below) though the final decision will rest
with the panel on the day. The presumption should be to hold a
public hearing unless there is specific exempt or confidential
information as defined by Part VA of the Local Government Act
1972 so identifying that at the pre-hearing will have some bearing
on publication of any relevant papers.
Identify any potential conflicts of interest, for example any close
associations with the people involved or potential witnesses. The
monitoring officer will advise if any conflicts mean that a councillor
should stand down from the panel.

Page 163



It is important that at the pre-hearing panel members do not debate the
merits of the case.

Note that this pre-hearing would not of itself be a formal meeting so
would not be open and often these matters can be dealt with through
correspondence. Once the pre-hearing has been held the monitoring
officer should write to everyone involved in the complaint at least two
weeks before the hearing. This should confirm the date, time and place
for the hearing, note whether the subject member or investigator will be
represented at the hearing. It should also list those witnesses, if any,
who will be asked to give evidence and outline the proposed procedure
for the hearing.

The hearing
A hearing is like any other committee or sub-committee of the authority
and as such must follow the rules that apply to committees. This means
that it must reflect the political proportionality of the local authority as a
whole unless the authority has waived proportionality and that only
elected members of the authority are entitled to vote at the Hearing. The
rules around access to information also apply as they do to other
committees – that is the hearing will be in public unless there are lawful
reasons for all or part of it to be heard as exempt or confidential
matters.

Panel members should bear in mind that it is not a court of law. It does
not hear evidence under oath, but it does decide factual evidence on
the balance of probabilities.

The panel should work at all times in a demonstrably fair, independent
and politically impartial way. This helps to ensure that members of the
public, and councillors, have confidence in its procedures and findings.
Decisions should be seen as open, unprejudiced and unbiased. All
concerned should treat the hearing process with respect and with
regard to the potential seriousness of the outcome, for the subject
member, the local authority and the public. For the subject member, an
adverse decision by the committee can result in significant reputational
damage.

Page 164



Representatives
The subject member may choose to be represented by counsel, a
solicitor, or by any other person they wish. This should have been
agreed at the pre-hearing and if the panel has any concern about the
person chosen to represent the subject member, they should have
made that clear beforehand. The panel does, however, have the right to
withdraw its permission to allow a representative if that representative
disrupts the hearing. However, an appropriate warning will usually be
enough to prevent more disruptions and should normally be given
before permission is withdrawn.

Evidence
The panel, through its chair, controls the procedure and evidence
presented at a hearing, including the number of witnesses and the way
witnesses are questioned.

In many cases, the panel may not need to consider any evidence other
than the investigation report and any other supporting documents.
However, the panel may need to hear from witnesses if more evidence
is needed, or if people do not agree with certain findings of fact in the
report.

The panel can allow witnesses to be questioned and cross-examined by
the subject member, the investigator or their representatives.
Alternatively, the panel can ask that these questions be directed through
the chair. The panel can also question witnesses directly and the
Independent Person should also be asked if they wish to ask any
questions. It is not a legal requirement that the Independent Person
attend the hearing, but it is best practice and the authority must have
regard to their views when reaching a decision. If the Independent
Person does not attend therefore, there must be an agreed mechanism
for receiving their views.

If the panel believes, however, that questions are irrelevant or
oppressive then the chair should stop that particular line of questioning.

Page 165



Generally, the subject member is entitled to present their case as they
see fit, which includes calling the witnesses they may want and which
are relevant to the matters to be heard. However, the panel has the right
to govern its own procedures as long as it acts fairly. For this reason,
the panel may limit the number of witnesses if the number is
unreasonable. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing.

Making a finding
Once the panel has heard all the relevant evidence it should suspend
the hearing and retire in private to consider its finding.

Before retiring the chair should invite the Independent Person to give
their views to the panel which the local authority must have regard to.
These views should be given in the open session so that all sides can
have a chance to challenge them as necessary. If the Independent
Person retires with the panel, they should not take part in any decision
making as they are not part of the formal decision-making process. In
addition, they should ensure that any views they give to the panel are
also made publicly to the meeting.

Any officer who retires with the panel is there to advise on matters of
procedure and law. Any advice given, however, must then be conveyed
back publicly to the meeting.

If the panel, after retiring, decides that it needs to reconsider certain
matters it is able of reconvening to ask further questions.

Once the panel has reached its decision it should reconvene to inform
the subject member. Where a breach has been found, it should then
invite representations as to any aggravating or mitigating factors (see
below) before retiring again to consider an appropriate sanction.

It is good practice to make a short written decision available on the day
of the hearing, and to prepare the full written decision in draft on that
day, before people’s memories fade. The officer providing administrative
support to the panel will normally also draft minutes of the meeting.

Page 166



The panel should give its full written decision to the relevant parties as
soon as possible after the hearing. In most cases this should be within
one week of the hearing.

The relevant parties are:

the subject member
the complainant
the relevant Independent Person
any parish or town councils concerned.

Where appropriate the subject member’s political group may also be
informed of the decision if the sanction requires group action (see
below) and should also be sent to the next full council meeting.

Sanctions 
There is no definitive list of possible sanctions (The Government's
response to the Committee on Standard in public life 2019 is awaited). If
the panel finds that a subject member has failed to follow the Code of
Conduct and that they should be sanctioned, it needs to be clear which
sanctions it has the power to impose and which matters are reserved to
council or need to be referred to a relevant political group.

Typical sanctions may include one or a combination of the following:

report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to
council (or the relevant parish council)
issue (or recommend to the parish council to issue) a formal
censure
recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case
of un-grouped councillors, recommend to council) that they be
removed from any or all committees or sub-committees of the
authority (or recommend such action to the parish council)
recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member
be removed from positions of responsibility
instruct the monitoring officer to (or recommend that the parish
council) arrange training for the subject member

Page 167



recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that
the subject member be removed from all outside appointments to
which they have been appointed or nominated by the authority (or
by the parish council);
recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that it
withdraws facilities provided to the subject member by the authority
for a specified period, such as a computer, website and/or email
and internet access; or
recommend to council (or recommend that the parish council) that
it excludes the subject member from the authority’s offices or other
premises for a specified period, with the exception of meeting
rooms as necessary for attending council, committee and sub-
committee meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named
officers only
if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be
removed from their role as leader of the authority
if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a
political group that the councillor be removed as group leader or
other position of responsibility.

Note that where the subject member is a parish or town councillor, the
matter is referred back to their council to say that a breach of the Code
has been found and with a recommended sanction. The town or parish
council must then meet to consider whether to impose that sanction or
to replace it with another relevant sanction. They cannot overturn the
finding that there has been a breach of the Code and if they wish to
impose a different sanction they should seek advice from the clerk
and/or the monitoring officer. The panel should also ask the parish or
town council to report back to the monitoring officer within three months
to confirm that they have met to discuss the sanction, and if necessary,
to write again once the sanction has been fulfilled.

Note that under the Model Code of Conduct failure to comply with a
sanction may of itself be a breach of the Code.

When deciding on a sanction, the panel should ensure that it is
reasonable, proportionate and relevant to the subject member’s
behaviour. Before deciding what sanction to issue, the panel should

Page 168



consider the following questions, along with any other relevant
circumstances:

What was the subject member’s intention?
Did the subject member know that they were failing to follow the
Code of Conduct?
Did the subject member get advice from officers before the
incident? Was that advice acted on or ignored?
Has there been a breach of trust?
Has there been financial impropriety, for example improper
expense claims or procedural irregularities?
What was the result or potential result of failing to follow the Code
of Conduct?
How serious was the incident?
Does the subject member accept they were at fault?
Did the subject member apologise to the relevant people?
Has the subject member previously been warned or reprimanded
for similar misconduct or failed to follow the Code of Conduct
before?
Is the subject member likely to do the same thing again?
How will the sanction impact on the subject member’s ability to
carry out their role?

Sanctions involving restricting access to an authority’s premises or
equipment or contact with officers should not unnecessarily restrict the
subject member’s ability to carry out their responsibilities as an elected
representative or co-opted member.

Mitigating factors may include:

an honestly held, although mistaken, view that the action
concerned did not constitute a failure to follow the provisions of the
Code of Conduct, particularly where such a view has been formed
after taking appropriate advice;
a councillor’s previous record of good service;
substantiated evidence that the councillor’s actions have been
affected by ill-health;

Page 169



recognition that there has been a failure to follow the Code; co-
operation in rectifying the effects of that failure; an apology to
affected persons where that is appropriate, self-reporting of the
breach by the councillor;
compliance with the Code since the events giving rise to the
complaint.

Aggravating factors may include:

dishonesty or breaches of trust;
trying to gain an advantage or disadvantage for themselves or
others;

bullying;
continuing to deny the facts despite clear contrary evidence;
seeking unfairly to blame other people;
failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings or previous findings
of a failure to follow the provisions of the Code;
persisting with a pattern of behaviour which involves repeatedly
failing to abide by the provisions of the Code.

Publicising the findings
The panel should arrange for a decision notice to be published on the
website of any authorities concerned, and anywhere else the panel
considers appropriate.

If the panel finds that the subject member did not fail to follow the
authority’s Code of Conduct, the public summary must say this and give
reasons for this finding.

If the panel finds that the subject member failed to follow the Code but
that no action is needed, the public summary should:

say that the councillor failed to follow the Code, but that no action
needs to be taken;
outline what happened;
give reasons for the panel’s decision not to take any action.

If the panel finds that a councillor failed to follow the Code and it
imposed a sanction, the public summary should:

Page 170



say that the councillor failed to follow the Code;
outline what happened;
explain what sanction has been imposed;
give reasons for the decision made by the panel.

The panel’s reports and minutes should be available for public
inspection in the same way as other local authority committee papers.

Appeals
Given that the framework and sanctions are meant to be light-touch and
proportionate, there should be no right of appeal against a decision on a
Code of Conduct complaint.

Page 171



Appendix 4  
 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Arrangements for dealing with complaints alleging a breach of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct 

 
1. Context 
 
1.1  Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place 

“arrangements”, under which allegations that a Member or co-opted Member 
of the Council, or of a Committee or Sub Committee of the Council (as defined 
by sub section 27 (4) ), has failed to comply with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations. 

 
1.2  These “arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that an elected 

or co-opted Member of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
(“the Council”) has failed to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct (“the 
Code”) and sets out how the Council will deal with allegations of a failure to 
comply with the Code. 

 
1.3  Such arrangements must provide for the Council to appoint at least one 

Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the Council before it 
takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 
and whose views can be sought by the Council at any other stage, or by a 
Member or co-opted Member against whom an allegation has been made. 

 
2. The Code 
 
2.1  The Code adopted by the Council is on the Council’s website and paper 

copies can be requested from Governance and Scrutiny Team, Town Hall, 
King Street, London, W6 9JU. 

 
3. Making a complaint 
 
3.1  If you wish to make a complaint, please complete a copy of the complaint 

form, available on the Council’s website or on request from Governance 
Services, and send or email it to: 

 
The Monitoring Officer 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Town Hall 
King Street 
London W6 9JU 
 
email MonitoringOfficer@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

3.2  The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the Council who has statutory 
responsibility for maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests and who is 
responsible for administering these arrangements. 

Page 172

mailto:onitoringOfficer@lbhf.gov.uk


3.3  Please provide all the details requested on the complaint form. If you want to 
keep your name and address confidential, please indicate this in the space 
provided on the complaint form. The Monitoring Officer will consider your 
request but in the interests of fairness the presumption is that the Member 
concerned is entitled to know who has made the complaint. If, in exceptional 
circumstances, your request is granted we will not disclose your name and 
address to the Member against whom you make the complaint without your 
prior consent. 

 
3.4  The Council will not investigate anonymous complaints unless the Monitoring 

Officer considers that there is a strong and clear public interest in doing so. 
 
3.5  The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within five 

working days of receiving it and will keep you informed of the progress of your 
complaint. 

 
4. Will your complaint be investigated? 
 
4.1  The Monitoring Officer will consider each complaint received and will decide 

on the basis of the information set out in the complaint form or submitted with 
the complaint, whether it merits formal investigation. Whilst complainants 
must be confident that complaints are taken seriously and dealt with 
appropriately, investigating a complaint involves spending public money as 
well as the cost of officer and Member time. The Council, therefore, takes a 
proportionate approach to the issue of whether or not a complaint merits 
investigation bearing in mind the sanctions which can be imposed if a Member 
is found to be in breach of the Code, and the costs to the Council and, 
therefore, to the public of undertaking an investigation. The performance of 
Members in terms of how they represent those in their wards is ultimately a 
matter for the electorate if a Member seeks re-election. 

 
4.2 A complaint will only be considered to merit formal investigation if it complies 

with all the criteria in paragraph 4.3 or one or more of the criteria in paragraph 
4.4 below. The Monitoring Officer will consult the Independent Person before 
coming to a final decision as to whether a complaint meets the relevant 
criteria and should be investigated. 
 

4.3 The relevant criteria are: 
 

a) The complaint raises matters which would be a breach of the Code;  
 

b) The complaint is sufficiently serious to warrant investigation;  
 
c) The complaint is not “tit-for-tat”;  

 
d) The complaint appears not to be politically motivated; 

 
e) It is about someone who is still a Member or co-opted Member of the 

Council; 
 

Page 173



f) The complaint has been received within 3 months of the alleged 
failure to comply with the Code unless there are exceptional 
circumstances for the delay and the delay does not mean that it would 
be difficult for a fair investigation to be carried out;  

 
g) The same, or similar, complaint has not already been investigated;  

 
h) It is not an anonymous complaint, unless it includes sufficient 

documentary evidence to show a significant breach of the Code; 
 
i) The Member complained about has not already apologised and/or 

admitted making an error; and  
 

j) If the complaint reveals a criminal offence and a complaint has been 
made to the Police, that the Police investigation and any proceedings 
have concluded or the Police have confirmed no proceedings will be 
issued. 

 
4.4 a) The complaint reveals a continuing pattern of behaviour that is 

significantly and unreasonably disrupting the business of the Council and 
there is no other avenue left to deal with it other than by way of an 
investigation; or 
 

b) The complaint is made by the Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer 
 

4.5 This decision will normally be taken within 28 working days of receipt of your 
complaint. The Monitoring Officer will inform you of his/her decision and the 
reasons for that decision.  

 
4.6 In appropriate cases, where the Monitoring Officer has decided in accordance 

with the criteria set out above that a complaint would merit investigation, the 
Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally, without the 
need for a formal investigation. Such informal resolution may involve the 
Member accepting that his/her conduct was in breach of the Code and 
offering an apology, or other remedial action such as correcting the Register 
of Interests. Where the Member makes a reasonable offer of informal 
resolution, but you are not willing to accept the offer, the Monitoring Officer will 
take account of this in deciding whether the complaint should be investigated. 

 
4.7 In consultation with the Independent Persons and Chairman of the Standards 

Committee, the Monitoring Officer will refer to the Police for investigation a 
complaint which falls under Section 34 of the Act which makes it a criminal 
offence if a Member or co-opted Member fails, without reasonable excuse, to 
comply with requirements to register or declare disclosable pecuniary 
interests (but not other such interests as the Council may include in its Code), 
or takes part in Council business at meetings or when acting alone when 
prevented from doing so. 

 
 
5 How is the investigation conducted? 

Page 174



 
5.1  If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits investigation, he/she 

may conduct the investigation but will normally appoint an investigating 
officer, who may be another senior officer of the Council, an officer of another 
Council or an external investigator (“the Investigating Officer”). The 
Investigating Officer will decide whether he/she needs to meet or speak to you 
to understand the detail of your complaint and so that you can explain your 
understanding of events and suggest what documents need to be seen and 
who needs to be interviewed. 

 
5.2  The Investigating Officer will normally write to the Member against whom you 

have complained and provide him/her with a copy of your complaint and ask 
the Member to provide his/her explanation of events, and to identify what 
documents he needs to see and who he needs to interview. 

 
In exceptional cases, where the Monitoring Officer has decided to keep your 
identity confidential your name and address will be deleted from the papers 
given to the Member. 

 
5.3  At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft 

report (“the Investigation Report”) and will send copies of that draft report, in 
confidence, to you and to the Member concerned, to give you both an 
opportunity to correct any factual inaccuracies. 

 
5.4  Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on 

the draft Investigation Report, the Investigating Officer will send his/her final 
report to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6 What happens if the Investigating Officer or Monitoring Officer 

concludes that there is no evidence of a failure to comply with the Code 
of Conduct? 

 
6.1  The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, if 

he/she is satisfied that the Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, the 
Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the Member concerned notifying 
you that he/she is satisfied that no further action is required, and give you 
both a copy of the final Investigation Report. There is no right of appeal for 
you as complainant or for the Member against a decision of the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
7 What happens if the Investigating Officer or Monitoring Officer 

concludes that there is evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct? 

 
7.1  If an Investigating Officer has been appointed the Monitoring Officer will 

review the Investigating Officer’s report, seek the views of the Independent 
Person, and will then arrange for the Standards (Complaints) Sub Committee 
to consider the complaint. The Sub Committee will consider the Investigator’s 
Report, the written opinion of the Independent Person and any written 
representations from the Member concerned before deciding whether the 

Page 175



Member has failed to comply with the Code and, if so, whether to take any 
action in respect of the Member. 
 

7.2 The meeting will be held in public so you may attend the meeting as can other 
members of the public. The Committee will usually consider the matters on 
the papers but, in exceptional cases, the Member may be permitted by the 
Committee to make representations on his or her own behalf, or be  
represented by counsel, a solicitor or any other person they wish.  

 
7.3 The Committee, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent Person, 

may conclude that the Member did not fail to comply with the Code, and 
dismiss the complaint. If the Committee concludes that the Member did fail to 
comply with the Code, the Chair will inform those present at the meeting of 
this finding and the Committee will then consider what action, if any, the 
Committee should take as a result of the Member’s failure to comply with the 
Code. In doing this, the Committee may give the Member an opportunity to 
make representations but will consider any written representations from the 
Member and take into account the views of the Independent Person, before 

deciding what action, if any, to take in respect of the matter. 
 
8 What action can the Standards Committee or Council, Leader or 

appropriate official of the Political Groups take where a Member has 
failed to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 
8.1 A Panel of the Standards Committee 

 
A panel may take any one or more of the following steps: 
(1) determine that the matter requires no further action. 
(2) refer the matter to or back to the monitoring officer to seek or to continue 
to seek an informal resolution to the matter, to be referred back to the panel if 
that fails. 
(3) report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to council 
(4) issue a formal censure 
(5) recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case of un-
grouped councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any or 
all committees or sub-committees of the authority  
(6) recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member be 
removed from positions of responsibility 
(7) instruct the monitoring officer to arrange training for the subject member 
(8) recommend to council that the subject member be removed from all 
outside appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated by the 
authority  
(9) recommend to council that it withdraws facilities provided to the subject 
member by the authority for a specified period, such as a computer, website 
and/or email and internet access 
(10) recommend to council that it excludes the subject member from the 
authority’s offices or other premises for a specified period, with the exception 
of meeting rooms as necessary for attending council, committee and sub - 
committee meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named officers 
only 

Page 176



(11) if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be removed 
from their role as leader of the authority 
(12) if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political 
group that the Councillor be removed as group leader or other position of 
responsibility. 
 
 

8.2 Council, Leader or appropriate official of the Political Groups  
 
Where a report or recommendation has been made to the council or other 
body or person, the council or that body or that person may take any one or 
more of the following steps: 
(1) note the report. 
(2) follow and act upon the recommendation. 
(3) reject the report or recommendation with reasons. 
(4) refer the matter back to the panel with or without a recommendation to 
take any other step which had been open to the panel. 
(5) impose any other step which had been open to the Council, Leader or 
appropriate official of the Political Group. 

 
9 What happens at the end of the hearing? 
 
9.1  At the end of the hearing, the Chair will announce the decision of the 

Committee as to whether the Member failed to comply with the Code and as 
to any sanctions imposed. 

 
9.2  As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer will write 

to you and the Member concerned confirming the decisions taken.  
 
10.  Appeals 
 
10.1  Where a Member is dissatisfied with the decision of the Standards 

(Complaints) Sub-Committee in respect of a complaint against him/her, 
he/she may appeal to a Standards (Appeals) Sub-Committee comprising a 
different membership to the original Sub-Committee, to reconsider the 
decision. The Member will be required to set out in detail, within 14 days of 
the Committee meeting, the grounds upon which an appeal is sought. 

 
10.2  Upon receipt of notification of appeal, the Monitoring Officer will consult an 

Independent Person for his/her views. The Monitoring Officer will forward a 
report detailing the allegations, views of the Independent Person and the 
findings of the investigation to the Standards (Appeals) Committee who will 
determine the appeal. The Appeals Sub-Committee can either endorse the 
previous decision or conclude that there is no breach and dismiss the 
complaint. 

 
11 What are the responsibilities of the Standards Committee? 
 
11.1  The Standards Committee is charged with considering those written 

complaints that a Member or co-opted Member has failed to comply with the 

Page 177



Code referred to it following an investigation of the complaint. The Committee 
may decide to impose a sanction if it finds that the Member has failed to 
comply with the Code. The duty to consider complaints has been delegated to 
its Complaints Sub Committee. 

 
12 Who is the Independent Person? 
 
12.1  The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 

advertisement of a vacancy for the post and has been appointed by the 
Council. There are a number of statutory restrictions on who may be 
appointed. For example, a person cannot be appointed as an independent 
person if he or she is, or has been within the past 5 years, a Member, co-
opted Member or officer of the Council. 

 
12.2 The Independent Person may be invited to attend meetings of the Committee 

and his/her views are sought and taken into consideration before the 
Committee takes any decision on whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a 
failure to comply with the Code and as to any action to be taken following a 
finding of failure to comply with the Code. 
 

13 Revision of these arrangements 
 
13.1 The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements. 
 
 
 

Page 178



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
 
Report to: Full Council  
 
Date: 22/05/2024 
 
Subject: Members’ Allowances Scheme Annual Review 2024/25 
 
Report of: The Leader of the Council - Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Responsible Director: Nicola Ellis – Strategic Director, Chief Operating Officer, 

Corporate Services 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the proposed Member Allowances for 2024/25. 
 
The Council has always adopted a stringent approach on allowances and these were 
frozen for eight years from 2014 to 2022. There have been significant economic 
inflationary pressures over the past 2 years (with inflation peaking at 11.1% in 
October 2022) and this has further eroded the real value of allowances, which are 
now the fifth lowest in London. 
 
It is appropriate to recognise that Members in local authorities discharge important 
democratic governance and undertake significant responsibilities for residents 
including representing them at national and regional fora. In recognition of this, an 
Independent Panel of London Councils makes an annual recommendation for 
allowances and their latest report sets these at £15,960.  This is intended to ensure 
that the role continues to appeal to the widest range of interested people and to 
maximise the representative mix of all socio-economic groups.  
 
The Council proposes to establish a basic allowance of £11,520 (this being 72% of 
the recommended allowance from the Independent Panel). This is in line with the 
average basic allowance paid across London for the previous year.  The Council 
considers an increase reasonable in recognition of the recent inflationary/cost of 
living pressures and minimising the financial impact to acknowledge the continuing 
pressure on public finances.  
 
This will support being an inclusive Council attracting a diverse range of good quality 
candidates to stand for office in the Borough.  It will also encourage Disabled people, 
ethnic minorities or low income families to join the local democratic process.  The 
new rate recognises the higher cost of living and the increased workload 
experienced by members since the pandemic. 
 
The total expenditure on Member Allowances as a proportion of all payroll costs is 
not significant and represents less than 0.69% of all employee staff expenditure.   
 
 

 

Page 179

Agenda Item 6.8



RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the recommendations of the Independent Panel on the remuneration of 

Councillors in London (January 2024) outlined in Appendix 2 be noted. 
 
2. That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2024/25 as set out in the report and 

attached as Appendix 1, be approved. 
 

3. That the sickness, maternity, paternity, shared parental, neonatal care and 
adoption leave outlined in Appendix 3, be adopted.  
 

4. That the Members’ Allowances annual uplift be in line with the average basic 

allowance paid across London for the previous year. 

 

 
Wards Affected: All  
 

 

H&F Values  
 

Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Values  

Creating a 
compassionate council 

The council froze the basic and special responsibility 
allowance for eight years to ensure that scarce resources 
have been spent on other key priorities such as meeting 
the needs of the most vulnerable in society. 

Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 

The proposed basic allowance of £11,520 is lower than 
the £15,960 recommended by the Independent 
Renumeration Panel. The Council is not supporting the 
Independent Panel’s recommendations on Basic and 
Special Responsibility Allowances which would prove 
considerably more costly to local council taxpayers.   

 
Financial Impact  
 
The annual expenditure on all the proposed allowances (including SRAs) is 
estimated at £1.2m for 2024/25 (this includes employer’s national insurance) and the 
appropriate funding will be included in the proposed revenue budget for 2024/25.  
 
The budget will need to be reviewed annually to reflect changes in the allowances 
which be set at the average basic allowance paid across London for the previous 
year. 
  
It should be noted that the expenditure on Members Allowances is less than 0.7% of 
the total employee costs of the Council.    
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance (Corporate Services), 14th May 2024 and verified by 
Andre Mark, Head of finance (Strategic planning and investment), 14th May 2024 

 

  
Legal Implications 

Page 180



  
Under Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (the Regulations), the Council has the powers to make a scheme 
to provide for the payment of a basic allowance and any other allowance permitted 
by the Regulations. The proposals contained within the report are in line with the 
Regulations, Local Government Act 2000 and appropriate regulations.   
 
Grant Deg - Assistant Director Legal Services, Grant.Deg@lbhf.gov.uk, 21/12/23  

 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2023 (published January 2024) - Report 
of the Independent Panel 
 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options 

1. This report seeks approval of the 2024/25 Members’ Allowances Scheme as set 
out in the report and attached as Appendix 1, be approved. It proposes that any 
uplift to the 2024/25 Members’ Allowances is made in line with any changes to 
the national pay settlement for local government employees. 

Independent Remuneration Panel’s Report – January 2024 
 

2. The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 
(‘the Regulations’) authorise the establishment by the Association of London 
Government (now London Councils) of an independent remuneration panel to 
make recommendations in respect of the members’ allowances payable by 
London boroughs. Such a panel (‘the Panel’) was established and reported in 
2001, 2003, 2006, 2010, 2014, 2018, 2022 and 2023. The Panel now 
comprises Mike Cooke (Chair), Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL and Anne Watts 
CBE. The Regulations require a review of the scheme every four years as a 
minimum.  The current Panel has therefore completed a review of 
remuneration for councillors in London. A summary of their recommendations 
is attached at Appendix 2.  
 

3. The Council is formally required to undertake a review of its members’ 
allowances scheme each financial year. Any changes in allowances are 
required to take into account the recommendations of a local independent 
panel on remuneration for Councillors. Where a scheme includes a provision 
for an automatic uplift, the operation of this provision may only be relied on for 
a period of four years before reference must again be made to a local 
independent remunerator’s report and recommendations.    
 
Basic Allowance  
 

Page 181



4. The latest Panel undertook a detailed review of member allowances with the 
aim of providing up to date advice on appropriate levels of reward for the work 
of elected members in London over the next four years. The Panel canvassed 
members and officers in all London boroughs through surveys, focus groups 
and interviews, in order to consider whether and how the role of councillors 
has changed in recent years and what the main issues that may have an 
effect on the recruitment and retention of councillors are currently. It also 
carried out a considerable benchmarking exercise of allowances paid in other 
parts of England as well as in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.  The 
research showed that basic allowances per annum in London are significantly 
lower than those paid in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. 
 
Options Appraisal 
 

5. The options for consideration are outlined below for the basic allowance.   
 
Option 1 – Do Nothing - £10,122 
 

6. The Council’s Basic Allowance for 2023/24 of £10.122.69 is the 5th lowest in 
London.  If the Council decides to do nothing, the Basis allowance for 2024/25 
would be 37% lower than the Panel’s recommended level.  This would be a 
disincentive to retain and recruit quality councillors come 2026. This level of 
allowance would not encourage Disabled people, ethnic minorities or low 
income families to join the local democratic process.  This rate does not 
recognise the high cost of living or the increased workload experienced by 
members since the pandemic. 
 
Option 2 – Implement the 2022 Independent Panel’s Recommendation - 
£12,499 
 

7. In 2022, the Panel recommended that a Basic Allowance of £12,014 should 
paid to every councillor.  This has been uplifted to £12,499. This was not 
supported by the Council at the time.   
 
Option 3 – To approve a Basic allowance of £11,520 
 

8. To approve a basic allowance of £11,520 which is the average basic 
allowance paid across London for the previous year.  The increase will 
contribute to recruiting and retaining a diverse range of good quality 
candidates to stand for office in the Borough.  It will encourage Disabled 
people, ethnic minorities or low income families to join the local democratic 
process.  The new rate recognises the higher cost of living and the increased 
workload experienced by members since the pandemic. 
 
Option 4 – Implement 2023 Independent Panel’s Recommendation 
£15,690 
 

9. The latest Independent Panel has set the Basic Allowance at £15,960. The 
Council is not supporting the Panel’s recommendations on Special 

Page 182



Responsibility Allowance which is considerably more costly to local council 
taxpayers.  
 
Special Responsibility Allowance 
 

10. The Panel has previously determined that all other SRAs are calculated as a 
proportion of the Leader’s SRA.  It has recommended using bands rather than 
fixed amounts, in order to allow flexibility and recognise local variations on 
how the roles are performed. The proposed amounts for each band are a 
percentage of the figure suggested for a council leader depending upon levels 
of responsibility of the roles undertaken. 
 
A snapshot of the recommended bands and levels of allowance by the 
Independent Panel are below.   
 

Elected 
Mayor 

 

Leader 
 

Deputy 
Leader/Cabinet 

Member/ 
Scrutiny Chair 

Opposition 
Leader/Scrutiny 
Chair/Chair of 

Regulatory 
Committee 

Cabinet 
Assistant/ 
Vice Chair 

£93,575 £62,092 £46,569 - 
37,255  

£31,046 - 
£15,523 

£9,314 - 
£3,105  

 
11. In line with the Administration’s priorities, the Council is recommending not to 

follow the Independent Panel’s recommendations which would have proved 
considerably more costly to local council taxpayers. The Council is 
recommending a comparable increase in the Special Responsibility 
Allowances that would be commensurate to the proposed increase of the 
Basic Allowance.    
 

12. The Special Responsibility Allowances for H&F members will be lower than 
what has been recommended by the Panel as follows.  
 

Position H&F SRA Entitlement 

The Leader £41,000 

Deputy Leader £34,160 

Other Cabinet members (8) £27,329 

Chair, Policy and Oversight Board £27,329 

Chief Whip (where not a member of Cabinet) £27,329 

Chair of Policy & Accountability Committees 
(6) 

£7,088 

Leader of the Opposition £20,492 

Chair of Audit Committee, Pension Fund 
Committee, Licensing Committee, Planning 
and Development Control Committee (4) 

£8,860 

The Mayor £20,492 

Deputy Chief Whip (2) £7,088 

Deputy Leader of the Opposition £7,088 

Page 183



Opposition Whip £7,088 

Vice-Chair of Planning and Development 
Control Committee 

£7,088 

Deputy Mayor £7,088 

Lead Members ** £3,439 

 
Portfolio holders who hold two SRA positions will only receive one SRA in 
respect of duties undertaken. 
 
** There are thirteen positions. However, nine portfolio holders will receive 
only one SRA in respect of duties undertaken.  
 
Annual Lift  
 

13. The updated allowances in this scheme apply from 1 April 2024. Any future 
allowance uplifted will be set at the average basic allowance paid across 
London for the previous year. 
 
Review of Other Allowances 

14. The current scheme has provision for a wide range of other allowances (see 
paragraphs 15 to 17 below). 

Dependent Carer Allowance 

15. Dependent carer allowance is payable in respect of expenses incurred for the 
care of a Councillor’s children or dependants in attending meetings of the 
authority, its Executive, Committees and Sub-Committees and in discharging 
the duties set out in paragraph 7 of the Regulations. The Panel had 
recommended payment to be set at the London living wage, and (on 
presentation of proof of expense) payment should be made at a higher rate 
when specialist nursing skills are required.  

Travel & Subsistence  

16. Travel allowances are payable (at the same rates as employees) for duties 
undertaken away from the Town Hall when discharging duties under 
paragraph 8 of the Regulations. There will be no payment for intra-borough 
travel under this scheme, for example the use of public transport, car mileage 
or payment of a cycle allowance, unless a member requires assistance to 
discharge his or her duties due to ill health, disability or any other 
circumstances approved, in advance, by the Monitoring Officer. Taxis can be 
taken by Members who attend approved outside bodies and committee 
meetings out of the borough.  

Sickness, Maternity, Paternity, Shared Parental, Neonatal Care, Adoption 
leave and allowances  

17. The Council agrees to adopt the Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, 
shared parental, and adoption leave and relevant allowances as suggested by 
the LGA.  This will introduce a new provision for maternity, paternity, shared 

Page 184



parental, neonatal care and adoption leave.  The policy at Appendix 3 also 
includes the existing sickness policy with a clarification on allowance 
entitlement.   
 
Reasons for Decision  

18. The Council is required under the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 to approve 
any amendments to the approved scheme. 

 
Equality Implications  

19. Locally elected representatives play a vital role are at the heart of our 
democratic and civic society. They fulfil many roles within the council which 
are time consuming and demanding.  Low allowance could be a disincentive 
to the recruitment and retention of high-quality councillors from a wider range 
of backgrounds.  
 

20. However, a robust Members’ allowance scheme will encourage a wider 
representation from our local community to contribute to open government 
and democratic renewal. The Basic Allowance covers basic out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred by councillors while undertaking their duties.  With the 
increased workload faced by Members, an uplift will make the role more 
attractive to recruit a wider representation of our local community. The 
Members’ allowances scheme provides for special circumstances, such as 
support for councillors with disabilities or sickness and encourages people 
with children to take up office as expenses incurred for the care of a 
Councillor’s children or dependants while attending meetings of the authority 
is covered.  

 
 
List of Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Members’ Allowances Scheme 2024/25 

Appendix 2 – Summary of the Recommendations of the Remuneration of Councillors 
in London 2023 (Report of the Independent Panel) 

Appendix 3 - Maternity, Paternity, Shared Parental, Adoption, Neonatal Care and 
Sickness Leave and Allowance Policy  

Page 185



Appendix 1 

Members’ Allowances Scheme 2024-25 
Effective from 1 April 2024 

 
 
This scheme is made in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (“the Regulations”) for 2024/2025 and 
subsequent years. The allowances scheme has been prepared having regard to the 
report of the Independent Panel on the Remuneration of Councillors in London 
established by London Councils on behalf of all London Councils, co-authored by 
Mike Cooke (Chair), Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL and Anne Watts CBE and 
published in January 2022. 
 
 
1. Basic Allowance 

 
1.1  The Independent Remunerator’s report suggests a flat-rate basic allowance 

be paid to each member of the authority of £15,960 per annum to be paid in 
12 monthly instalments on the 15th of each month. 

 
1.2 The Council has considered the independent remunerator’s recommendation 

but has decided to set lower levels of allowances than those recommended.  
 
1.3 It proposes to increase basic allowance in line with the average basic 

allowance paid across London for the previous year.  The basic rate 
allowance for all Hammersmith & Fulham Councillors will therefore be 
£11,520 - to be paid in 12 monthly instalments on the 15th of each month. 

 
Councillors only receive an allowance for the period of their term of office in 
cases where it is less than the whole financial year. 

 

  No. Basic Allowance Total  

All Councillors 50 £11,520 £576,000 

 
2. Special Responsibility Allowances 

2.1 Regard has been had to the recommendations in the independent 
remunerator’s report for differential banding in relation to the payment of 
special responsibility allowances (SRAs), but in line with the Administration’s 
priorities, it has been decided to not to follow the independent remunerator’s 
recommendations which would have proved considerably more costly to local 
council taxpayers. 

2.2 The following Special Responsibility Allowances shall therefore be paid to 
Councillors holding the specified offices indicated: 

  

Page 186



 

Position No SRA Entitlement Total SRA 

The Leader 1 £41,000 £41,000 

Deputy Leader 1 £34,160 £34,160 

Other Cabinet members  8 £27,329 £218,632 

Chief Whip (where not a member of 
Cabinet) 

1 
£27,329 £27,329 

Chair, Policy and Oversight Board 1 £27,329 £27,329 

Deputy Chief Whip (2)* 1 £7,088 £7,088 

Chair of Policy & Accountability 
Committee 

6 
£7,088 £42,528 

Leader of the Opposition 1 £20,492 £20,492 

Deputy Leader of the Opposition 1 £7,088 £7,088 

Opposition Whip 1 £7,088 £7,088 

Chair of Planning and Development 
Control Committee, Audit 
Committee*, Pension Fund 
Committee, Licensing Committee* 
(4) 

4 

£8,860 £35,440 

Vice-Chair of Planning and 
Development Control Committee* 

1 
£7,088 £7,088 

The Mayor 1 £20,492 £20,492 

Deputy Mayor 1 £7,088 £7,088 

Lead Members ** 8 £3,439 £27,512 

Total 37  £530,354 

 
*Portfolio holders who hold two SRA positions will only receive one SRA in 
respect of duties undertaken. 
 
** There are thirteen positions. However, eight portfolio holders will receive 
only one SRA in respect of duties undertaken. 

 
Councillors only receive an allowance for the period of their term of office in 
cases where it is less than the whole financial year. A Special Responsibility 
Allowance would cease where the SRA entitled post ceases to exist during 
year. 

 
3. Other Allowances 
 

Dependent Carer Allowance 
3.1 Dependant carer allowance is payable in respect of expenses incurred for the 

care of a Councillor’s children or dependants in attending meetings of the 
authority, its Executive, Committees and Sub-Committees and in discharging 
the duties set out in paragraph 7 of the Regulations.   

a) £6.58 per half hour before 10pm; £7.00 per half hour after 10pm (not 
payable in respect of a member of the Councillor’s household). 

 
  

Page 187



Travel and Subsistence  
 

3.2 Travel allowances are payable (at the same rates as employees) for duties 
undertaken away from the Town Halls when discharging duties under 
paragraph 8 of the Regulations. There will be no payment for intra-borough 
travel under this scheme unless where a member requires assistance to 
discharge his or her duties due to ill health, disability or other circumstances 
approved by the Monitoring Officer. Taxis can be taken by Members who 
attend approved outside bodies and committee meetings out of the borough. 

 
Public Transport 

a) Actual travel costs (second class only) will be reimbursed. 
 

Car mileage 
b) 45 pence per mile. 

 

Subsistence 
c) Allowance payable at same rates and conditions as employees. Payment 

is only made for expenses incurred outside the Borough and is subject to 
a maximum of £5.00 per claim. 

 
Sickness, maternity, neonatal care, and paternity allowance 

d) Where a Member is entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance, it will 
continue to be paid in the case of sickness, maternity, neonatal care and 
paternity leave on the same terms as employees. 

 
4. Annual increase 
 
4.1 The updated allowances in this scheme apply from 1 April 2024. Any future 

allowance uplift will be set at the average basic allowance paid across London 
for the previous year. 

 
5. Election to forego allowances 
 
5.1 In accordance with the provisions of regulation 13, a Councillor may, by notice 

in writing to the Chief Executive, elect to forego any part, or all, of his or her 
entitlement to an allowance under this scheme. 

 
6. Time limit for claims 
 
6.1 The majority of allowances are payable monthly, but where allowances are 

the subject of claims, these claims should be made in the agreed form with 
the appropriate declaration within six months of the duty to which they relate. 

 
7. Membership of more than one authority 
 
7.1 A member may not receive allowances from more than one authority (within 

the meaning of the regulations) in respect of the same duties. 
  

Page 188



8. Non-entitlement to more than one SRA 
 

8.1 A member shall not receive more than one SRA in respect of duties 
undertaken with the authority. Where a Councillor is entitled to two SRAs, he 
or she will be paid the highest allowance. 
 

9. Pensions 
 
9.1 No members of the Council shall be entitled to membership of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme in accordance with Section 7 of the 
Superannuation Act 1972. 

 
10. Allowances for co-opted members and independent members of The 

Pensions Sub Committee 
 

Co-optees 
 

10.1 Co-opted members shall be paid £642.01 per annum by equal monthly 
instalments of £53.50 on the 15th of each month. 

 
10.2 Co-opted members shall be entitled to the same travel and dependent carer 

allowances as Councillors but shall not be entitled to subsistence payments. 
 

Independent Members 
 

10.3 The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham shall pay an allowance to 
the appointed Independent Members at a flat rate allowance of £642.01 per 
annum payable by equal monthly instalments of £53.50 on the 15th of each 
month. 

Page 189



Appendix 2 

Report of the Independent Panel - Recommendations of the 
Remuneration of Councillors in London 2023 

 
Level of Basic Allowance 
 
In 2022, the Panel recommended that the Basic Allowance of £12,014 should paid to 
every councillor.  Updated for the local government staff pay awards since then 
brings the figure to £12,499.   
 
The latest Independent Panel has set the Basic Allowance at £15,960. The Panel 
considers that this allowance better reflects the high cost of living in London, than the 
previous recommendations.  It is also of the view that its implementation in 2024 will 
contribute to recruiting and retaining a diverse range of good quality candidates to 
stand for office in London. 
 
Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
The Panel has previously determined that all other SRAs are calculated as a 
proportion of the Leader’s SRA.  It has recommended using bands rather than fixed 
amounts, in order to allow flexibility and recognise local variations on how the roles 
are performed. The proposed amounts for each band are a percentage of the figure 
suggested for a council leader depending upon levels of responsibility of the roles 
undertaken. 

 
A snapshot of the recommended bands and levels of allowance are below.   
 

Elected 
Mayor 

 

Leader 
 
 

Deputy 
Leader/Cabinet 

Member/ 
Scrutiny Chair 

Opposition 
Leader/Planning 

Chair/Mayor 

Cabinet 
Assistant/ 

Scrutiny Vice 
Chair 

£93,575 £62,092 £37,255 - 
£46,569 

£15,523- 
£31,046 

£3,105 - £9,314 

 
Training and Support  
 
The responsibilities of councillors are substantial, extensive and complex.  
 
The Pandemic has also resulted in an acceleration of more flexible ways of working 
including greater use of digital technology. While this has provided a range of benefits 
including less travelling for work it has required councillors to have the necessary digital 
skills. Additionally, the move to audio visual conferencing has resulted in a growth in 
meetings for many contributing to an overall increase in ‘screen time’.  
 
We believe that every borough should: 

 have an ongoing programme of member training and development 

 provide members with the logistical and clerical support and the appropriate IT 
equipment to help them deal with their workload. 

 
Barriers to being a councillor  

Page 190



 

 Allowance for care of dependents. 
 
It is important that obstacles to becoming a councillor should be removed wherever 
possible. Care costs can be a significant deterrent to service as a councillor. Our 
strong view is that in appropriate cases when they undertake their council duties, 
councillors should be entitled to claim an allowance for care of dependents. 
 

 Dependents’ carers’ allowance 
 
The dependents’ carers’ allowance should be set at the London living wage but (on 
presentation of proof of expense) payment should be made at a higher rate when 
specialist nursing skills are required.  
 

 Special Responsibility Allowances in the case of sickness, maternity 
and paternity leave 

 
Our view is that members’ allowances schemes should allow the continuance of Special 
Responsibility Allowances in the case of sickness, maternity and paternity leave in the same 
terms that the council’s employees enjoy such benefits (that is to say, they follow the same 
policies). 
 
Travel and Subsistence allowances  
 
The Basic Allowance should cover basic out-of-pocket expenses incurred by councillors, 
including intra-borough travel costs and expenses.  The members’ allowances scheme 
should, however, provide for special circumstances, such as travel after late meetings or 
travel by councillors with disabilities.  The scheme should enable councillors to claim travel 
expenses when their duties take them out of their home borough, including a bicycle 
allowance. 
 
Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head  
 
Many councils include the allowances for the mayor (or civic head) and deputy in their 
members’ allowance scheme.  However, these allowances do serve a rather different 
purpose from the ‘ordinary’ members’ allowances, since they are intended to enable the 
civic heads to perform a ceremonial role.  There are separate statutory provisions (ss 3 and 
5 of the Local Government Act 1972) for such allowances and councils may find it 
convenient to use those provisions rather than to include the allowances in the members’ 
allowance scheme. 
 
Update for inflation  
 
We continue to recommend that all allowances should be updated annually in accordance 
with the headline figure in the annual local government pay settlement.  
 
The Regulations make it obligatory for the annual updating of the Scheme to be formally 
authorised by the council each year. 

Page 191



Appendix 3 - Maternity, Paternity, Shared Parental, Adoption, 
Neonatal Care and Sickness Leave and Allowance Policy 
 
Maternity and Neonatal Care Leave 
 
1.1 Members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months maternity leave from the 

due date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required. 
 

1.2 In addition, where the birth is premature, the Member is entitled to take leave 
during the period between the date of the birth and the due date in addition to 
the 6 months’ period. In such cases any leave taken to cover prematurity of 28 
days or less shall be deducted from any extension beyond the initial 6 months. 
 

1.3 In exceptional circumstances, and only in cases of prematurity of 29 days or 
more, additional leave may be taken by agreement, and such exceptional leave 
shall not be deducted from the total 52 week entitlement. 

 
Paternity Leave 
 
1.4 Members shall be entitled to take a minimum of 2 weeks paternity leave if they 

are the biological father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse following the 
birth of their child(ren). 

 
Shared Parental Leave 
 
1.5 A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through their 

employment is requested to advise the Council of these at the earliest possible 
opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such arrangements in terms 
of leave from Council. 
 

1.6 Where both parents are Members leave may be shared up to a maximum of 24 
weeks for the first six months and 26 weeks for any leave agreed thereafter, up 
to a maximum of 50 weeks. Special and exceptional arrangements may be 
made in cases of prematurity. 

 
Adoption Leave 
 
1.7 A Member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency shall be 

entitled to take up to six months adoption leave from the date of placement, 
with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required. 

 
Sickness Leave 

 
1.8 A Member who is sick will continue to receive the basic allowance as long as 

they remain a councillor and comply with the attendance requirements 
regarding council meetings under section 85 of the Local Government Act 
1972.  

 
1.9 Where a Member is entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance, it will 

continue to be paid in the case of sickness leave on the same terms as 

Page 192



employees (for a period of 6 months followed by a further period of 6 months at 
half rate). 

 
General  
 
1.10 Any Member who takes maternity, shared parental or adoption leave retains 

their legal duty under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of 
the Council within a six month period unless the Council Meeting agrees to an 
extended leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six month period. 

 
1.11 Any Member intending to take maternity, paternity, shared parental or adoption 

leave will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with the relevant notice 
requirements of the Council, both in terms of the point at which the leave starts 
and the point at which they return. 

 
1.12 Any member taking leave should ensure that they respond to reasonable 

requests for information as promptly as possible, and that they keep officers 
and colleagues informed and updated in relation to intended dates of return 
and requests for extension of leave. 

 
2 Basic Allowance 

 
2.1 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full whilst on 

maternity, paternity, adoption or sickness leave as long as they remain a 
Member (subject to the six month councillor attendance at meetings 
requirement in section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972). 

 
3 Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
3.1 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to 

receive their allowance in full in the case of maternity, paternity, shared 
parental, adoption or sickness leave. 

 
3.2 Where a replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that person 

shall receive an SRA on a pro rata basis for the period of the temporary 
appointment. 

 
3.3 The payment of Special Responsibility Allowances, whether to the primary SRA 

holder or a replacement, during a period of maternity, paternity, shared parental 
or adoption leave shall continue for a period of six months, or until the date of 
the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the date when the member 
taking leave is up for election (whichever is soonest). At such a point, the 
position will be reviewed, and will be subject to a possible extension for a 
further six month period. 

 
3.4 Should a Member appointed to replace the member on maternity, paternity, 

shared parental or adoption leave already hold a remunerated position, the 
ordinary rules relating to payment of more than one Special Responsibility 
Allowances shall apply. 

 

Page 193



3.5 Unless the Member taking leave is removed from their post at an Annual 
General Meeting of the Council whilst on leave, or unless the Party to which 
they belong loses control of the Council during their leave period, they shall 
return at the end of their leave period to the same post, or to an alternative post 
with equivalent status and remuneration which they held before the leave 
began. 

 
4 Resigning from Office and Elections 
 
4.1 If a Member decides not to return at the end of their maternity, paternity, shared 

parental or adoption leave they must notify the Council at the earliest possible 
opportunity. All allowances will cease from the effective resignation date. 

 
4.2 If an election is held during the Member’s maternity, paternity, shared parental 

or adoption leave and they are not re-elected, or decide not to stand for re-
election, their basic allowance and SRA if appropriate will cease from the 
Monday after the election date when they would technically leave office. 

 

Page 194



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to:  Full Council 
 
Date:  22/05/2024 
 
Subject:  Special Urgency Decisions – Monitoring Report 
 
Report of:   Councillor Stephen Cowan – The Leader of the Council  
 

Report author: David Abbott, Head of Governance 
 
Responsible Director: Grant Deg, Monitoring Officer 
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
This report presents details of decisions taken by the Leader under the urgency 
provisions of the Constitution. The report covers the period 1 May 2023 to 10 May 
2024. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Full Council note the decision taken by the Leader under the urgency provisions 
attached as Appendix 1. 
 

 

Wards Affected:     None 
 

 

H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities  

Doing things with residents 
and not to them 

This report increases transparency for the public 
around the decisions made under the urgency 
provisions of the Council’s constitution. 
 

 

Financial Impact 
 
There are no direct financial implications.  
 
Alex Pygram, Head of Finance – Corporate Services, 09/05/2024 
 
Verified by Andre Mark, Head of Finance –Strategic Planning and Investment, 
09/05/2024 

Page 195

Agenda Item 7.1



 

Legal Implications 
 
The legal implications are contained within the body of the report. 
 
Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services, 09/05/2024 
 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 

 
 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
1. One general exception decision was taken by the Leader under the urgency 

provisions. No special urgency decisions were taken. 

General Exception Decisions 

 
2. If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the 

Key Decisions list, then subject to Rule 17 (Special Urgency), the decision 
may still be taken if: 

(a) the proper officer has informed the Chair of a relevant Policy and 
Accountability Committee, or if there is no such person, each member 
of that Committee, in writing, by notice, of the matter about which the 
decision is to be made and the reason why the matter should be 
classified as urgent; 

(b) the proper officer has made copies of that notice available to the public 
at the offices of the Council and on the Council’s website, stating why 
the requirements of Rule 13 cannot be complied with; and 

(c) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the proper officer complied 
with (b). 

 
Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public. 

 
3. No report was taken undertaken under this procedure.   

Special Urgency Decisions 

 
4. Under Rule 17, the Leader or Cabinet can take a decision where the item has 

not been published on the Key decision list or where officers request that Call 
in be waivered due to the urgency of the decision.   
 

Page 196



5. This type of decision can only be taken if the decision maker (if an individual), 
or the Chair of the body making the decision: 

 

a. obtains the agreement of the Chair of the relevant Policy and 
Accountability Committee and the Mayor that it is reasonable to treat it 
as an urgent matter. 

b. obtains the agreement of the Mayor to waive the call-in so that the 
decision can be implemented with immediate effect. 

c. the proper officer makes available at Hammersmith Town Hall and on 
the Council’s website a notice setting out why the decision is urgent 
and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 

Reasons for Decision 

 
6. The Leader is required to submit reports to the Council on Executive decisions 

taken using the urgency procedure. The reports must include the number of 
decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of which those 
decisions are taken. 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – List of Urgent Executive Decisions made by the Leader 

Page 197



Appendix 1 – List of Urgent Executive Decision made by the Leader 
Decisions from 1 May 2023 to 10 May 2024 

 
1. New Homes for Refugee Communities 
 
Date of decision: 21/07/2023 
 
Status: Open report 
 
Link: https://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4663  
 
Summary: 
 
The council successfully secured indicative allocations of £8.4m and £1.062m from 
the GLA's Refugee Housing Programme and DLUHC's Local Authority Housing 
Fund Round 2 respectively. The purpose of both funding sources is to acquire new 
housing to support refugee resettlement and relocation programmes. 
 
In order to benefit from this grant funding, the council is required to contribute match 
funding and to complete all acquisitions by the end of the current financial year. This 
report requests urgent approval of match funding budgets for both programmes and 
a series of delegations to enable the council to act quickly in acquiring vital new 
homes within this timeframe. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That the Leader of the Council: 
 

1. Notes the Director of Finance’s approval to accept grant funding from the 
Refugee Housing Programme and the Local Authority Housing Fund Round 2. 

 
2. Approves the creation of a capital budget of £16,800,000 for the Refugee 

Housing Programme, to be partly funded by £8,400,000 capital grant from the 
GLA. 

 
3. Approves the creation of a further capital budget of £2,655,000, of which 

£1,062,000 will be partly funded by capital grant from DLUHC’s Local 
Authority Housing Fund Round 2. 

 
4. Approves the acquisitions under these budgets and delegate authority to the 

Strategic Director of Economy, in consultation with the Director of Finance, to 
select and complete acquisitions of properties under each capital acquisition 
budget and approve associated expenditure. 

 
5. Notes that each individual acquisition will require a delegated authority report 

seeking approval from the Strategic Director of Economy, in consultation with 
the Director of Finance. 

 
Reasons for urgency: 
An urgent decision is required due to the short timeframes within which the grant 
must be spent. This is because completion on acquisitions under the RHP funding 

Page 198

https://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4663


must have taken place by the end of November 2023 while LAHF2 funding requires 
completion to take place within this financial year; the council first received notice of 
its funding allocations in May 2023 and therefore has not been able to follow 
standard governance arrangements. Approval of this Leader’s Urgency Decision will 
enable the council to complete property acquisitions within the time limits of each 
funding source. 
 
 

Page 199


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6.1 Party Appointments for the 2024-25 Municipal Year
	6.2 Review of the Constitution
	Appendix 1 - Changes to Lead Member Roles
	Appendix 2 - Committee Changes
	Appendix 3 - Childrens Services Register of Authorities Updates

	6.3 Appointment by the Leader of the Deputy Leader and Cabinet
	6.4 Allocation of Seats and Proportionality on Committees
	6.5 Appointment of Chairs and Committee Memberships
	6.6 Council Appointments to Local Government Organisations and Outside Bodies
	Appendix 1 - Nominations to Local Government Organisations 2024-25
	Appendix 2 - Appointments to Outside Bodies 2024

	6.7 Adoption of a New Member's Code of Conduct
	Appendix 1 - Model code of conduct
	Appendix 2  - Sanctions
	Appendix 3 - Guidance Code of Conduct Complaints Handling
	Appendix 4 - Updated New Members Complaint Regime procedure

	6.8 Members Allowances Scheme Annual Review
	Appendix 1 - Members Allowances Scheme 2024-25
	Appendix 2 - Member Allowance Report of the Independent Panel
	Appendix 3 - Update of the sickness, maternity and paternity allowance policy

	7.1 Special Urgency Decisions - Monitoring Report
	Appendix 1 - List of Urgent Executive Decisions made by the Leader


